Studies on the Extracellular-signal Regulated Kinase Pathway in Lymnaea stagnalis Haemocytes and its Role in Molluscan Defence

Louise Danielle Plows

Thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of Kingston University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

February, 2005

KINGST	ON UNIVERSITY LI	BRARY
Acc. No.	11242779	PREF
Class No.	THESES. PHI	J. 2005



IMAGING SERVICES NORTH

Boston Spa, Wetherby West Yorkshire, LS23 7BQ www.bl.uk

TEXT BOUND CLOSE TO THE SPINE IN THE ORIGINAL THESIS

I hereby declare that whilst registered for a research degree at Kingston University, I have not been a registered candidate or enrolled student at any other academic or professional institution.

I declare that the materials contained in this thesis have not been used in any other submission for an academic award. All the sources of investigation have been duly acknowledged.

I have composed this thesis myself, and all results presented within this thesis are from my own investigation.

Louise Plows February, 2005

ر.

Acknowledgements

I owe particular thanks to Dr Tony Walker, who has offered invaluable advice, support and encouragement on all aspects of my PhD study. I also thank Professor Angela Davies-Russell for her continued advice on the project, particularly on the parasitological aspects, and Dr Richard Cook for his advice on statistical analysis.

Thank you to my friends and fellow postgraduate students for their continual support and encouragement throughout the three years of this study (particularly Mark Blyghton, Polly Hayes and Simon Gould), and the technical team within the School of Life Sciences at Kingston University for their technical advice and support on the practical aspects of this study. I am also grateful to Shaun Willimott for providing HL60 cells used for the integrin-binding assays.

I would also like to thank my family for encouraging me to pursue my interests and ambitions.

Finally, I would like to thank The Royal Society and Kingston University for their financial support.

1.4	Intracellular Signalling	34
1.4.1	Concepts of signal transduction	34
1.4.2	Protein kinases	34
1.4.2.1	Serine/threonine kinases	35
1.4.2.2	Tyrosine kinases	35
1.4.2.3	Phosphatases	36
1.4.2.4	Other methods of control	36
1.4.3	Adaptor proteins	37
1.4.5	Signalling networks and crosstalk	37
1.5	Mitogen-activated Protein Kinases	39
1.5.1	The SAPK/JNK, p38 MAPK and ERK 5 pathways	39
1.5.2	Extracellular-signal Regulated Kinase (ERK) pathway	40
1.5.2.1	Protein Kinase C (PKC) pathway	40
1.5.2.2	Protein Kinase A (PKA) pathway	42
1.5.2.3	Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI-3K)	42
1.5.2.4	Receptor tyrosine kinase signalling to ERK	43
1.5.2.5	GPCR signalling to ERK	44
1.5.2.6	Integrin signalling to ERK	44
1.5.3	Interaction of MEK and ERK	46
1.5.4	Translocation of activated ERK	47
1.6	INTRACELLULAR SIGNALLING IN MACROPHAGES AND HAEMOCYTES	49
1.6.1	Signalling in macrophages	49
1.6.1.1	Studies on primary macrophages	49
1.6.1.2	Studies on cultured macrophage cell lines	50
1.6.2	Signalling in haemocytes	51
1.7	SUMMARY AND AIM OF STUDY	55
1.7.1	Experimental strategy	56

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1	Materials	59
2.2	Lymnaea stagnalis cultures	60
2.3	Haemolymph collection and monolayer preparation	60
2.4	Determination of optimum conditions for experiments with	62
	haemocyte monolayers	
2.4.1	Use of RPMI, Alsever solution, anti-clumping buffer and SSS	62
2.4.2	Effect of temperature on L. stagnalis haemocyte ERK 1/2	62
2.5	Trypan blue cell viability assay	62
2.6	Protein determination	63
2.7	Challenge of <i>L. stagnalis</i> haemocytes with bacterial and yeast	63
271	Challenge with $E_{\rm cauli}$ LPS	64
2.7.1	Challenge with heat killed E and	64
2.7.2	Challenge with heat-killed <i>E. con</i>	04
2.7.3	Challenge with Zymosan A	64
2.8	The effects of ERK inhibitors on ERK activation	65
2.9	BSA-conjugated monosaccharides	65
2.10	The effect of noradrenaline and adrenocorticotropin hormone	66
	(ACTH)	
2.11	Levels of phosphorylated FAK in suspended and bound haemocytes	66
2.12	Effect of Arg-Gly-Asp-Ser (RGDS) on ERK and FAK	66
	phosphorylation	
2.13	SDS-PAGE and Western blotting of haemocyte proteins	67
2.14	Image analysis	68
2.15	Non-radioactive MAP Kinase activity assay	69
2.16	Immunocytochemistry	70
2.17	Phagocytosis assays	71
2.18	Integrin mediated cell adhesion assay	72
2.19	Two-dimensional electrophoresis	73
2.20	Statistical analysis	75

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

3.1	THE IDENTIFICATION OF ERK PATHWAY COMPONENTS IN L. STAGNALIS	77
	HAEMOCYTES AND THE DETERMINATION OF OPTIMAL CONDITIONS FOR	
	HAEMOCYTE CULTURES	
3.1.1	Detection of ERK 1/2 - like proteins by Western analyses	78
3.1.2	Detection of ERK 1/2 – like proteins by immunocytochemistry	81
3.1.3	Detection of MAPK/ERK Kinase (MEK) by Western analysis	83
3.1.4	Detection of active Elk-1 by Western analysis	84
3.1.5	The effects of different saline solutions, media and incubation times	85
	on haemocytes	
3.1.5.1	Cell morphology	85
3.1.5.2	Phosphorylation of haemocyte ERK 1/2	85
3.1.5.3	Anti-clumping buffers	88
3.1.6	Effect of temperature on basal levels of phosphorylated ERK 1/2	88
3.1.7	Basal levels of phosphorylated ERK and MEK over 80 minutes	90
3.1.8	Trypan blue cell viability assay	90
3.1.9	Summary of results	92
3.2	ACTIVATION AND INHIBITION OF THE ERK PATHWAY	93
3.2.1	Challenge of haemocytes with cell-free E. coli LPS	94
3.2.1.1	Activation of ERK	94
3.2.1.2	Activation of MEK and Elk-1	95
3.2.2	Challenge of haemocytes with heat-killed E. coli	97
3.2.3	Challenge of haemocytes with zymosan A from S. cerevisiae	99
3.2.4	Adrenocorticotropin Hormone (ACTH)	100
3.2.5	Noradrenaline	103
3.2.6	Blockade of MEK 1/2 phosphorylation	106

3.2.6.1	U0126	106
3.2.6.2	PD98059	109
3.2.7	Non-radioactive MAP kinase activity assay	110
3.2.8	Summary of results	111
3.3	FUNCTION OF ERK-LIKE PROTEINS IN L. STAGNALIS HAEMOCYTES	112
3.3.1	The effects of MEK 1 and 2 inhibitors on phagocytosis	113
3.3.2	The effects of MEK 1 inhibitors on phagocytosis	113
3.3.3	The effects of Ras inhibition on phagocytosis	115
3.3.4	The effects of Protein Kinase C inhibition on phagocytosis	115
3.3.5	The effect of Protein Kinase A inhibition on phagocytosis	117
3.3.6	The effect of phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase inhibition on	117
	phagocytosis	
3.3.7	Summary of results	118
3.4	EFFECT OF MONOSACCHARIDES ON ERK, PKC AND PHAGOCYTOSIS	120
3.4.1	Effect of sugars on ERK and PKC activity	121
3.4.1.1	Effect on ERK and PKC in the absence of haemolymph	121
3.4.1.2	Effect on ERK and PKC activity in the presence of haemolymph	122
3.4.1.3	Changes in the cellular location of ERK when exposed to sugars	125
3.4.2	Effect of sugars on phagocytosis by haemocytes	127
3.4.2.1	In the absence of haemolymph	127
3.4.2.2	In the presence of haemolymph	127
3.4.2.3	Combined use of galactose and fucose	127
3.4.4	Summary of results	128
	•	
3.5	DETECTION OF INTEGRIN RECEPTORS AND A FAK-LIKE PROTEIN	130

3.5.1	Integrin mediated haemocyte binding	131
3.5.2	Role of integrins in phagocytosis	132
3.5.3	Haemocyte binding and phosphorylation of FAK	135
3.5.4	Effect of the RGDS peptide on FAK and ERK phosphorylation	137
3.5.5	Summary of results	139
3.6	DETECTION OF PHOSPHO-THREONINE-PROLINE HAEMOCYTE PROTEINS	140
	BY TWO-DIMENSIONAL SEPARATION	
Снартен	R 4: DISCUSSION	143
4.1	IDENTIFICATION, ACTIVATION AND DISSECTION OF THE ERK	145
	PATHWAY IN <i>L. STAGNALIS</i> HAEMOCYTES	
4.1.1	Identification of ERK pathway components	145
4.1.2	Activation of the ERK pathway	148
4.1.2.1	Cell-free E. coli LPS	148
4.1.2.2	Heat-killed E. coli and other compounds	150
4.1.3	Inhibition of ERK	153
4.2	THE FUNCTIONAL ROLE OF THE ERK PATHWAY IN <i>L. STAGNALIS</i> HAEMOCYTES	154
4.3	EFFECT OF SACCHARIDES ON <i>L. STAGNALIS</i> HAEMOCYTES	157
4.4	IDENTIFICATION OF INTEGRINS AND FAK-LIKE PROTEIN IN L.	161
	STAGNALIS HAEMOCYTES	
4.5	CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE STUDIES	164
Referenc	es	169
Appendi	ces	212
Appendi	x 1: Publications arising from study	
Appendi	x 2: Abstracts arising from study	

FIGURES

Figure	Title	Page
Снарте	r 1: Introduction	
1.1.1	The complement pathway.	13
1.1.2	Antibody structure.	17
1.3.1	The Trichobilharzia ocellata life cycle.	30
1.5.1	The ERK pathway.	41
Снарте	R 3: RESULTS	
3.1.1	Example of a BSA-standard curve.	79
3.1.2	Detection of ERK 1/2-like proteins in unstimulated L. stagnalis	80
	haemocytes.	
3.1.3	Detection of total-ERK proteins in L. stagnalis haemocytes.	81
3.1.4	Immunocytochemical detection of ERK isozymes.	82
3.1.5	Detection of activated MEK-like proteins in L. stagnalis haemocytes.	84
3.1.6	Detection of phosphorylated Elk-1 like protein in L. stagnalis	84
	haemocytes.	
3.1.7	Haemocyte basal ERK activity over a 16 h period when incubated in	87
	SSS.	
3.1.8	Levels of phosphorylated MEK and ERK isozymes over 4 hours	87
	culture.	
3.1.9	Levels of phosphorylated ERK in haemocytes cultured at different	89
	temperatures.	
3.1.10	Basal levels of phosphorylated ERK in unchallenged haemocytes over	91
	80 min post binding.	
3.2.1	The effect of LPS on <i>L. stagnalis</i> ERK and MEK phosphorylation levels.	96

3.2.2	Activation of L. stagnalis haemocyte Elk-1 by E. coli LPS	97
3.2.3	Haemocytes challenged with heat-killed E. coli do not possess	98
	significantly increased ERK phosphorylation	
3.2.4	The effect of zymosan A exposure on the phosphorylation of	99
	haemocyte ERK-like protein	
3.2.5	Exposure of L. stagnalis haemocytes to ACTH over 120 min does not	100
	modulate haemocyte ERK phosphorylation, but results in increased	
	ERK 1/2 expression.	
3.2.6	Haemocytes exposed to ACTH and LPS do not possess increased	102
	ERK activity, but have increased ERK expression.	
3.2.7	Haemocyte ERK activity is not modulated by noradrenaline.	104
3.2.8	Mean haemocyte ERK 1/2 phosphorylation levels are increased by	105
	noradrenaline and LPS.	
3.2.9	The MEK inhibitor, U0126, blocks ERK phosphorylation in a dose	107
	responsive manner.	
3.2.10	Immunocytochemical analyses of phospho-ERK activation and	108
	inhibition in haemocytes.	
3.2.11	The MEK 1 inhibitor, PD98059, reduces ERK phosphorylation in L.	109
	stagnalis haemocytes.	
3.2.12	L. stagnalis haemocyte ERK possesses kinase activity towards Elk-1.	110
3.3.1	Inhibition of haemocyte phagocytic activity with MEK inhibitors,	114
	U0126 and PD98059.	
3.3.2	The inhibition of phagocytosis by blockade of Ras farnesylation.	115
3.3.3	The effect of blocking PKC and MEK 1/2 activity on phagocytosis by	116
	L. stagnalis haemocytes.	
3.3.4	Lack of inhibition of haemocyte phagocytic activity with the PKA	117
	inhibitor, KT5720.	
3.3.5	Reduction in 'bioparticle' phagocytosis as a result of PI-3K inhibition.	118
3.4.1	Western blots showing ERK phosphorylation after haemocyte	123
	exposure to albumin-linked monosaccharides.	
3.4.2	Levels of phospho-PKC decline in a dose-responsive effect with	123

	exposure to sugars with and without haemolymph present.	
3.4.3	Analysis of ERK and PKC immunoblots to determine the effects of	124
	sugar exposure on phosphorylation levels.	
3.4.4	Immunocytochemistry reveals the location of active ERK following	126
	sugar exposure.	
3.4.5	Phagocytic activity of haemocytes exposed to BSA-conjugated fucose	128
	or galactose in the absence and presence of haemolymph.	
3.5.1	Graph showing haemocyte requirement for calcium and magnesium in	133
	the extracellular environment for $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_3$ and β_1 -integrin mediated	
	binding.	
3.5.2	Suppression of haemocyte phagocytic activity in a dose responsive	134
	manner by RGDS and cytochalasin D.	
3.5.3	Increased FAK phosphorylation in bound cells.	136
3.5.4	Haemocytes exposed to RGDS have increased FAK phosphorylation.	137
3.5.5	RGDS exposure does not result in increased haemocyte ERK activity.	138
3.6.1	Two-dimensional separation of haemocyte proteins followed by	142
	Western blotting with anti-phospho threonine-proline antibody.	

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

4.1Diagram summarising ERK pathway signalling in L. stagnalis165haemocytes as found in this study.

TABLES

Table	Title	Page
3.1.1	Haemocyte morphology observed during incubation in SSS and	86
	RPMI over 16 hours.	
3.1.2	Viable and non-viable haemocyte numbers determined by the trypan blue cell viability assay.	92

CONTENTS

Section	n Title	Page
Ackno	wledgements	1
Abbrev	viations	2
Abstra	ct	5
Снарт	ER 1: INTRODUCTION	6
1.1	THE VERTEBRATE DEFENCE RESPONSE	7
1.1.1	Cells involved in vertebrate innate immunity	7
1.1.2	Mechanisms of pathogen recognition	9
1.1.3	Molecules of innate immunity	11
1.1.3.1	Complement	12
1.1.3.2	Acute phase proteins	13
1.1.3.3	Cytokines	14
1.1.3.4	Collectins	15
1.1.4	The acquired immune response	16
1.1.4.1	Cells involved in acquired immunity	16
1.1.4.2	Antibodies	17
1.2	Invertebrate Defence Mechanisms	19
1.2.1	Cellular aspects of invertebrate immunity	19
1.2.1.1	Invertebrate pattern recognition receptors	20
1.2.2	Humoral aspects of invertebrate immunity	22
1.2.3	Immunity in gastropod molluscs	25
1.3	Mollusc-Trematode Interactions	28
1.3.1	Schistosomiasis	28
1.3.1.1	The schistosome life cycle	28
1.3.1.2	Immunity of the intermediate snail host to the schistosome parasite	30

Abbreviations

4,5-PIP ₂	Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate
ACTH	Adrenocorticotropin hormone
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
ANOVA	One-way analysis of variance
APS	Ammonium persulphate
Arg	Arginine
Asp	Aspartine
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CD	Cluster of Differentiation
DAG	Diacylglycerol
DC	Detergent compatible
DMSO	Dimethyl sulphoxide
Ds-RNA	Double stranded ribonucleic acid
ECL	Enhanced chemiluminescence
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
EMSA	Electrophoretic mobility shift assay
ERK	Extracellular-signal Regulated Kinase
FAK	Focal adhesion kinase
FITC	Fluoroisothiocyanate
FTase	Farnesyltransferase
GalNAc	N-acetylgalactosamine
GAP	GTPase activating protein
GDP	Guanine diphosphate
GlcNAc	N-acetylglucosamine
Gly	Glycine
GNBP	Gram negative bacteria binding protein
GNRP	Guanine nucleotide releasing factor

GPCR	G protein coupled receptor
GTP	Guanine triphosphate
GTPase	Guanine triphosphatase
HPO	Haemocyte-producing organ
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
JNK	c-Jun NH ₂ -terminal kinase
LBP	Lipopolysaccharide binding protein
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
МАРК	Mitogen-actived Protein Kinase
MARCKS	Myristolyated alanine-rich C kinase substrate
MEK	Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Kinase
MGD1	Mytilus galloprovincialis defensin 1
МКК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase
МКР	MAP kinase phosphatase
NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor κ B
NGF	Nerve growth factor
NK Cell	Natural killer cell
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PI	Phosphatidylinositol
PI-3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase
РКА	Protein kinase A
РКС	Protein kinase C
PLC	Phospholipase C
proPO	Prophenoloxidase
proPO-AS	Prophenoloxidase-activating system
RGDS	Asganine-Glycine-Aspartine-Serine
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNAi	Ribonucleic acid interference
RTK	Receptor tyrosine kinase

SAPK	Stress activated protein kinase
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SEM	Standard error of the mean
Ser	Serine
SH	Src homology
SSS	Sterile snail saline
TBS	Tris buffered saline
TEMED	N,N,N',N'-tetramethylethylenediamine
TGF	Transforming growth factor
Thr	Threonine
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
TTBS	Tris buffered saline – Tween 20
Tyr	Tyrosine

Abstract

Haemocytes, the main type of circulating defence cell in invertebrates, functionally resemble mammalian macrophages, and are responsible for phagocytosis, endocytosis and other innate immune functions. In mammalian macrophages, the extracellularsignal regulated kinase (ERK) pathway has been shown to modulate immune responses. It was therefore hypothesised that this pathway may play a similar role in haemocytes of the gastropod molluse, Lymnaea stagnalis, and intermediate host of the schistosome, Trichobilharzia ocellata. Two ERK-like proteins were detected by Western blotting using antibodies that recognise non-phosphorylated and phosphorylated forms of mammalian ERK 1/2; these proteins had approximate molecular weights of 44 and 43kDa respectively. In addition, the upstream regulator of ERK, MEK, was detected in haemocytes as well as the transcription factor downstream of activated ERK, Elk-1. By employing a mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase assay kit, the identified ERK-like proteins were found to possess kinase activity. When haemocytes were challenged with E. coli lipopolysaccharide (LPS), the activity of the ERK pathway was found to be significantly upregulated after 5 min challenge and perinuclear migration of phosphorylated ERK was observed by immunocytochemistry. Other compounds, including Zymosan A, adrenocorticotropin hormone, noradrenaline and challenge with heat-killed E. coli did not modulate haemocyte ERK pathway activity. Pharmacological inhibitors used to block signalling to the ERK pathway demonstrated that MEK, PKC, PI-3K and Ras activity are vital for phagocytosis by haemocytes. In addition, the integrin subunits $\alpha_V \beta_3$ and β_1 were found to be present on the haemocyte surface and integrin engagement was found to be necessary for phagocytosis. Monosaccharides found on the surface coat of T. ocellata, fucose and galactose, were applied to haemocytes in the presence and absence of haemolymph. These sugars proved to have important immunomodulatory effects, since ERK, PKC and phagocytic activity were all affected by these sugars, and differences in experiments with and without haemolymph suggest an important role for serum proteins in the molluscan immune response. In conclusion, this study provided an insight into the signalling machinery involved in the molluscan defence response, and the results should stimulate further research in snail defence responses, particularly following challenge by parasites.

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 VERTEBRATE DEFENCE RESPONSES

The concept of cellular immunity was first reported by the Russian zoologist, Elie Metchnikoff (1845 - 1916). During his career, Metchnikoff studied mammalian leukocytes, and discovered their ability to engulf microorganisms - a process he later termed phagocytosis. Over a century later, two types of immunity are known to exist, innate and acquired, and a concerted action of both cells and humoral molecules is needed for an efficient immune response. The development of biochemical and molecular tools and their application to the study of immunity has enabled a detailed picture of the vertebrate immune system to be drawn.

1.1.1 Cells involved in vertebrate innate immunity

The first line of defence in vertebrates is the innate immune system, which is capable of responding rapidly to infection, although with little specificity. A number of cell types constitute this innate system, with the majority being neutrophils (also referred to as polymorphonuclear cells). Upon infection, neutrophils leave the blood and enter tissues by following chemical gradients (chemotaxis) where they destroy invading micro-organisms. Neutrophils generally survive for only a few days since the cells are non-dividing and self-destruction often occurs with bacterial cell lysis.

Approximately, 1.5% of the population of mammalian white blood cells are eosinophils, which possess only limited phagocytic activity but contain destructive enzymes within cytoplasmic granules. The major contribution to defence by eosinophils is against larger foreign invaders such as parasites (reviewed by Dombrowicz & Capron, 2001; Klion & Nutman, 2004). Eosinophils have been linked to allergic responses, which could be due to 'cross-talk' (bi-directional regulation) with mast cells, another cell type involved in the innate immune response (reviewed by Piliponsky *et al.*, 2001). The cytokine, tumour necrosis factor α (TNF α), has recently been demonstrated to play a key role in the longevity of eosinophils (Temkin & Levi-Schaffer, 2001), which is vital to enable the cells enough time to penetrate into inflamed tissue before exocytosing destructive enzymes. Natural killer (NK) cells, also part of the innate immune response, are capable of destroying the body's own virus infected or aberrant cells which could otherwise go on to form tumours. The primary role of NK cells is to provide an initial defence against pathological organisms during the time that the adaptive immune response is being 'formed'. NK cells are especially important in immunity to viruses (French & Yokoyama, 2003), and are capable of releasing cytokines which have a significant role in the noncytolytic control of viral infections (Guidotti & Chisari, 2001).

Platelets also play an important role in innate immunity by releasing important mediators during blood clotting, thereby activating the complement system and attracting mast cells, macrophages, and dendritic cells to the site of trauma (reviewed by Weyrich & Zimmerman, 2004). Mast cells and basophils are morphologically similar granulocytes, which release their granules as a result of binding to anaphylatoxins, allergens or lectins. Although present at very low amounts in the vertebrate circulatory system (0.2% of all granular leukocytes), mast cells play a very important role in defence against bacterial pathogens (Leal-Berumen et al., 1994) and viruses (Malone et al., 2001; King et al., 2002). Mast cells release proteases, which are important for the recruitment of neutrophils and eosinophils (Huang ct al., 1998; Schmidlin et al., 2002) and also express antimicrobial peptides (Di Nardo et al., 2003). Complement components are especially important in regulating mast cell activity, since these cells possess multiple receptors for complement pathway molecules (Nilsson et al., 1996; Prodeus et al., 1997). Furthermore, complement binding gives mast cells the ability to intercept and phagocytose bacteria in a similar way to macrophages (Sher et al., 1979; Malaviya et al., 1994). Basophils, however, are recruited from peripheral blood during late phase responses and are responsible for the release of mediators involved in allergic inflammation (Lichtenstein & Bochner, 1991). Stimulation of basophils results in the exocytosis of inflammatory mediators which can lead to severe anaphylactic shock.

Dendritic cells are three types: Langerhans cells; interdigitating cells; and follicular dendritic cells. All three act at the interface between innate and adaptive immunity (reviewed by Castellano *et al.*, 2004a). These cells are able to interact with microbial associated molecules (e.g. lipopolysaccharide (LPS)) which results in cell activation leading to the induction of primary immune responses with the establishment of

immunological memory (Banchereau & Steinman, 1998). Dendritic cells are also important in the removal of apoptotic host cells (Nauta *et al.*, 2003), and although these cells are capable of phagocytosis, their phagocytic responses is less efficient than that of monocytes or macrophages (Netea *et al.*, 2004). An important interaction between complement and dendritic cells has recently been identified, in that immature dendritic cells are capable of producing the complement component, C1q (Castellano *et al.*, 2004b).

Constituting approximately 5% of white blood cells, monocytes provide a very effective phagocytic defence. Once mature, monocytes circulate in the blood before migrating into tissues where they subsequently enlarge and develop into macrophages. Macrophages are the largest phagocytic cells in vertebrates, they possess significant amounts of rough endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria, and are very effective at destroying 'foreign bodies'. Microbes are destroyed by being engulfed and subsequently attacked by digestive enzymes and reactive forms of oxygen and nitrogen produced within the macrophage (Roos *et al.*, 2003). When challenged with gramnegative bacteria, it is the LPS (endotoxin) coat that stimulates and activates macrophages which then subsequently deactivate the LPS molecule Rutenburg *et al.*, 1960). Macrophages are present throughout the connective tissue and at the basement membrane of small blood vessels, particularly in the lungs (alveolar macrophages), liver (Kupffer cells), lymph node medullary sinuses (where they filter foreign material) and at various other locations such as the brain (microglia) and bone (osteoclasts).

1.1.2 Mechanisms of pathogen recognition

Macrophages express a large repertoire of cell surface receptors which recognise conserved patterns unique to microbial surfaces (reviewed by Heumann & Roger, 2002; Weber *et al.*, 2003). Activation of these pattern recognition receptors (PRR) on the macrophage causes the rearrangement of the actin cytoskeleton enabling the subsequent internalisation of the particle.

Two types of CD14, membrane bound (mCD14) and soluble (sCD14), exist and each is able to interact directly with the bacterial endotoxin, LPS. CD14 recognises various sugar or glycolipid motifs from bacteria, and therefore acts in a similar way to lectins.

mCD14 is embedded in the plasma membrane of myelomonocytic cells through a glycerophosphate inositol (GPI) anchor. Soluble CD14 results from either the shedding of mCD14 from cells, or the production of non-GPI anchored CD14 molecules. sCD14 interaction with LPS is known to be accelerated by LPS binding protein (LBP) (Hailman *et al.*, 1994), and sCD14 can also effect the transfer of LPS to high density lipoproteins (HDL) for neutralisation.

Primarily a lipid transfer molecule, the LPS binding protein (LBP), is present in plasma and transforms LPS to monomers for binding to CD14 receptors (Thomas *et al.*, 2002). LBP mediates the movement of phospholipids, in particular LPS monomers to membrane bound CD14 (mCD14) and soluble CD14 (sCD14) and phospholipids such as HDL. The transfer of LPS to CD14 results in cell activation (through the CD14 receptor) or through the neutralisation of LPS by HDL. Kinetic studies have demonstrated that LPS/LBP complex binding to CD14 occurs before the neutralisation of LPS via HDL, which suggests that LPS activates immune cells before it is neutralised (Yu & Wright, 1996).

Toll-like Receptors (TLRs) have an extracellular leucine-rich repeat domain, a cysteine rich cytoplasmic domain that mediates intracellular signal transduction, and the Toll/interleukin-1 receptor (IL-1R) homology domain. Toll-like receptors were first identified in Drosophila melanogaster (Hashimoto et al., 1988) and the first human homologue was cloned in 1997 (Medzhitov, 1997). One TLR that is important in the induction of cytokines in vertebrates is TLR4, which also binds LPS and affects intracellular signalling pathways. Different toll proteins are able to recognise molecular patterns of pathogens and distinguish between different pathogen groups (Underhill & Ozinsky, 2002). It is now thought that different TLRs discriminate between the major molecular signatures of pathogens, including peptidoglycan, teichoic acids (Gram-positive bacteria), LPS (Gram-negative bacteria), arabinomannans and glucans. Although TLRs are considered to be primarily involved in macrophage intercellular signalling in response to gram-negative LPS (reviewed by Dobrovolskaia & Vogel, 2002), TLR2 has become increasingly linked with the recognition of Grampositive bacteria (reviewed by Weber et al., 2003b). TLRs not only signal the presence of a pathogen, but also trigger expression of co-stimulatory molecules and effector

cytokines and thus prepare the cell for its involvement in the development of the adaptive immune response.

A group of transmembrane cell-surface molecules known as scavenger receptors mediate binding and internalisation of microbes, along with certain modified, damaged or apoptotic self-cells (reviewed by Mukhopadhyay & Gordon, 2004). Indeed, scavenger receptors have an important role in the recognition of teichoic acid on Grampositive bacteria. Scavenger receptors are expressed on macrophages and dendritic cells, and have the ability to recognise multiple ligands and regulate a large range of cellular functions (reviewed by Gough & Gordon, 2000). They are capable of binding bacterial, viral, fungal or parasitic coats as well as soluble or particulate ligands. Many scavenger receptors exist, with one such receptor (SR-A) having specificity for the lipid A component of lipopolysaccharide and of lipoteichoic acid associated with bacteria. SR-A has been proven to be involved in the recognition of parasitic infections when SR-A negative mice were infected with the murine form of malaria (Nogami *et al.*, 1998).

The mannose receptor, another transmembrane receptor expressed on macrophages, dendritic cells and subsets of endothelial cells, has eight carbohydrate recognition domains (CRDs) that allow it to bind to a broad range of ligands (reviewed by Stahl & Ezekowitz, 1998; Allavena *et al.*, 2004). The Ca²⁺-dependent, mannosyl/fucosyl recognition pattern permits it to interact with a variety of pathogens that enter through mucosal surfaces. Because the mannose receptor is expressed on macrophages throughout the body, it is likely to be one of the first innate receptors to interact with microbes, which, once bound, are internalised and degraded by endosomes. This receptor is extremely important as it mediates phagocytosis (demonstrated by Koziel *et al.*, 1998), by binding to opsonins, and the destruction of microbes even before the adaptive immune response is triggered.

1.1.3 Molecules of innate immunity

Clearly, the innate immune system comprises many cellular components that give rise to the characteristic rapid immune response following infection by bacteria or larger organisms, such as parasites. However, not only cellular responses are involved. Many molecules interact with immune cells to facilitate an efficient immune response.

1.1.3.1 Complement

Innate immunity also involves the complement system, which consists of over 20 interdependent proteins that undergo sequential activation to mediate protection against infection. These proteins are synthesised by hepatocytes and monocytes and can be activated through either 'classical', 'alternative' or the more recently discovered 'lectin' pathways (Fig 1.1.1; Matsushita & Fujita, 1996). Molecules associated with microorganisms activate the alternative pathway; while antibodies bound to a microbe or antigen activate the classical pathway. The lectin pathway is activated upon carbohydrate recognition by mannose-binding proteins and ficolins (pattern recognition molecules). C3 is the central component of the complement system and is equipped with a unique thioester bond that is exposed to the molecular surface upon activation; it then forms a covalent bond with hydroxyl or amine groups in cell surface molecules present on the invading microorganism (Law *et al.*, 1980).

The complement system facilitates phagocytosis and mediates an acute inflammatory reaction in vertebrates. Mast cells play a central role in the complement pathway, releasing mediators that, together with complement components, also recruit polymorphonuclear phagocytes and further plasma complement components to sites of microbial infection.

The major functions of the complement system are to initiate inflammation by direct activation of mast cells (components C3a and C5a), to attract neutrophils (by chemotaxis) to the site of microbial attack (C5a), to enhance attachment of the microbe to the phagocyte (opsonisation; C3b) and to kill the microbe (lysis; C9; MAC). The ultimate aim of complement is, however, the formation of a membrane attack complex (MAC or C5b-9 complex) which disrupts and forms a pore in the phospholipid bilayer in order to lyse cells (Morgan, 1989). Some viruses and bacterial pathogens, however, take advantage of the complement system by binding to complement receptors to facilitate their entry into cells and gain shelter from innate and adaptive immunity (Speth *et al.*, 2002).



Figure 1.1.1. The complement pathway. The 20 proteins comprising the complement pathway opsonise pathogens to aid phagocytosis/endocytosis by cells of the innate immune response. The alternative, classical (acquired immunity triggered by antibody (Ab) binding to the complement component C1) and lectin pathways are shown. All pathways involve the complement components C3, C3b and C5 – C9, whilst the lectin pathway also involves the MBL-associated serine protease (MASP). Diagram is taken from Fujita *et al.* (2004).

1.1.3.2 Acute phase proteins

Acute phase proteins are also important in the innate defence of vertebrates, mainly acting against bacteria and protozoa. These proteins also act to limit tissue damage and trauma. Acute phase proteins include C-reactive proteins (CRP), complement components, opsonic proteins (such as mannose-binding protein (MBP)), metal-binding proteins and protease inhibitors (reviewed by Murata *et al.*, 2004). The proteins are mainly produced by the liver and are either produced *de novo*, or are present at low levels which rapidly increase following infection. The proteins are produced by

hepatocytes in response to the cytokines IL-1, IL-6, TNF α and IFN γ , which are released by activated macrophages and NK cells. The acute phase proteins have many functions, the most predominant of which is to maximise activation of the complement system and opsonisation of microbes. C-reactive proteins are known to specifically bind to the phosphatidylcholine (PC) moiety of pneumococcal C-polysaccharide in a calciumdependent manner (Volanakis, 2001), although recently, protein A specific binding has also been reported (Das *et al.*, 2004).

1.1.3.3 Cytokines

Another group of molecules involved in innate immunity are the cytokines, which can induce growth, differentiation, chemotaxis, and activation/enhanced cytotoxicity. Cytokines are classified according to the cell that they are released from. Interleukins (ILs) are predominantly produced by leukocytes, monokines by myeloid cells, lymphokines by lymphocytes, with interferons (IFNs) being produced by a wide variety of cells in response to viral infection.

Divided into two sub-groups, type I IFN (α and β) and type II IFN (γ ; also referred to as immune IFN) interferons can mediate protection against viral infection. IFN α and β are produced by many cell types in response to viral or bacterial infection, especially when cells are invaded by intracellular bacteria (Poston & Kurlander, 1992). At least 12 different homologous species of IFN α are produced, primarily by infected leukocytes, as well as by epithelial cells and fibroblasts (Zhao *et al.*, 1998). In contrast, a single species of IFN β exists and is normally secreted by fibroblasts and epithelial cells. The proinflammatory cytokines, IL-1 and TNF α , are potent inducers of IFN α and β secretion, as are endotoxins derived from the cell wall of gram-negative bacteria (Poston & Kurlander, 1992; Hunter *et al.*, 1995).

Monokines have many different local and systemic activities that are critical to immune defence. As a result of a particular stimulus, including ingestion of Gram-negative bacteria and subsequent activation by LPS, macrophages secrete many interleukins and TNF α . In particular, TNF α , IL-1 and IL-6 increase body temperature, lymphocyte activity, mobilisation of neutrophils for phagocytosis, and induce the release of acute phase proteins that are involved in complement activation and opsonisation (Simms *et*

al., 1991). IL-8 (produced by leukocytes upon LPS stimulation) is stimulated by integrin binding, which aids the binding of neutrophils to epithelial cells and migration into tissues (Garcia-Velasco & Arici, 1999). In addition, TNF α , IFN γ and LPS all stimulate macrophages to produce a key immunomodulatory molecule, nitric oxide, *via* activation of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), (Fecker *et al.*, 2002). Mast cells have been shown to produce IL-6 when induced by bacterial LPS (Leal-Berumen *et al.*, 1994), and monokine production is elevated in patients with infection and cancer (Shin *et al.*, 2003).

Chemokines, of which there are more than 50, are small closely-related cytokines involved in chemoattraction of lymphocytes, monocytes and neutrophils. They are primarily produced by monocytes/macrophages, but also by platelets and some endothelial cells in response to infection or physical damage. Chemokines direct cells to the source of infection/damage by promoting chemotaxis. The receptors for chemokines are G-protein coupled receptors. Most of these receptors bind more than one chemokine and are distributed in particular cell populations which gives rise to the selective activity of these molecules (Chen *et al.*, 2004).

Other cytokines important in innate immune defences are granulocyte monocyte colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF), granulocyte CSF (G-CSF) and monocyte CSF (M-CSF), which drive the development, differentiation and expansion of cells of the myeloid series. Transforming growth factor (TGF) is produced by a variety of cells including monocytes, macrophages, T cells and chondrocytes, and plays an important role in suppressing immune responses, as it can inhibit activation of macrophages and the growth of B and T cells. The role of TGF in the down-regulation of the immune response aids in the survival of the intracellular parasite, *Leishmania chagasi* (Gantt *et al.*, 2003).

1.1.3.4 Collectins

Collectins are a group of carbohydrate-binding proteins structurally related to the complement component C1q. These molecules act as opsonins and are important in the innate immune response to infections (reviewed by Hoppe & Reid, 1994). Receptors for collectins are present on macrophages, facilitating the removal and destruction of

microorganisms. The mannose-binding protein, an example of a collectin which binds to the mannose receptor, is able to activate complement via the classical pathway and to engage host inflammatory, lytic and phagocytic responses (Hoppe & Reid, 1994).

1.1.4 The Acquired Immune Response

The innate immune response provides the non-specific element of immunity. However, the acquired immune response is specific, with memory cells such as lymphocytes providing specificity.

1.1.4.1 Cells involved in Acquired Immunity

Two types of lymphocytes, T and B cells, that mature in the thymus and bone marrow, respectively, are involved in the acquired response and each possess different antigen receptors on their cell surface. These include molecules required for lymphocyte activation and for movement in and out of body tissues. NK cells are also considered a cell of the adaptive immune system, but they also participate in innate protection against viruses and some tumours.

T cells are of two classes, T helper (Th) and T cytotoxic (Tc), and they both possess antigen receptors that determine their specificity and CD3 which is crucial for cellular activation (de Saint Basile *et al.*, 2004). In contrast, B cells produce and present antibodies as their specific antigen receptor, however, they do have molecules similar to CD3 that are important in cell activation. When activated by antigen, and often T cells, B cells proliferate and mature into memory cells or plasma cells. Whilst memory cells produce antibodies for expression on their cell surface and remain able to respond to an antigen if it is reintroduced, plasma cells do not express cell surface antibody receptors (although they do have receptors for other immune-related molecules such as chemokines; Natayama *et al.*, 2003). Instead, the plasma cells produce and secrete large amounts of antibody of the same specificity as the antigen receptor on the stimulated parent B cell, and these antibodies are always of the same specificity.

1.1.4.2 Antibodies

Antibodies, or immunoglobulins, are glycoproteins that bind antigens with high specificity and affinity (antibody structure is shown in Fig 1.1.2). In humans there are five chemically and physically distinct classes of antibodies (IgG, IgA, IgM, IgD and IgE). The affinity of the antibody to the antigen is important in the immune response, since the antibody will be less likely to dissociate from the antigen as affinity gets greater. Interestingly, antibodies produced by a memory response have higher affinity than those produced from a primary response (Neuberger *et al.*, 2000). The valency of the antibody is also important for the immune response, since this is the number of antigenic determinants with which the antibody can bind. Having multiple binding sites for an antigen therefore dramatically increases the efficiency of recognition.



Figure 1.1.2. Antibody structure. The terms 'V region' and 'C region' are used to designate the variable and constant regions, respectively; 'V_L' and 'C_L' are generic terms for these regions on the light chain and 'V_H' and 'C_H' specify the variable and constant regions on the heavy chain. One L chain is bound to a H chain by a disulphide bridge and noncovalent interactions. Two H chains are also bound by covalent and non-covalent bonds. The antibody class is determined by the type of H chain the antibody possesses, of which there are five (μ , δ , γ , ε and α). Additionally, there are two types of L chain (κ and λ), of which an antibody can only possess one. Diagram taken from Roitt (2001).

Antibody diversity is generated by the random selection of genes by B cells during their development into mature cells (Collins *et al.*, 2003; Li *et al.*, 2004a). During

development, the B cell randomly selects from its H-chain gene group and then from the κ or λ gene groups. After successful rearrangement, the cell is then committed to the expression and production of antibodies that will have the same specificity.

1.2 INVERTEBRATE DEFENCE MECHANISMS

An interest in comparative immunology appears to have been triggered by the comparative immunologist, William Hildemann (1927 – 1983), who published his work on immune-phylogeny over two decades ago (Hildemann *et al.*, 1979; Hildemann *et al.*, 1981). Since these initial experiments, much is now known about the immune responses in invertebrate species, especially insects due to the use of *Drosophila melanogaster* as a model organism (reviewed by Leclerc & Reichhart, 2004). This increase in knowledge is reflected in the number of review articles recently published (Vilmos & Kurucz, 1998; Mushegian & Medzhitov, 2001; Salzet, 2001; Bayne, 2003; Humphries & Yoshino, 2003; Schulenburg *et al.*, 2004).

Immunity in invertebrates can be divided into humoral and cellular aspects of the immune system. Humoral immunity in insects involves melanisation, and haemolymph (serum) clotting and immune proteins such as antimicrobial peptides; whereas cellular immune responses include phagocytosis and encapsulation by haemocytes (the invertebrate equivalent of the mammalian macrophage), and nodule formation.

1.2.1 Cellular aspects of invertebrate immunity

The success of invertebrate species belonging to the phyla Arthropoda and Mollusca is thought to be partially due to them possessing efficient defence systems against foreign invaders such as bacteria. Haemocytes, the main phagocytic defence cells of invertebrate species, greatly resemble mammalian macrophages both functionally and morphologically. These cells are responsible for the phagocytosis of microbes, or encapsulation of larger invading organisms such as parasites. Haemocytes are either found attached to endothelial cells lining the haemocoel or are mobile in the haemolymph. The mobile haemocytes are also capable of moving into tissues by chemotaxis, similarly to cells involved in the vertebrate innate immune response. In fact, cell-free *E. coli* LPS has been demonstrated to stimulate chemotaxis of *Mytilus edulis* haemocytes using a Boyden chamber (Schneeweiss & Renwrantz, 1993).

Early biochemical studies with haemocytes suggested that they lack oxygen generating systems (Chain & Anderson, 1983), which are important in the mammalian immune

response (reviewed by MacMicking *et al.*, 1997). However, recent studies have confirmed that molluscan haemocytes are capable of generating reactive oxygen species (Conte & Ottaviani, 1995; Adema *et al.*, 1991; Hahn *et al.*, 2000). Other similarities between mammalian macrophages and haemocytes lie in the mechanisms of phagocytosis. Although haemocyte phagocytosis is a fairly recent area of research, evidence is accumulating which suggests that the mechanisms phagocytosis employed by haemocytes are similar to those of macrophages. It is known that the haemocyte cell surface receptors for recognition of microbes are homologous to those found on the macrophage cell surface as discussed in section 1.1.

Internalisation of bacteria or particles by molluscan haemocytes has largely been studied using *E. coli*, latex beads or cell-free LPS, and similar approaches to those used in studies with mammalian macrophages. Lacoste *et al.* (2002a), Lane & Birkbeck (1999) and Canesi *et al.* (2002a; 2002b; 2002c) used live bacteria to challenge haemocytes from *Crassostrea gigas*, *M. edulis* and *Mytilus galloprovincialis* respectively, and these workers found that haemocytes from these species appeared to phagocytose bacteria in similar way to mammalian macrophages. Cell-free LPS has been used to challenge haemocytes from a wide range of invertebrates (see for example, Charalambidis *et al.*, 1996b; Foukas *et al.*, 1998; Metheniti *et al.*, 2003; Cao *et al.*, 2004), to determine the specific effect of this endotoxin on the function of invertebrate defence cells.

1.2.1.1 Invertebrate Pattern Recognition Receptors

Toll-like receptor proteins were first identified in *D. melanogaster* (Hashimoto *et al.*, 1988), and those found in invertebrate species, and indeed plant species, are highly homologous to those find in mammalian cells (Jones *et al.*, 2004). However, toll-like receptors in invertebrates appear to also have roles in development as well as immunity (Kambris *et al.*, 2002; Ligoxygakis *et al.*, 2002). Although the *Drosophila* toll like receptor is a major player in the immune response, it does not act as a pattern recognition receptor, instead binding cytokines. Signalling of toll receptors in invertebrate cells appears to parallel that of mammalian IL-1 receptor signalling which leads to the activation of the necrosis factor kappa B (NF- κ B) pathway, therefore suggesting a possible role of TLRs in the immune response. Homologies to the

Drosophila and the mammalian toll pathway have also recently been found in Caenorhabditis elegans (reviewed by Schulenburg et al., 2004).

Apart from the Toll-like proteins, other haemocyte cell-surface molecules, including those involved in the phagocytic response, have a striking resemblance to mammalian macrophage receptors. For example, in the mid-1990s insect homologues to the class-A macrophage specific scavenger receptor were identified (Pearson *et al.*, 1995). Similarly, invertebrate homologues to CD36 have also been found on the insect haemocyte surface (Franc *et al.*, 1996).

Recent studies have utilised LPS to stimulate invertebrate haemocytes, in an attempt to decipher mechanisms of haemocyte action and function, and to compare findings with those derived from studies on mammalian macrophages (Conte & Ottaviani, 1995; Stefano et al., 1999; Cao et al., 2004). LPS binding protein (LBP) is an important protein in the immune system of invertebrates and vertebrates alike. While mammalian LBP has been extensively characterised, investigations into invertebrate LBP are relatively new. It has been found, however, that LPS-binding proteins differ greatly in their chemical and structural properties. A Gram-negative bacteria binding protein (GNBP) has been identified in the silkworm *Bombyx mori* (Lee *et al.*, 1996) and an LPS-specific binding protein has also been reported from the freshwater crayfish Pacifastacus leniusculus (Lee et al., 2000). In addition, hemolin (a protein that stimulates phagocytosis) has been identified in the haemolymph of Hyalophora cecropia (Faye et al., 1975) and has more recently been found to specifically bind to the lipid A part of LPS (Daffre et al., 1997), acting as an opsonin to enhance phagocytosis (Lanz-Mendoza et al., 1996). An LPS-binding protein found on the surface of medfly, Ceratitis capitata, haemocytes has been implicated in LPS internalisation by these cells (Metheniti et al., 2003), and plays a similar role to the haemocyte surface protein, calreticulin, in the insect *Pieris rapae*, although this is not an LPS-binding protein (Asgari et al., 2003). Proteins that bind E. coli LPS have also been characterised in the horseshoe crab, Tachypleus tridentatus, and well as proteins that bind to protein A (the Gram-positive equivalent to LPS) from Staphylococcus aureus (Chiou et al., 2000). Furthermore, a major non-self-recognition protein, which may be related to the LPS-binding protein, is released from haemocytes of C. capitata during degranulation following stimulation with LPS (Charalambidis et al., 1995).

Lectins could also be described as pattern recognition molecules since they bind to carbohydrates at specific sugar motifs, similarly to many LPS binding proteins. Lectins have been characterised in many invertebrate species, and have been found to be one of the main groups of molecules involved in the humoral immune response. Galactose specific lectins have been isolated from a wide range of invertebrate species including the ascidian *Halocynthia roretzi* (Azumi *et al.*, 2000), the horseshoe crab *Tachypleus tridentatus* (Chiou *et al.*, 2000), the abalone *Haliotis laevigata* (Mann *et al.*, 2000), *Drosophila* (Pace *et al.*, 2002), and the worm *Lumbricus terrestris* (Hirabayashi *et al.*, 1998). Binding of lectins can be calcium dependent or –independent, with both types of lectin known to exist in invertebrate species (Richards & Renwrantz, 1991). Recently, it has been speculated that a mannan-binding protein may exist in the ascidian, *H. roretzi* (Ji *et al.*, 1997), and serum lectins have recently been found in the cockroach, *B. discoidalis* (Wilson *et al.*, 1997) is particularly important due to lectins being involved in the recognition of parasites (discussed in section 1.3).

In mammalian systems, the LPS-binding protein transforms LPS to monomers for binding to CD14 receptors on the leukocyte surface (Yu & Wright, 1996). CD14 also recognises various sugar or glycolipid motifs from bacteria, thus acting similarly to lectins. Cluster of differentiation (CD) receptors have been found on the surface of haemocytes, for example, the insect cell surface protein, croquemort, is part of the CD36 superfamily and mediates recognition of apoptotic cells in a similar fashion to mammalian CD36 (Franc *et al.*, 1996).

1.2.2 Humoral aspects of invertebrate immunity

Three immediate defence mechanisms contribute to invertebrate humoral immunity. These mechanisms involve the production of antimicrobial peptides/proteins, haemolymph clotting, and a process that solely belongs to insects, melanisation.

Melanisation is the result of phenoloxidase activity, which catalyses the formation of melanin. As a result of phenoloxidase activity, an invading organism is 'blackened' within the host haemolymph by melanin deposition. Before phenoloxidase is activated,

recognition of 'foreign' material occurs via recognition molecules in the haemolymph, which induce activation of the prophenoloxidase (proPO)-activating system (proPO-AS) causing haemocytes to release the inactive enzyme (Jiang *et al.*, 2003). This proPO-A system is extremely efficient, responding to concentrations of LPS, peptidoglycans or β -1,3-glucans from yeast as low as picograms per litre (Söderhäll, 1982). The proPO activating system has been found to exist in many insects including the silk moth *Bombyx mori* (Ashida, 1971), the tobacco moth *Manduca sexta* (Aso *et al.*, 1985), the cockroach *Blaberus discoidalis* (Durrant *et al.*, 1993), and the wax moth *Galleria mellonella* (Kopacek *et al.*, 1995). It has been suggested that phenoloxidase is also involved in crosslinking LPS to a yet uncharacterised haemocyte surface receptor in *C. capitata* (Charalambidis *et al.*, 1996b).

Prophenoloxidase is activated in a stepwise manner, which involves serine proteinases; proteolytic cleavage by these proteinases converts the inactive prophenoloxidase to the active enzyme. Prophenoloxidase-activating serine proteases have been isolated from the crayfish *Pacifastacus leniusculus* (Aspán *et al.*, 1990), *D. melanogaster* (Chosa *et al.*, 1997) and *B. mori* (Ashida *et al.*, 1980). Low molecular weight proteinase inhibitors, with two such inhibitors being characterised in the insect *Locusta migratoria* (Kromer *et al.*, 1994), provide inhibition and thus physiological regulation of the proPO-A system.

Antimicrobial peptides/proteins are principally synthesised in the fat body of invertebrates upon injury, but also in haemocytes, epithelial cells, the gut and the reproductive tract (Boulanger *et al.*, 2001). These proteins act on the cell membrane of microorganisms causing cell lysis. Although antimicrobial peptides have some activity against Gram-negative bacteria and viruses, they are mainly active towards Grampositive bacteria (Nakajima *et al.*, 2003). The fat body of invertebrates is analogous to the mammalian liver and prostaglandins, known mediators of vertebrate inflammatory responses, are synthesised by the fat body of the armyworm, *Pseudaletia unipuncta* (Tunaz *et al.*, 2001). Moreover, perforins are mammalian immune-regulatory proteins of lymphocytes, and a perforin-like protein has recently been isolated from the marine mollusc, *Haliotis rufescens* (Mah *et al.*, 2004). One of the proteins that perforin-like protein is probably secreted from the haemocytes (Mah *et al.*, 2004). A striking
resemblance in structure and function has been found between penaeidins, antimicrobial peptides of the shrimp, Penaeus vannamei, and components of innate immunity found in vertebrates and plants (reviewed by Bachère et al., 2000). Penaeidins are predominantly active towards Gram-positive bacteria. This demonstrates the high degree of conservation of antimicrobial molecules. Dunphy & Halwani (1997) carried out an extensive study of two haemolymph proteins in larvae of the wax moth Galleria mellonella, which were shown to bind to insect pathogenic bacteria and reduce the endotoxic effect on the haemocytes. The proteins studied by Dunphy & Halwani (1997) also increased prophenoloxidase activation by LPS, therefore aiding the immune response towards the pathogen. The antibacterial peptide Mytilus galloprovincialis defensin 1 (MGD1) was first isolated and partially characterised from haemolymph of the mollusc, M. galloprovincialis (Hubert et al., 1996). However, MGD1 has also recently been isolated in the plasma of arthropod spp., being produced in granulocytes and released into the plasma following challenge by Gram-positive bacteria (Mitta et al., 1999).

In vertebrates, the complement system facilitates phagocytosis and mediates an acute inflammatory reaction (see section 1.1.3.1). Although it was initially thought that the complement system was exclusive to vertebrates, complement components have recently been found in invertebrate species. Haemocytes of the tunicate, *Styela plicata*, have been shown to express a homologue of the main complement component, C3 (Raftos *et al.*, 2004). The C3 homologue is stored within sub-cellular vesicles and is exocytosed after bacterial challenge. This is of interest since it is widely hypothesised that the complement system was established at the point of emergence of jawed fish, evidence for which lies in the fact that complement components of bony and cartilaginous fish are nearly identical to the mammalian complement system (reviewed by Nonaka & Yoshizaki, 2004). A C3-like lectin has also been shown to exist in *H. roretzi*, with its function being linked to opsonisation and enhanced phagocytosis (Azumi *et al.*, 2000).

Haemolymph clotting plays a key role in the immune response of invertebrates. Two types of clotting have been demonstrated, the first being where a gel is formed through the polymerisation of clottable proteins, a process catalysed by a calcium-dependent transglutaminase released from haemocytes (Wang *et al.*, 2001). A three-step serine

protease cascade activates the second type of coagulation (Iwanaga *et al.*, 1992). Components of the reaction comprise, amongst others, proteins with complementrelated and C-type lectin domains. Li *et al.* (2002) have provided evidence that the prophenoloxidase activating cascade is involved in the coagulation of insect haemolymph, which involves recognition of the microbial organisms by pattern recognition proteins. Lipophorin has been identified as the major humoral procoagulant in many insect species (Brehélin, 1979). Cloning and characterisation of a haemolymph clottable protein from the haemolymph of the shrimp, *Penaeus monodon* has interestingly revealed this protein to be present in most shrimp tissue except for mature haemocytes (Yeh *et al.*, 1999). Such molecular studies will ultimately help identify the molecular basis of haemolymph clotting.

1.2.3 Immunity in Gastropod Molluscs

Sminia and co-workers carried out extensive research into gastropod immunity in the early 1970s, with studies focused on the morphology and function of *Lymnaea stagnalis* haemocytes (Sminia, 1972; Sminia *et al.*, 1973; Sminia *et al.*, 1974). Owing to recent advances, knowledge of gastropod antimicrobial proteins and immune responses has dramatically improved, although when compared with insects, research into gastropod defence mechanisms is still in its infancy.

The defence responses of gastropod molluscs have been investigated largely as a consequence of these snails being intermediate hosts for helminth parasites, with *L. stagnalis* being the intermediate host for the schistosomes, *Trichobilharzia ocellata, Trichobilharzia szidati* and *Echinostoma* spp... *Lymnaea stagnalis* is a pond-dweller but also inhabits slow moving streams. Owing to the relative ease of keeping gastropod mollusc cultures in the laboratory, and the easy access to the blood cells and serum of these animals, the number of studies emerging from the use of these snails are increasing. Studies on immunity in marine bivalve molluscs, such as *Mytilus* spp., are mainly related to toxicological effects of pollution, as they are a major food source and therefore economically important in many countries.

The humoral arm of the molluscan immune system is very similar to that of insects, in that they both have anti-microbial proteins, except that melanisation does not occur in molluscs, although components of the prophenoloxidase cascade have been identified in *Biomphalaria glabrata* eggs (Bai *et al.*, 1997). The role of lectins has been studied in gastropods due to their function as pattern recognition molecules to intramolluscan stages of parasite larvae (discussed in section 1.3).

Horák and co-workers led these lectin-based studies in the 1990s (Horák & van der Knaap, 1997; Horák *et al.*, 1998; Horák & Deme, 1998), and found that the introduction of sugars to bind lectins altered the immune responses of *L. stagnalis* considerably. As in mammalian and insect systems, calcium-dependent binding mechanisms for lectins have been shown in gastropod molluscs such as *B. glabrata* (Fryer *et al.*, 1989) and *L. stagnalis* (Horák & Deme, 1998).

Glycosidases, enzymes which modify and degrade glycoproteins, have been detected in the haemolymph of *B. glabrata*, and have been suggested to play a role in the humoral immune defence system (Zelck *et al.*, 1996). These enzymes which are probably synthesised by the digestive gland or head/foot tissues, may modify molecular patterns of the surface of invading pathogens, thus facilitating subsequent phagocytosis or encapsulation by haemocytes. Hydrolytic enzymes such as alkaline and acid phosphatases, peroxidase, lysozyme, lipase and amylase have also been found in the haemolymph of molluscan species (see for example Luna-Gonzalez *et al.*, 2004).

Studies on the cellular aspects of gastropod defence mechanisms have revealed that the main phagocytes, haemocytes, are functionally and morphologically very similar to mammalian macrophages (Van der Knaap *et al.*, 1993). Gastropod haemocytes are thought to derive from the haemocyte-producing organ (HPO), situated between the mantle cavity and the pericardium. The HPO has been studied in many gastropod species, including *Lymnaea palustris* (Rachford, 1976). Four types of defence cell have been found in *L. stagnalis*: antigen-trapping endothelial cells; foreign-engulfing pore cells; phagocytic reticulum cells and mobile haemocytes. Haemocytes contribute most to the internal defence system (reviewed by Van der Knaap *et al.*, 1993). Two types of circulating haemocytes, referred to as spreading and rounded cells, have been classified in the freshwater gastropod, *Planorbarius corneus* (Ottaviani, 1992). However, in *L. stagnalis*, only a single circulating haemocyte has been identified, which has been reported to be round when 'immature', and spreading when 'mature'.

Many CD antigens, markers that are used to differentiate between lymphocyte subsets in mammals, have been found on the surface of gastropod haemocytes (Francheschi *et al.*, 1991). However, since these molecules were detected with mouse 'anti-human' monoclonal antibodies, positive staining with the antibody could have been due to the epitope recognised by the antibody being present, and not the whole molecule. CD antigens are also referred to as integrin subunits or chains, for example, CD29 is also referred to as the integrin β_1 chain. The β_1 integrin has been cloned from the *B. glabrata* embryonic (Bge) cell line (Davids *et al.*, 1999).

1.3 MOLLUSC-TREMATODE INTERACTIONS

Gastropod molluscs are intermediate hosts for a range of helminth parasites, which are known to be the cause of many diseases of medical and veterinary importance. One such mollusc of the Lymnaeid family, Lymnaea truncatula, is host to the liver fluke, Fasciola hepatica, a food-borne trematode which is an important medical and veterinary parasite as it is capable of infecting both humans and other mammals such as sheep and cattle (Hurtrez-Boussès et al., 2001). A particularly important family of helminths are the Schistosomatidae, which are digenean trematodes. Lymnaea stagnalis is the intermediate host to Trichobilharzia ocellata, an avian schistosome that uses ducks as its definitive hosts (van der Knaap et al., 1985; Joosse et al., 1986; Horak et al., 2002). Trichobilharzia ocellata is known to cause swimmers itch in humans, resulting from larvae burrowing into the upper layers of the skin (Horak et al., 2001). The most extensively studied schistosome, however, is probably Schistosoma mansoni (which has B. glabrata as its intermediate host) (Miller et al., 2001; Stirewalt et al., 1983). The importance of this parasite has recently been highlighted since it has been estimated that over 83 million people are infected with S. mansoni in 54 countries (Chitsulo et al., 2000).

1.3.1 Schistosomiasis

1.3.1.1 The schistosome life cycle

Unlike most other helminth parasites, schistosomes are not hermaphroditic. The adult male worm possesses a gynaecophoric canal which is a deep ventral groove in which the female lies during copulation in the definitive host. Schistosome eggs are released from the body of the definitive host via faeces or urine, depending on the schistosome species. Once in contact with freshwater, the eggs hatch to liberate the first larval stage, the miracidium. The miracidium is a ciliated organism that is incapable of long periods of independent survival and must quickly infect the correct species of snail for survival and continuation of the life cycle. The miracidium is thought to be attracted to the intermediate snail host by chemoattraction, where the larvae follow chemical gradients to find the host. Such behaviour has been reported by Haas *et al.* (1995),

where miracidia of T. ocellata and S. mansoni were found to swim towards their host snail both directly and with 'turnback swimming' where they follow both decreasing and increasing chemical gradients. The larvae (miracidia) of S. mansoni and Schistosoma haematobium are attracted to macromolecular glycoconjugates (with a molecular weight of >30,000) and it has been suggested that this chemoattraction allows the miracidia to achieve host snail specificity (Haberl et al., 1995). Once contact is made, the miracidium penetrates the snail, loses its ciliated epidermis and subsequently transforms into a sporocyst. The sporocyst lacks a digestive system and has a syncytial, cytoplasmic outer surface for absorption of nutrients. Within the sporocyst, permanently embryonic cells divide and differentiate to form a second generation of sporocysts, which in turn divide and subsequently differentiate to form cercariae. This process of asexual division greatly enhances the schistosomes reproductive potential (Theron, 1986). The cercaria is the final larval stage. Once it has emerged from the snail body and become free-living within the freshwater environment it is capable of infecting the definitive host. Schistosome cercariae are forked-tailed (furcocercous) and have been seen to hang from the surface film of water, detach, sink and then swim upwards again to the surface, thus increasing their chance of coming into contact with a suitable host (Haas et al., 1994). Such behaviour has also been seen in other digenean species (for example, Rea & Irwin, 1995).

The definitive host is infected by direct cercarial penetration into the skin, which involves vigorous movement of the parasite and enzyme secretion. The enzymes involved in skin penetration are though to be cathepsin L and cathepsin B, which are stored in the post-acetabular glands of *S. mansoni* cercariae (Dalton *et al.*, 1997), although for *T. ocellata* the enzmes have not yet been described. Once inside the duck, the *T. ocellata* schistosomulum migrates to the lungs via the bloodstream within three days of infection, and also migrates to the liver, kidney and intestines (Haas & Pietsch, 1991). The life cycle of *T. ocellata* is illustrated in figure 1.3.1.



Figure 1.3.1. The *Trichobilharzia ocellata* life cycle. The parasite cycles between an intermediate molluscan host (*L. stagnalis*), where larval stages develop, and a definite vertebrate host, which for *T. ocellata* are ducks. If humans come into contact with the parasite, swimmers itch can develop, when *T. ocellata* cercaria penetrate into the skin. Taken from www.biologie.uni-erlangen.de/parasit/contents/research/tricho.html.

1.3.1.2 Immunity of the intermediate snail host to the schistosome parasite

The intramolluscan stages of the schistosome parasite possess a surface coat which comprises a carbohydrate-rich layer. The carbohydrates on the parasite coat have been studied using lectin-binding techniques, since each lectin binds specifically to only one or a few carbohydrate structures (see for example, Tateno *et al.*, 2004). This coat changes its carbohydrate composition according to the developmental stage of the parasite, possibly caused by the shedding of carbohydrate residues throughout development (Horak, 1995; Horak *et al.*, 1998; Nyame *et al.*, 2002). The change in schistosome carbohydrate composition throughout the development of *Trichobilharzia szidati* (which also has *Lymnaea stagnalis* as its intermediate host) larval stages has been studied, and fucose occurs in the glycocalyx in abundance during these stages (Horak *et al.*, 1995). This work also revealed that galactose, fucose and mannose were commonly found on many of the parasite stages with the exception of sporocysts which did not bind fucose-specific lectins. The carbohydrate composition of *T. ocellata and S. mansoni* intramolluscan stages are known to differ (Gerhardus *et al.*, 1991; Nyame *et*

al., 2002). Although little is known about the masking of the parasite to the host immune response, changes in surface saccharide composition could contribute to this phenomenon.

During penetration into the definitive host, changes also occur on the surface of the cercariae. During larval stages, the surface layer is known as the glycocalyx, and it predominantly comprises galactose and fucose. However, during penetration into the definitive host the glycocalyx is shed, the larvae can no longer survive in water, and the tegument is exposed as the outer membrane (Horak *et al.*, 1998). The tegument on the adult worm, also composed of glycoproteins including mannose, fucose, glucose and galactose, has been linked to the immune response towards the invading parasite (reviewed by Cummings & Nyame, 1999). Immunity to the adult worm involves both vertebrate innate and adaptive immune responses, with the innate immune response involving macrophage-mediated encapsulation which results in recruitment of the acquired immune response (reviewed by Allen & Maizels, 1996). Sugars comprising the adult worm tegument (fucose, mannose and galactose) have been shown to stimulate alveolar macrophage migration (Takata *et al.*, 1987) thus allowing encapsulation to occur.

When snails are infected with incompatible schistosome miracidia, the immune system attacks the larval body. In contrast to bacterial infection, when phagocytosis is sufficient to destroy the microbe, a combined effort by large populations of haemocytes results in encapsulation of the larvae. Humoral mechanisms of immunity also play an important part in snail defence upon infection. Lectins play the greatest role in the humoral immune response towards parasite larvae, since they act as recognition receptors for the carbohydrates on the glycocalyx of the parasite, thus mediating encapsulation by haemocytes (Richards & Renwrantz, 1991; Horak & van der Knaap, 1997; Loukas & Maizels, 2000). Plasma proteins also help host defence by facilitating cytotoxic reactions by the haemocytes towards larvae (Zelck *et al.*, 1995; Amen *et al.*, 1992a).

A host-parasite relationship that has been well studied is that between *B. glabrata* and *Schistosoma mansoni*, with *S. mansoni* being the most extensively studied member of the phylum Platyhelminthes. The biology of the *B. glabrata* immune response is often

studied with the *Biomphalaria glabrata* embryonic (Bge) cell line, derived from embryos of *B. glabrata* by Hansen (1976). Although this cell line was not derived from haemocytes, the morphology, function and biochemistry of Bge cells appear to be identical to that of primary haemocytes (Yoshino *et al.*, 1999). *B. glabrata* infected with *S. mansoni* larval stages exhibit changes in their behaviour, physiology and reproductive capability. Boissier *et al.* (2003) observed *B. glabrata* to be more attracted to *S. mansoni*-infected snails than to those that were uninfected, and it was thought that this effect may result in enhanced parasite transmission. Recently, studies into the relationship between *S. mansoni* and *B. glabrata* have taken place at a more molecular level (reviewed by Jones *et al.*, 2001).

Much research has taken place into how the schistosome profits from the stress it elicits on its molluscan host (reviewed by De Jong-Brink, 1995). One such molecular study has examined the NPY gene in *L. stagnalis*, and its activity when infection takes place (De Jong-Brink *et al.*, 1999). It was found that the *Lymnaea* NPY gene (LyNPY), known in vertebrates to be involved in energy budgeting, becomes upregulated when schistosome infection occurs (De Jong-Brink *et al.*, 1999), which proves to be highly advantageous to the parasite. The finding that the schistosome interferes with gene activity within its host offered possible explanations for previously unanswered questions concerning the morphological changes observed in the host snail following infection.

The survival of a schistosome in its intermediate snail host is partly due to host specificity, for example *T. ocellata* is capable of survival and development within *L. stagnalis* but not *B. glabrata*, although both snails are gastropods. This survival is at least in part due to avoidance of host immune defences by masking and mimicry at the larval surface. Excretory-secretory (E-S) products from *T. ocellata* have been extensively studied (Núñez *et al.*, 1997; Núñez & De Jong-Brink, 1997), and it is thought that these E-S factors play a critical role in determining compatibility between the snail and parasite. Immunological compatibility of the parasite and its host depends on three strategies: (i) physicochemical properties of both parasite and haemocyte surfaces, (ii) the capacity of the parasite to mimic/acquire host antigens and (iii) ability of the parasite to interfere with host defence mechanisms (for examples refer to De Jong-Brink, 1995; Van der Knaap & Loker, 1990). One of the key mechanisms of

defence employed by the mollusc during infection consists of a cytotoxic strategy via haemocytes (Amen *et al.*, 1991a; Amen *et al.*, 1991b; Nunez *et al.*, 1994). Interestingly, when *B. glabrata* haemocytes were exposed to E-S factors from *S. mansoni* miracidia, phagocytosis and haemocyte motility was suppressed (Lodes & Yoshino, 1990; Connors & Yoshino, 1990), demonstrating a down-regulation of host immune function by the parasite.

Núñez et al. (1997a) demonstrated that *T. ocellata* releases two E-S factors, one of which enhances *L. stagnalis* haemocyte activity and the other suppressing haemocyte function; these factors were of low (2kDa) and high (40kDa) molecular weights, respectively. Furthermore, the release of these factors appeared to differ between *T. ocellata* developmental stages, with the 2kDa E-S factor being secreted predominantly in early larval stages and the 40kDa factor being released in the latter stages of larval development (Nunez et al., 1997a). Amen & De Jong-Brink (1992) and Nunez et al. (1997b) have studied the possible influence of ES products on host-parasite compatibility. In these studies *T. ocellata* E-S fractions released during transformation from miracidia to mother sporocysts suppressed *L. stagnalis* haemocyte activity, whilst *S. mansoni* E-S fractions upregulated *L. stagnalis* haemocyte function. It is thought that certain E-S components reduce phagocytic activity by blocking recognition receptors, thus preventing membrane-associated lectins from binding carbohydrates on the parasite surface (Van der Knaap & Loker, 1990).

Horák and co-workers have led investigations into the lectins of *L. stagnalis* and their association with carbohydrate moieties of *T. ocellata* (Horák *et al.*, 1998; Horák & Deme, 1998). Many of the studies investigating cell-bound and plasma lectins involve the addition of saccharides to haemocytes, with and without haemolymph. Saccharides commonly used in such studies are arabinose, fructose and mannose, either as freemonosaccharides or conjugated to albumin. In these studies, serum lectins of *L. stagnalis* were able to agglutinate bacteria and yeast, and this process could be inhibited by many mono- and oligosaccharides, including arabinose (van der Knaap *et al.*, 1982). Horák *et al.* (1998) also showed that arabinose and fructose inhibit phagocytosis of mouse red blood cells by *L. stagnalis* haemocytes. Both calcium-dependent and –independent lectins have been detected in the immune system of *L. stagnalis* (Horák & Deme, 1998).

1.4 INTRACELLULAR SIGNALLING

All cells have the ability to detect and alter their physiology to a wide range of mitogens and extracellular conditions. To respond to these extracellular signals, intracellular biochemical pathways are activated and deactivated accordingly, resulting in altered cell behaviour and often the translation of *de novo* proteins through gene transcription. It is still a puzzle to researchers how cells manage and coordinate numerous signalling pathways so effectively. The relatively recent development of research tools such as pharmacological inhibitors and antibodies to dissect intracellular pathways has made signal transduction a key area of research. Indeed, research is now focusing on the development of pharmacological drugs that target key signalling proteins involved in the progression of disease.

1.4.1 Concepts of signal transduction

An extracellular ligand, which binds to a membrane receptor, is commonly referred to as a 'first messenger'. The extracellular signal can be a growth factor, hormone or an immune related molecule which binds to a receptor on the surface of the cell, promoting the production of small molecules known as 'second messengers'. Second messenger production allows amplification to occur, causing a single binding event on the cell surface to result in many activated enzymes further down the signalling chain, so the end-result is a large effect on the cell. Examples of second messengers are cytosolic calcium ions, cAMP and phosphoinositides (Rachinsky & Tobe, 1996; Bruch, 1996; McAinsh *et al.*, 1997).

1.4.2 Protein kinases

Phosphorylation of an enzyme is the covalent addition of a phosphate group at specific amino acid residues by protein kinases, which often regulates enzyme activity (Hurley *et al.*, 1990). Addition of the phosphate group results in a conformational change of the protein (Barford *et al.*, 1991). During phosphorylation, the phosphate group is supplied by adenosine triphosphate (ATP), with the third phosphoryl group of the chain being transferred to the hydroxyl group of the acceptor amino acid and the subsequent release

of adenosine diphosphate (ADP). Protein kinases are grouped according to the amino acid sequences on which they act, for example serine/threonine kinases preferentially phosphorylate serine or threonine residues on the target protein. Indeed, the specificity of the kinase is determined by the specific amino acid sequence either side of the target amino acid residue due to receive the phosphoryl group (examples given by Stokoe et al., 1993). Some proteins may be phosphorylated at a number of different sites (Korotchkina & Patel, 2001), allowing many different kinases to act on a single protein and the convergence of a number of different signalling pathways and crosstalk (bidirectional signalling between proteins). Although kinases are split into two groups depending on the amino acid residue they phosphorylate, the catalytic site of all protein kinases appears to be well conserved (reviewed by Hanks & Quinn, 1991). There appears to be two conserved regions in the catalytic domain of kinases, with the most prominent region being located N-terminally to the catalytic domain and thought to be involved in ATP binding. The central part of the catalytic domain is also highly conserved, containing an aspartic acid residue thought to be important in the catalytic activity of the protein kinase. Importantly, the sequences surrounding this central region of the catalytic domain appear to differ between the different groups of kinases.

1.4.2.1 Serine/threonine kinases

Protein kinases that phosphorylate downstream proteins on serine or threonine residues are termed serine/threonine kinases (reviewed by Hardie, 1999; Cantrell, 2003). Serine/threonine kinases include protein kinase C (PKC), protein kinase A (also known as cAMP dependent protein kinase; PKA), the calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinases, and the mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) which are discussed at length in section 1.5.

1.4.2.2 Tyrosine kinases

Protein kinases that add a phosphoryl group to tyrosine residues are much less common than serine/threonine kinases. This group of kinases is split into two general groups; those that are soluble and found in the cytosol, and those that are associated with the cell membrane (reviewed by Berk *et al.*, 1997). Receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK) possess a ligand-binding domain, a transmembrane domain and a cytoplasmic domain,

Chapter 1

Introduction

which possesses kinase activity. Binding of ligands to the extracellular portion of the receptor results in kinase activity in its cytosolic region, and can result in activation of various signalling proteins such as PI-3K or MAPKs. Existing as either homo- or heterodimers, dimerisation can be achieved by autophosphorylation, as seen, for example, in the EGF receptor, where tyrosine residues on the cytoplasmic portion accept phosphoryl groups either intra- or inter-molecularly. The intercellular portion of the RTK contains binding domains, the most important being the Src homology 2 (SH2) domain. Most members of the non-receptor tyrosine kinases are soluble and generally lack binding domains such as SH2. Examples of such kinases are members of the Src protein family and Janus family which are especially important in immune cell biochemistry as they associate with cytokine receptors.

1.4.2.3 Phosphatases

It is important for the effects of protein phosphorylation and activation to be transient, therefore dephosphorylation of proteins is key to this process. Dephosphorylation, mediated by phosphatases, is the removal of the phosphoryl group from the protein and results in the deactivation of the protein with the regeneration of the hydroxyl sidechain and release of orthophosphate (see, for example, the MAPK phosphatase; Haneda *et al.*, 1999). Interestingly, it has been found that the total cellular amount of serine/threonine phosphatases matches that of serine/threonine kinases. Tyrosine phosphatases are found in many more varieties than the serine/threonine phosphatases, and are either soluble in the cytoplasm or membrane-bound structures related to receptors. These phosphatases are very specific and fast-acting, ensuring that tyrosine phosphorylated proteins are at very low concentrations in the cell at any one time (reviewed by Burke *et al.*, 1998).

1.4.2.4 Other methods of control

The addition of a phosphoryl group is not the only method used by cells to regulate signals intracellularly. Farnesylation, the addition of a 15-carbon fatty acid farnesyl group donated from farnesyl pyrophosphate, is another way of controlling protein activity. Farnesylation causes a protein to be hydrophobic, resulting in the protein migrating to the cell membrane where subsequent phosphorylation may occur (reviewed by Galichet & Gruissem, 2003). The most common protein whose activity relies on farnesylation is the monomeric G-protein Ras. Another method of activating intracellular proteins is by the addition of a 20-carbon fatty acid geranylgeranyl, a process termed geranylgeranylation. Both farnsylation and geranylgeranylation involves the addition of the fatty acid chain to the C-terminus of the protein. To enable the study of these processes in signalling farnesylation and geranylgeranylation inhibitors are commercially available (Huang *et al.*, 2004).

Other methods of regulating activity are adenylation, the addition of an adenosine group derived from ATP; palmitoylation, the addition of a palmityol group donated from palmitoyl CoA (Dunphy & Linder, 1998); and the addition of a myristoyl group donated by myristoyl CoA, termed myristoylation (Resh, 1999).

1.4.3 Adaptor proteins

Also termed scaffolding proteins or linker proteins, adaptor proteins do not have enzymatic activity, but function as linkers between proteins in a signalling chain. The specificity and regulation of signal transduction are increased by adaptor proteins, as only certain proteins are able to associate with binding domains within the adaptor proteins. Adaptor proteins are also important in the subcellular location of a specific pathway, since they are usually specific to a particular region of the cell (Horejsi *et al.*, 2004).

A common adaptor protein, important in Ras signalling, is the growth factor receptor binding protein, Grb2. Grb2 contains one SH2 domain and two SH3 domains. Many proteins have been described as having binding ability towards Grb2, including the EGF receptor, the phosphatase SH-PTP2 and another adaptor protein, Shc. The Grb2 protein is bound to the GTP-GDP exchange factor, Sos, which is important in its function, as this generates a coupling between the activated receptor tyrosine kinase and Ras (reviewed by Olson & Marais, 2000).

1.4.5 Signalling networks and crosstalk

Activation of one signalling pathway can lead to activity of other signalling pathways in a phenomenon known as crosstalk (Dumont *et al.*, 2001). This is due to the mutivalency of signalling proteins and the use of second messengers. The ability of proteins to covalently bind to other proteins belonging to other signalling pathways is also important in the creation of crosstalk. Crosstalk allows one pathway to influence other pathways in the cell, resulting in many effects on the cell from just one first messenger. However, some signalling pathways are currently thought to be linear in nature, and only possess the ability to interact with certain downstream proteins in the pathway. These proteins often have very simple structures and include members of the nuclear receptor family and the JAK/STAT proteins (Yamaoka *et al.*, 2004).

1.5 MITOGEN-ACTIVATED PROTEIN KINASES

MAPKs are serine/threonine kinases and activation of these proteins often results in their translocation to the nucleus and the subsequent activation of transcription factors which are important in causing promoted growth and differentiation along with other effects on cellular activity. A diverse range of stimuli ranging from growth factors, cytokines, cell adherence and cellular stress activate MAPKs (Lenormand *et al.*, 1998; Suzuki *et al.*, 1999). All MAPK pathways consist of sequential phosphorylation of three proteins, with the final component of this hierarchy capable of translocating to the nucleus once activated. The necessity of dual phosphorylation for MAPK activation makes these enzymes unusual. Phosphorylation must occur at threonine and tyrosine residues before the enzymes are fully activated (Ray & Sturgill, 1988).

1.5.1 The SAPK/JNK, p38^{MAPK} and ERK 5 pathways

The c-Jun NH₂-terminal kinase (JNK) pathway was first identified in human cells in 1991 (Hibi *et al.*, 1993). This enzyme was found to be activated by stress (e.g. ultraviolet irradiation), with phosphorylation of c-Jun occurring at the NH2-terminal activating sites. The rat homolog of JNK is referred to as Stress-Activated Protein Kinase (SAPK) due to stress signals activating this pathway. Another MAPK pathway, the p38 MAPK pathway is activated upon ultraviolet irradiation, osmotic shock, lipopolysaccharide, cytokines and also activation of GPCRs (Moriguchi *et al.*, 1996; Hippenstiel *et al.*, 2000).

Upstream kinases that activate both JNK/SAPK and p38 MAPK through small GTPases include the MEKK1-4 proteins, the mixed lineage kinases (MLKs) and the 'thousand and one kinases' (TAO kinases), which are more involved in the activation of p38 MAPK (Tibbles *et al.*, 1996; Chen *et al.*, 2003). Both the JNK/SAPK and p38 MAPK pathways activate nuclear transcription factors including Elk-1 and c-Jun; they also target kinases which include the MAPK-activated protein kinases, MAPKAP-K2, K-3 and PRAK (Kyriakis *et al.*, 2001).

A third MAPK pathway, which is presently poorly understood and was not identified until very recently is the ERK 5 pathway, which has ERK 5 as its terminal kinase (Mody *et al.*, 2003).

1.5.2 Extracellular-signal Regulated Kinase (ERK) pathway

The most extensively researched MAPK pathway is the Extracellular-signal Regulated Kinase (ERK) pathway (fig. 1.5.1). ERK was first discovered in the early 1980s as a predominant 42kDa protein that was phosphorylated on tyrosine and was activated in a range of cells when stimulated with epidermal growth factors (Cooper *et al.*, 1982; Cooper *et al.*, 1983). Shortly after this discovery, it was found that this protein was one of three components, which undergo phosphorylation sequentially. When activated Raf (or MEK kinase (MEKK)) phosphorylates MEK (or MAPKK) which in turn phosphorylates ERK, the activated form of ERK is capable of translocating to the nucleus or actin filaments (Reszka *et al.*, 1995; Aplin *et al.*, 2001).

The activity of ERK requires the phosphorylation of both tyrosine and threonine residues, which are separated by a single amino acid. This dual phosphorylation is speculated to play a role in the regulation of activity, ensuring that only phosphorylation by MEK (MAPKK) results in the activation of ERK isozymes (Ray & Sturgill, 1988). Although there are many cytoplasmic proteins that have the potential to activate ERK 1/2, either directly or indirectly through crosstalk, protein kinase C (PKC), phosphoinositol-3-kinase (PI-3K) and protein kinase A (PKA) shall be discussed in detail as these are the most commonly studied pathways leading to ERK activation.

1.5.2.1 Protein kinase C pathway

The serine/threonine kinase, PKC, consists of many closely related protein kinases, which derive from the transcription of multiple genes, or from the alternative splicing of a single mRNA transcript. The first PKC enzymes to be cloned were the α , β I, β II and γ subspecies, with all these subspecies possessing four conserved regions and five variable regions (reviewed by Way *et al.*, 2000). Recently the δ , ε , ζ , η , θ and λ subspecies have been cloned, which appear to possess the same conserved regions.



Figure 1.5.1. Diagram showing the MAPK/ERK pathway in mammalian cells. Signalling from receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) and integrins down to ERK 1/2 is shown. Inhibitors of MEK (U0126 and PD98059), along with the phosphatases associated with the ERK pathway (PP1/PP2A, MKP-3 and MKP-1/2), are included in the diagram. Solid arrows represent direct phosphorylation (activation), broken arrows represent indirect activation involving other signalling intermediates, whilst solid square arrows demonstrate inhibition. Diagram is adapted from www.cellsignal.com.

All PKC enzymes appear to be monomeric, possessing either approximately 592 or 737 amino acids and having molecular masses of 67 to 83 kDa (for example, Baier *et al.*, 1993). Many chemical stimulants are widely used to activate the PKC pathway in cells, such as phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) or 12-*O*-tetradecanoyl-phorbol-12-acetate (TPA). Both chemicals act as diacylglycerol (DAG) analogues, thus resulting in the activation of PKC. Physiological substances known to modulate PKC activity include thyroid hormones, prostaglandins, insulin and LPS (Alisi *et al.*, 2004; Li *et al.*, 2004b; Formisano *et al.*, 2000; Valledor *et al.*, 2000).

1.5.2.2 Protein kinase A (PKA) pathway

PKA comprises of four subunits, two of which are catalytic and two regulatory. Upon PKA activation, the catalytic subunits are released which phosphorylate phosphodiesterase, amongst other proteins. The activity of phosphodiesterase causes the hydrolysis of cAMP to AMP, which results in the PKA signal being reduced or terminated (reviewed by Skalhess & Tasken, 2000). Activity of PKA can be mediated by an increase in cAMP concentrations, or direct phosphorylation of the enzyme on serine and threonine residues.

PKA-dependent activation of ERK has been demonstrated in glial cells (Zanassi *et al.*, 2001) and neuronal cells (Bouschet *et al.*, 2003) amongst many other cell types. The activition of ERK by PKA occurs indirectly, involving Ras and PKC. However, ERK inhibition has also been reported in response to PKA activity in cultured fibroblasts (Dhillon *et al.*, 2002)

1.5.2.3 Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI-3K)

The adaptor protein, PI-3K, is unusual in that it contains catalytic and regulatory subunits. The possession of a catalytic subunit gives the protein kinase activity, enabling it to participate directly in signalling pathways. PI-3K phosphorylates many phosphatidylinositol derivatives, and importantly results in the production of PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃, which is responsible for many basic functions of the cell such as migration and growth (Liu *et al.*, 2004). The phosphatidylinositol pathway in general is thought to be highly important in the regulation of phagocytosis (Garcia-Garcia *et*

al., 2002; Lutz & Correll, 2003). PI-3K has been shown to regulate ERK activity in Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts (Kitamura *et al.*, 2001) and CHO cells (Takeda *et al.*, 1999).

1.5.2.4 Receptor tyrosine kinase signalling to ERK

It is widely known that receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) activation commonly results in ERK activation. Signalling proteins that bind to activated RTK differ greatly in their structure and function, but most of these proteins appear to possess the highly conserved binding domains, SH2 and SH3 (reviewed by Hubbard, 1999). Such proteins (called linker proteins) that have SH2/SH3 domains serve to link proteins that lack binding domains to the activated RTK. Pathways that are downstream of RTKs are activated through Ras proteins, which belong to the large Ras superfamily of monomeric GTPases (Grosse et al., 2000; Besset et al., 2000). Ras proteins cycle between two distinct conformational states - active when GTP-bound and inactive when GDP-bound. Two classes of signalling proteins regulate Ras activity by influencing their transition between active and inactive states. GTPase-activating proteins (GAPs) increase the rate of hydrolysis of bound GTP by Ras so activating it, whilst guanine nucleotide releasing proteins (GNRPs) activate Ras by promoting the exchange of bound nucleotide by stimulating the loss of GDP and the subsequent uptake of cytosolic GTP. When active, RTKs can bind GAPs directly and GNRPs indirectly. However, the indirect binding to GNRP by RTKs often results in the activity of Ras. Ras activation occurs at the plasma membrane, but only after the protein has undergone farnesylation, which renders the protein hydrophobic. Relaying of the signal downstream requires the activation of kinases such as MAPKs.

The receptor for epidermal growth factor (EGFR) was the first tyrosine kinase receptor to be characterised, and binds EGF which initiates the proliferation of epidermal cells. The receptor is a single-pass transmembrane structure, with a large glycosylated, cysteine-rich extracellular binding region (Hsuan *et al.*, 1989). When EGF is bound to the extracellular region, dimerisation occurs and the intracellular tyrosine kinase domain is activated through autophosphorylation. EGFR activation of ERK has been shown in many cell types including myofibroblasts (Zhang *et al.*, 2003).

1.5.2.5 GPCR signalling to ERK

With over 100 G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) fully characterised from mammalian cells (reviewed by Wess, 1997), downstream signalling from these receptors is an ever-developing area of research. GPCRs are responsible for transducing the extracellular signals from a number of messengers including hormones, neurotransmitters and local mediators (e.g. immune associated proteins). The structure of GPCRs appears to be highly conserved, the NH2 terminus is extracellular, whilst the carboxyl terminus is intracellular along with binding domains for trimeric G-proteins to which the receptor is coupled; these G-proteins help create the downstream intracellular signal. When inactive, the G-protein exists as a trimer, but activation causes the α subunit to exchange GDP for GTP causing this subunit to dissociate from the β/γ subunits. GPCR-mediated activation of ERK mainly occurs through Ras, although Ras-independent mechanisms have also been identified. Studies with Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells indicate that GPCRs linked specifically to G_i (inhibitory G protein) are capable of activating MEK and ERK through a Ras-independent pathway involving PI-3K and PKC ζ (Takeda et al., 1999). The α chain of G_o proteins have been specifically linked to ERK activation, regulating the activity of ERK through a Rasindependent, PKC and PI-3K-dependent mechanism (Antonelli et al., 2000).

1.5.2.6 Integrin signalling to ERK

Ligation of integrin receptors has also been linked to the upregulation of ERK phosphorylation and activity. Members of the integrin family often comprise two covalently associated transmembrane glycoprotein subunits, α and β . Integrins are important in cellular adhesion, and both subunits are equally important in this function (reviewed by Aplin *et al.*, 1998). Binding of integrins to their ligands is dependent on calcium and magnesium being present in the extracellular environment, and the extracellular portion of the α chain possesses four divalent cation binding regions. The interaction of integrins with the cytoskeleton is extremely important in binding cells to the extracellular matrix. This cytoskeletal linkage occurs with the β -subunit associating with talin and actinin – proteins associated with the focal adhesion points (integrin linkage to actin filaments has been recently reviewed by Calderwood *et al.*, 2000). Indeed, the formation of focal adhesion points is thought to be initiated by this integrin-

focal adhesion protein linkage. Cytoplasmic signalling from integrins is an active area of research, with many groups showing that a wide array of signalling molecules are activated following integrin engagement (see for example, Haller *et al.*, 1998; Campos *et al.*, 2004). Recently, focal contacts were found to possess a protein with tyrosine kinase activity, which was later named focal adhesion kinase (FAK). This protein has been shown to be activated downstream of PI-3K and ERK *via* direct and indirect activation of c-Raf.

FAK signalling in cell motility is an evolving area of research, and was recently reviewed by Schlaepfer & Mitra (2004). Fincham et al. (2000) found that active ERK in rat embryo fibroblasts migrates to newly forming cell-matrix adhesions, and that this migration is triggered by integrin engagement and the linker protein, v-Src. Schlaepfer et al. (1998) have demonstrated that Grb2-mediated integrin-stimulated signalling pathways also result in ERK activation. Furthermore, upregulation of ERK activity through Grb2 was shown to involve FAK/Shc binding in fibroblast cells (Schlaepfer et al., 1998), although FAK-independent mechanisms have recently been identified in fibroblasts (Barberis et al., 2000). Schlaepfer et al. (1994) also showed that Ras is implemented in integrin-mediated signalling to ERK by showing that FAK phosphorylation (on Tyr925) created an SH2-binding site for Grb2, which links integrin engagement to the Ras/ERK pathway. This study was furthered by Schlaepfer & Hunter (1996) who demonstrated that phosphorylation of FAK on Tyr³⁹⁷ recruits Srcfamily kinases, which results in FAK phosphorylation at Tyr⁹²⁵ and the formation of a Grb2 SH2-domain binding site, which provides a link to Ras and ERK. By overexpressing FAK in human 293 cells, Schlaepfer & Hunter (1997) found enhanced Ras-dependent integrin signalling to ERK 2 in particular through interactions involving c-Src. Although most studies implicate Ras activity in integrin-mediated signalling, Chen et al. (1996) have demonstrated a mechanism whereby integrin-mediated signalling is Ras-independent. This Ras-independent signalling leading from integrinengagement could be, amongst other possibilities, a result of Rho activation of phosphatidylinositol 4,5-biphosphate production, or FAK acting directly on Raf (Chen et al., 1996). Another study with fibroblasts also provides evidence that integrinmediated activation of MAPK can occur independently of FAK (Lin et al., 1997), providing further evidence that at least two integrin-mediated signalling pathways exist in fibroblasts. Direct activation of Raf by FAK has previously been demonstrated in

mouse fibroblasts by co-immunoprecipitation upon stimulation with EGF, which interestingly, gives this interaction a physiological relevance (Yujiri *et al.*, 2003). Indeed, Aplin & Juliano (1999) have shown that adhesion-mediated cytoskeletal organisation and focal adhesion complex formation are necessary for efficient EGF activation of ERK isozymes. PKC has also been associated with integrin-mediated signalling during muscle cell spreading (Disatnik *et al.*, 2002), which is thought to be via the phosphorylation of PKC substrates such as the myristoylated alanine-rich C kinase substrate (MARCKS) protein. Many cells, such as myocytes, also exhibit a requirement for PKC activity before phosphorylation of FAK can occur (Disatnik & Rando, 1999).

Nuclear translocation of ERK is extremely important, as this is where the effects of signalling pathways can be seen through the activation of transcription factors. Integrin-mediated adhesion of NIH 3T3 cells has been shown to regulate the translocation of active ERK to the nucleus, along with the phosphorylation of the downstream transcription factor, Elk-1 (Aplin *et al.*, 2001). This provides further evidence that integrin-mediated signalling can regulate the activity of ERK isozymes. A recent study with thyroid TAD-2 cells and the hepatoma cell line, Hep3B, showed that calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II can bind to Raf-1 and modulate integrin-mediated ERK activation (Illario *et al.*, 2003). Although many studies link FAK phosphorylation with integrin engagement, Achison *et al.* (2001) have found FAK phosphorylation on Tyr¹²⁵ in human platelets to be integrin-independent when stimulated by collagen.

1.5.3 Interaction of MEK and ERK

Similarly to ERK, two isoforms of MEK exist and each is able to phosphorylate ERK. It has been found that MEK and ERK are present in equal concentrations in some cells (Ferrell, 1996), suggesting that unlike most other kinase interactions, this step in the ERK pathway is not providing amplification. MEK needs to be activated itself before it can act downstream on ERK since activated Raf is not capable of phosphorylating ERK directly (Xu *et al.*, 1995). It was speculated that a MEK 1 proline-rich insert was the site of Raf-MEK interaction. However, Dang *et al.* (1998) found that that although this insert provides modulation for the binding of MEK to Raf, it is not the actual site

of interaction. Indeed, the proline-rich insert was found to be essential for the efficient activation of ERKs by MEK (Dang *et al.*, 1998). Docking sites on MEK have been characterised, and have been found to be necessary for MEK/ERK complex formation and subsequent activation of ERK (Bardwell *et al.*, 2001).

To enable MEK phosphorylation of ERK, these enzymes form a short-lived complex within the cytoplasm. MEK 1 and MEK 2 are found exclusively in the cytoplasm, which is where the dual phosphorylation of ERK occurs (Zheng & Guan, 1994). The cytoplasmic localisation of MEK is due to the presence of a nuclear export signal (NES) sequence near the N-terminal region of the protein (Fukuda *et al.*, 1996; Fukuda *et al.*, 1997a). ERK is located in the cytoplasm of unstimulated fibroblasts through its specific association with MEK. Furthermore, nuclear accumulation of ERK is coupled with the dissociation of cytoplasmic MEK/ERK complexes, thus MEK acts as cytoplasmic anchor for ERK due to the NES (Fukuda *et al.*, 1997). The dissociation of MEK/ERK complexes appears to be irrespective of the ERK phosphorylation status and Fukuda *et al.* (1997b) have speculated the MEK/ERK complex formation may be partially due to ERK phosphorylating MEK as part of a feedback loop.

1.5.4 Translocation of activated ERK

The entry of active ERK isozymes into the nucleus is dependent on the synthesis of short-lived proteins, which are induced by the activity of ERK 1/2. These proteins act like nuclear anchors, and could be MAPK-specific phosphatases, a set of transcription factors or a specific component of the ERK signalling cascade (Lenormand *et al.*, 1998).

ERK not only migrates to the nucleus but also translocates to actin filaments, that regulate cell shape changes. The ability of ERK to induce cell shape changes such as those seen in cell migration is often initiated by integrin engagement or growth factor stimulation. The association of ERK with the microtubule cytoskeleton has been reported in NIH 3T3 mouse fibroblasts, cardiac muscle cells and PC12 cells (Reszka *et al.*, 1995; Morishima-Kawashima *et al.*, 1996; Thorburn *et al.*, 1997). Indeed, Klemke *et al.* (1997) report a transcription-independent mechanism of enhanced cell migration upon the upregulation of ERK activity. Moreover, both ERK isozymes were found to

be capable of directly phosphorylating myosin light chain kinase *in vitro*, leading to enhanced myosin light chain phosphorylation (Klemke *et al.*, 1997).

1.6 INTRACELLULAR SIGNALLING IN MACROPHAGES AND HAEMOCYTES

1.6.1 Signalling in macrophages

Either primary or cultured cells have been used to study the signalling pathways within macrophages. Research using primary cultures has largely been achieved with macrophages obtained from the bone marrow of mice, whereas that done on cultured cells has generally been with RAW 264.7 or J774A.1 cell lines. Studies with primary macrophages can provide a more realistic picture of the signalling occurring *in vivo*. There have been many studies focusing on ERK signalling within bone marrow derived primary macrophages. Unlike the invertebrate immune system, the mammalian immune system is easier to study at the molecular level due to use of knockout mice, molecular tools such antibodies, and pharmacological inhibitors that have been developed to predominantly target mammalian forms of signalling enzymes and cell surface receptors.

1.6.1.1 Studies on primary macrophages

Winston et al. (1995a; 1995b) found the ERK pathway to be activated in a Rafindependent fashion when bone marrow-derived primary macrophages were stimulated with tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α). Indeed, these workers also found that it was ERK 2 (p42) that was preferentially activated by MEK 1. Subsequent studies revealed that p38 MAPK is also activated by TNF-a, via a pathway dependent on the upstream enzymes, mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 3 (MKK3) and MKK4 (Winston et al., 1997). SHP-1, a tyrosine specific phosphatase, is activated in macrophages via Ras during ERK signalling, and the activity of this phosphatase is indeed necessary for ERK activation (Krautwald et al., 1996). Using bone marrow-derived primary macrophages deficient of Rac1 activity, Wells et al. (2003) found that macrophages had difficulty spreading and exhibited suppressed membrane ruffling. However, the absence of this GTPase did not appear to have a negative effect on cell migration, which indicates that this enzyme is principally involved in the regulation of macrophage shape (Wells et al., 2003). PKC ζ-dependent activation of ERK 1/2 by LPS has been demonstrated in primary alveolar macrophages, and PKC & activation appeared to occur via PI-3K (Monick et al., 2000). Primary peritoneal macrophages

do, however, appear to possess both PKC-independent and –dependent mechanisms for activating ERK (Qiu & Leslie, 1994). LPS has also been demonstrated to activate the ERK pathway in primary human monocytes (van der Bruggen *et al.*, 1999). Futhermore, these cells are able to phagocytose zymosan particles, *via* β_2 integrins, and p53 and p56 phosphoproteins, that are thought to mediate monocyte cytoskeletal arrangements necessary for internalisation (Zaffran *et al.*, 1995). Interestingly, G proteins can associate with CD14 (an LPS receptor), and this interaction has been shown to activate the ERK pathway in human monocytes (Solomon *et al.*, 1998). Moreover, the PI-3K/ERK pathway has been shown to play a role in NF- κ B activation, but not phagocytosis, by cells of the THP-1 monocytic cell line (García-García *et al.*, 2001), and in the differentiation of monocytes to macrophages (García-García *et al.*, 2002). These studies have revealed the intricate nature of ERK signalling in primary macrophages and have played a key role in helping establish a function for this pathway in these cells.

1.6.1.2 Studies on cultured macrophage cell lines

Most studies with cultured cells utilise the RAW 264.7 macrophage cell line. Chen & Wang (1998) found that p38 MAPK, but not ERK, is involved in the production of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) following LPS stimulation in RAW 264.7 macrophages, which was supported by a more recent study confirming that ERK is not involved in either nitric oxide or interleukin production (Watters et al., 2002). However, LPS does induce tyrosine phosphorylation in this cell line particularly in ERK (Weinstein et al., 1992), and proline-directed kinases (Sanghera et al., 1996). The association of active ERK with microtubules has been observed in RAW 264.7 cells, which were stimulated by LPS, suggesting a role for this enzyme in cytoskeletal dynamics (Ding et al., 1996). Büscher et al. (1995) found that ERK can be activated by Ras-independent and -dependent mechanisms within RAW 264.7 macrophages. As macrophages are the main phagocytic cell of the innate immune system, many studies have aimed to decipher the role of signalling pathways in the phagocytic response. Phosphoinositol signalling is believed to play an important role in phagocytosis (reviewed by Gillooly et al., 2001). Indeed, phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate (4,5-PIP₂) is essential for phagocytosis, in that it is involved in the initial recruitment of actin to the phagocytic cup (Botelho *et al.*, 2000). Furthermore, PKCα has also been implicated in phagocytosis in RAW 264.7 cells (Breton & Descoteaux, 2000).

Another macrophage cell line is the J774.A1 cell line which is of murine origin. Exposure of these cells to LPS results in the activation of p38 MAPK along with GTPases via the β 2 integrin subunit (Schmidt *et al.*, 2001). This compound has also been shown to activate PI-3K, phospholipase D and ERK in the BAC-1.2F5 macrophage cell line (Procyk *et al.*, 1999). Studies with J774.A1 cells demonstrated that internalisation of the bacterium *Yersinia enterocolitica* deactivates all MAPK pathways (Ruckdeschel *et al.*, 1997), and also modulates the activity of the focal adhesion kinases, Cas, FAK and Pyk2 (Bruce-Staska *et al.*, 2002). Finally, Ras has been extensively studied in J774.A1 cells, and has been shown to be important in the regulation of cell growth and adhesion (Self *et al.*, 2001).

1.6.2 Signalling in haemocytes

In contrast to mammalian macrophages, the signalling pathways employed by haemocytes have been largely unstudied until recently. Given the similarities between haemocytes and macrophages in their morphology and function, it is possible that haemocytes possess similar signalling proteins to macrophages and transduce signals through similar intracellular pathways.

MAPKs have been identified in haemocytes from many invertebrate species. Probably most significantly, the *D. melanogaster* extracellular signal-regulated kinase homologue was fully characterised and its primary structure determined in the early 1990s (Biggs & Zipursky, 1992). In a similar way to mammalian ERK isozymes, activity of the *Drosophila* homologues requires dual phosphorylation at both tyrosine and threonine residues, with this phosphorylation following ligation of a RTK which is probably an LPS receptor (Biggs & Zipursky, 1992). ERK has also been identified, although not characterised in *M. galloprovincialis* (Canesi *et al.*, 2002b), and *C. capitata* (Foukas *et al.*, 1998; Soldatos *et al.*, 2003). Recently, Soldatos *et al.* (2003) found that ERK activity was upregulated in medfly haemocytes, when challenged with cell-free LPS, through two mechanisms, one involving Ras and the other involving PI-3K. Furthermore, the increased ERK activity caused changes in medfly haemocyte

morphology. Earlier studies with medfly haemocytes found that protein-tyrosine phosphorylation was necessary for internalisation of cell-free LPS (Charalambidis *et al.*, 1996b), and also for the exocytosis of recognition proteins from these haemocytes (Charalambidis *et al.*, 1995). An important study by Foukas *et al.* (1998), also on medfly haemocytes, showed that it was the activation of ERK 1/2 that was necessary for attachment and internalisation of *Escherichia coli*; this ERK activation was found to be Ras-dependent, and the β_3 integrin subunit was found to be important for the internalisation process. Finally the p38 MAPK, ERK and PI-3K signalling pathways have been detected within *M. galloprovincialis* haemocytes, with upregulation of all these signalling cascades occurring upon stimulation of haemocytes with *E. coli* (Canesi *et al.*, 2002a, 2002b).

A number of studies have been carried out on haemocyte signalling resulting from noradrenaline and adrenocorticotropin hormone (ACTH) stimulation. Although the function of these molecules is better known in mammalian systems, noradrenaline in particular is an important factor in invertebrate immune and stress responses (Lacoste Studies with G. gigas have shown that, when stressed, et al., 2001; 2002). noradrenaline and dopamine are released into the circulation (Lacoste et al., 2002) and Lacoste et al. (2001d) demonstrated that the neuropeptide ACTH induced significant noradrenaline release. ACTH also induces cell shape changes in haemocytes from M. galloprovincialis, and using pharmacological inhibitors it was found that ACTH causes these changes via adenylate cyclase/cAMP/PKA and PKC pathways (Sassi et al., cAMP has also been shown to mediate cell shape changes in M. 1998). galloprovincialis haemocytes in a study by Malagoli et al. (2000), who suggested that inositol pathway may play a role in this process. Ottaviani et al. (1991) showed that by exposing haemocytes from the freshwater snail, Planorbarius corneus, to ACTH, phagocytosis of Staphylococcus aureus was significantly increased. Modifications of the haemocyte cytoskeleton from the gastropod, Viviparus ater, were also caused by the exposure of these cells to ACTH (Franchini & Ottaviani, 1994). These studies highlight the interplay that occurs between ACTH, signalling pathways and morphological changes in molluscan haemocytes.

The majority of studies looking at the effect of noradrenaline on haemocytes have utilised the oyster, C. gigas, and have been performed in the laboratory of Lacoste.

Exposure of C. gigas haemocytes to noradrenaline has been shown to result in decreased phagocytosis, which appears to be regulated via a β -adrenergic receptor/cAMP/PKA signalling pathway (Lacoste et al., 2001b). Furthermore, C. gigas exposure to noradrenaline also results in suppressed reactive oxygen species production, which is of interest due to the importance of these intermediates in defence reactions (Lacoste et al., 2001b). Moreover, this response appears to involve similar signalling pathways to those regulating phagocytosis (Lacoste et al., 2001b). Noradrenaline and α -adrenergic signalling also induce the hsp70 gene promoter in C. gigas haemocytes, which, with the use of pharmacological inhibitors, was found to be dependent on the G-proteins/PLC/PKC and PI-3K (Lacoste et al., (2001d). Apoptosis of mollusc immune cells was also investigated by Lacoste et al. (2002b), who found noradrenaline induces haemocyte apoptosis probably via the that βadrenergic/Ras/ERK pathway. Catecholamines, including noradrenaline, have also been identified in larvae and juveniles of the gastropod, Crepidula fornicata, where they have been implicated as possible regulators of metamorphosis (Pires et al., 2000).

Integrin receptors in haemocytes have been the focus of many recent studies. The integrin a subunit from haemocytes of the ascidian H. roretzi has recently been fully cloned and characterised (Miyazawa et al., 2001). These haemocyte integrin receptors probably function as an ancestral form of complement receptors found in vertebrate systems, further suggesting that a primitive complement system exists in ascidians (Miyazawa et al., 2001). Ballarin et al. (2002) recently confirmed the presence of integrin-like molecules on haemocytes from another ascidian, Botryllus schlosseri. Some time ago, Marcantonio & Hynes (1988) developed antibodies specific to the cytoplasmic domain of integrins, which recognise the β integrin subunit from a variety of vertebrates, invertebrates and fungi, demonstrating the high degree of conservation in this integrin domain. Cloning of the β_1 -integrin subunit from the freshwater mollusc, Biomphalaria glabrata has also been achieved (Davids et al., 1999). This study demonstrated a high degree of homology between mammalian and B. glabrata integrin structure. The integrin related kinase, FAK, has recently been shown to be expressed and phosphorylated in sea urchins (García et al., 2004). Furthermore, the FAK/Src complex has been shown to play a specific role in the phagocytosis of E. coli by C. capitata haemocytes (Metheniti et al., 2001). Interestingly, molecular characterisation has recently been carried out on a G protein-coupled receptor from a bivalve mollusc, and the findings clearly indicate evolutionary links with vertebrate signalling (Herpin *et al.*, 2004).

Most studies on haemocyte signalling pathways to-date have employed monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies raised against human or rodent protein sequences, which are capable of recognising invertebrate proteins. Immunoreactivity with invertebrate signalling proteins is a consequence of these antibodies being developed to recognise highly conserved sequences, such as activation domains, in their target proteins. Furthermore, pharmacological inhibitors have also been successfully employed in many studies on invertebrates to block signalling components, allowing cellular pathways to be dissected with relative ease.

1.7 SUMMARY AND AIM OF STUDY

Although molluscs are important intermediate hosts for many helminth parasites, the immune responses of molluscs are relatively understudied when compared to those of mammals. The main defence cell of molluscs is the haemocyte, which is functionally and morphologically similar to the mammalian macrophage. Although studies on haemocyte signalling pathways are relatively new, current evidence suggests that haemocytes share many biochemical pathways with vertebrate cells. Indeed, the ERK pathway has been shown to exist and be activated in the defence cells of a range of invertebrate groups including insects (e.g. Foukas *et al.*, 1998) and molluscs (e.g. Canesi *et al.*, 2002a; 2002b), demonstrating that this is indeed an important pathway in phagocytosis cells, as it is in mammalian macrophages. However, studies in various vertebrate cell types have shown that phagocytosis can be either ERK-independent or – dependent (Weinstein *et al.*, 1992; Sanghera *et al.*, 1996; Ruckdeschel *et al.*, 1997; Procyk *et al.*, 1999; Monick *et al.*, 2000; Garcia-Garcia *et al.*, 2001).

This study aimed to clarify the role of the MAPK/ERK pathway in *L. stagnalis* primary haemocytes. Since the conditions for haemocyte culture were not yet optimised in our laboratory, the first task was to find the optimum temperature, saline solution and incubation periods for working with these cells. The ERK pathway was then characterised in these cells with the use of polyclonal antibodies, since ERK isozymes had not previously been reported in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes. Challenge of haemocytes with various endotoxins and compounds enabled the activation status of ERK isozymes to be determined following challenge, allowing a clearer picture of ERK signalling to be developed. Pharmacological inhibitors were also employed throughout the study to dissect the upstream processes that regulate ERK activation, and combined with phagocytosis assays, help clarify the role of ERK in phagocytosis by haemocytes. Integrin receptors and FAK have been implicated in the insect haemocyte phagocytic response, and the present study also aimed to elucidate a role for integrins in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes and demonstrate the presence of FAK or FAK activation in these cells.

Since *L. stagnalis* is an intermediate host for *T. ocellata*, carbohydrates that mimic schistosome coat components were introduced to the haemocytes to see whether or not

they modulated the molluscan immune response and haemocyte signalling pathways. These experiments were done in the presence and absence of haemolymph to assess the role of serum proteins in the molluscan defence response.

1.7.1 Experimental strategy

To fulfil the above aims, the experimental strategy outlined below was followed:

Preliminary studies with L. stagnalis haemocyte monolayers

- Determination of optimal conditions for the study of cell signalling in haemocytes
- Detection of ERK in haemocytes

Dissection and function of the ERK pathway in L. stagnalis haemocytes and activation of ERK isozymes

- Determine the effect of various compounds, (e.g. cell-free LPS, zymosan A, catecholamines, and heat-fixed *E. coli*) on the activity of the haemocyte ERK pathway
- Confirm that the immunoreactive ERK protein possesses kinase activity with the use of a non-radioactive kinase activity assay
- Dissection of upstream pathways leading to ERK activity using pharmacological inhibitors
- Using pharmacological inhibitors and FITC-conjugated *E. coli* determine the role of ERK and its upstream proteins in phagocytosis by haemocytes

The effect of albumin-linked monosaccharides on L. stagnalis haemocyte signalling

 Determine the effect of haemocyte exposure to BSA-conjugated galactose and fucose on ERK activity, PKC activity and phagocytosis, and assess the role of serum proteins in any identifiable responses

Detection of integrin subunits and FAK in L. stagnalis haemocytes

Detect integrins on the haemocyte cell surface using integrin-mediated binding assays

- Detect FAK in haemocytes and determine the regulation of FAK phosphorylation with an integrin binding tetrapeptide
- Determine the role of both integrins and actin remodelling in haemocyte phagocytosis

CHAPTER TWO

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Materials

The anti-phospho p44/42 MAPK, anti-phospho MEK 1/2, anti-MEK 1/2, anti-p44/42 MAPK, anti-phospho Elk-1, anti-phospho FAK (Tyr925) antibodies, and the MEK inhibitor U0126 were purchased from New England Biolabs (NEB; Hertfordshire, UK). Anti-active MAPK and anti-ERK 1/2 antibodies, PD98059 and goat-anti-rabbit HRPconjugated secondary antibody were from Promega (Southampton, UK). Protogel [30% (w/v) acrylamide] was purchased from National Diagnostics (Hull, UK), whereas Hybond nitrocellulose membrane and ECL hyperfilm were from Amersham Biosciences (Amersham, UK). Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) tablets were from Oxoid (Hampshire, UK), the Opti-4CN substrate kit along with the DC protein assay kit were from BioRad (California, USA), and the anti-pan ERK antibody was from Transduction Laboratories (Oxford, UK). ECL developing reagent and fixing reagent were both from Kodak (Hemel Hempstead, UK) whilst Vectashield was purchased from Vector Laboratories (Peterborough, UK). The integrin-mediated binding assay kits were purchased from Chemicon International (California, USA). LY294002, KT5720, FTase inhibitor I, anti-phospho-FAK (Tyr³⁹⁷) and Adrenocorticotropin Hormone (ACTH) were from Calbiochem (Nottingham, UK). Liquid PBS (supplemented with calcium and magnesium), RPMI 1640 and foetal bovine serum (FBS) were purchased from Gibco-Invitrogen Corporation (Paisley, UK). Sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS), βmercaptoethanol, glycerol, bromophenol blue, sodium chloride, tween-20, glycine and Tris-(hydroxymethyl)-methylamine were all obtained from VWR International Ltd (Poole, UK). FITC-conjugated BSA-fucose and BSA-fucose were purchased from EY Laboratories (Buckingham, UK). GF109203X, FITC-conjugated goat-anti-rabbit antibody, phosphatase and protease inhibitor cocktails, trypan blue, N,N,N',N'tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED), FITC-conjugated E. coli ("bioparticles"), FITCconjugated BSA, FITC-conjugated BSA-galactose, zymosan A from Saccharomyces cerevisiae, E. coli lipopolysaccharides (LPS, serotype 0111:B4), ammonium persulphate (APS), bovine serum albumin (BSA), molecular weight markers (SDS-6H), dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO), albumin-1-amido-1-deoxy-L-fucose, albumin-2-amido-2-deoxy-D-galactose, noradrenaline and all other chemicals were from Sigma (Poole, UK).
2.1 Lymnaea stagnalis cultures

Laboratory cultures of *L. stagnalis* were reared from eggs produced by adult snails purchased from Blades Biologicals (Edenbridge, UK). Eggs were collected and placed into water that had been filtered through a Brimak/carbon filtration unit (Silverline Ltd, Winkleigh, UK) and were left undisturbed until they had hatched. Once hatched, juvenile snails (shell length of 1-5mm) were transferred to larger aquaria to allow further development. These snails were kept at room temperature in tanks containing filtered water, until they reached a shell length of approximately 20-30mm. They were then transferred to an environmental chamber (Sanyo) and kept under a 12 h light-dark cycle at 20°C. Tanks within the environmental chamber had approximately 10 litres of filtered, continuously aerated water and each contained 12 snails. Tanks were cleaned every week and the water partially changed (retaining approximately 20% of the original water). This approach seemed to reduce snail mortality rates. Any dead snails were removed from the tanks on a daily basis, and were replaced with live snails each week. All snails were fed washed, fresh lettuce *ad libitum*. Only snails that had been in the incubator for at least ten days were used for experiments.

2.2 Haemolymph collection and monolayer preparation

Adult *L. stagnalis* were removed from the incubator and were washed with distilled water, and dried with tissue paper. The foot of the snail was then touched repeatedly with a pipette tip until the snail's body withdrew back into its shell and haemolymph was expelled through the haemal pore. This procedure is known as head-foot retraction (Sminia *et al*, 1972). Haemolymph was then collected from the shell cavity, transferred to a sterile tube and kept on ice where it was then diluted with an appropriate amount of Sterile Snail Saline (SSS; 3mM Hepes, 3.7mM NaOH, 36mM NaCl, 2mM KCl, 2mM MgCl₂, 4mM CaCl₂, pH 7.8, sterilised through a 0.22µm disposable filter) (1 part SSS : 3 parts haemolymph). Haemolymph from several snails was pooled to obtain sufficient haemolymph for each individual experiment.

To obtain total protein extracts, diluted haemolymph was centrifuged for 5 min at 800g, and the supernatant removed. The cell pellet was then either homogenised on ice in

100µl extraction buffer (50mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4), 150mM NaCl, 1% (v/v) Triton X-100, 0.1% SDS, 0.25mM EDTA, 0.25% (w/v) deoxycholic acid, 0.25M sucrose) containing a protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail used at the manufacturers recommended strength, or was solubilised in boiling SDS-PAGE sample buffer (62.4mM Tris-HCl (pH 6.8), 2% (w/v) SDS, 2% (v/v) β-mercaptoethanol, 5% (v/v) glycerol, 0.003% (v/v) bromophenol blue). Protease inhibitors were used to prevent endogenous proteases from degrading proteins present in the cell lysate. The protease inhibitor cocktail contained 4-(2-aminoethyl) benzenesulfonyl fluoride hydrochloride (AEBSF), bestatin, trans-epoxysuccinyl-L-leucylamide-(4-guanidino) butane (E-64), leupeptin and aprotinin which is an ideal combination for the inhibition of serine, cysteine and metalloproteases. Phosphatase inhibitors were added to samples to prevent the dephosphorylation of phosphorylated proteins (this is important when probing cell extracts for phospho-proteins such as phosphorylated ERK). The phosphatase inhibitor cocktail comprised sodium orthovanadate, sodium molybdate, sodium tartrate and imidazole which are capable of inhibiting acid and alkaline phosphatases, as well as phosphate transferring enzymes.

When haemocyte monolayers were required for experiments they were prepared by allowing cells to adhere to individual wells of culture plates (Nunc) for 30 min at room temperature. When 6-well plates were used 500 μ l of diluted haemolymph was added per well, whereas when 24-well plates were used 200 μ l haemolymph was added. The diluted haemolymph contained approximately 3 x 10⁶ viable cells per ml, determined by cell counting with a haemocytometer. Following the binding period, monolayers were washed three times with 200 μ l SSS (24-well plates) or 500 μ l SSS (6-well plates) prior to further treatment/equilibration at room temperature. Almost all of the haemocytes adhered during the 30 min binding stage since few cells were observed in the SSS that was removed at the first wash step.

2.4 Determination of optimum conditions for experiments with haemocyte monolayers

2.4.1 Use of RPMI, Alsever solution, anti-clumping buffer and SSS

Haemocyte monolayers were prepared in 6-well plates (Nunc) as described in section 2.3. Monolayers were either prepared in SSS, Alsever solution (27mM sodium citrate, 336mM sodium chloride, 115mM glucose, 9mM EDTA; pH 4.6), RPMI or anticlumping buffer (20mM Tris, 45mM sodium chloride, 10mM EDTA, 50mM sodium citrate, 25mM sucrose; pH 7.3). At appropriate time points haemocyte morphology was observed using an inverted microscope (at magnification of x10 and x40). The degree to which the haemocytes appeared vacuolated, spread or adherent was then recorded. After the cells were observed, they were lysed with boiling SDS-PAGE sample buffer for 10 min and the soluble proteins were then electrophoresed immediately or were kept at -20°C for subsequent analysis (section 2.13).

2.4.2 Effect of temperature on L. stagnalis haemocyte ERK 1/2

Haemocyte monolayers were prepared in 6-well plates (Nunc) using SSS as described in section 2.3. During the 30 min binding period, plates were placed at 20°C, 30°C or ambient temperature (25°C). The cells were then lysed with 500µl extraction buffer on ice for 5 min and protein determination was performed on all samples as described in section 2.6. An appropriate amount of 5x SDS-PAGE sample buffer was then added to the extracts and they were boiled for 5 min. Samples were subsequently electrophoresed on an SDS-PAGE gel and Western blotted as described in section 2.13 with membranes subsequently probed the with anti-phospho p44/42 MAP kinase antibody.

2.5 Trypan blue cell viability assay

Haemolymph was collected as described in section 2.3 and haemocyte monolayers were prepared in wells of a 24-well plate. Haemocytes were subsequently washed with SSS three times and 150µl SSS was then added to half of the wells containing haemocyte monolayers. The remaining monolayers were then incubated with 150µl trypan blue for

5 min at room temperature. After this incubation period, 100 cells were counted at random in each well that contained trypan blue. Cells which had not taken up the dye (appearing as white) were classified as viable, whereas those which had taken up the dye (appearing as blue) were classified non-viable. This trypan blue exclusion test was repeated after 40 min with the monolayers that had been incubated in SSS; the SSS was removed and 150µl trypan blue added to each well prior to viability determination.

2.6 Protein determination

Protein assays were carried out on cell lysates that had been solubilised in extraction buffer to determine the protein concentration of samples in preparation for SDS-PAGE and Western blotting. Protein determination was done using the DC protein assay kit following the manufacturers microplate assay protocol. Briefly, 5µl of cell lysate was placed into a well of a 96-well microtitre plate and 25µl of working solution 'A' (containing 20µl of reagent S and 980µl of reagent A) was added prior to adding 200µl of solution B. Following 15 min incubation at room temperature, the absorbance of the samples was determined using a microplate spectrophotometer and a 750nm absorbance filter. All lysates were assayed in triplicate along with extraction buffer controls. A standard curve was produced for a range of BSA samples with known concentrations (0, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8 and 1.0mg/ml) using the same protocol and the protein concentrations in the test samples were determined using the standard curve.

2.7 Challenge of L. stagnalis haemocytes with bacterial and yeast components

Haemocyte monolayers were prepared as described in section 2.3, in individual wells of 6-well or 24-well culture plate (Nunc). After washing, the cells were left to equilibrate for 15 min in SSS at room temperature. Once the various treatments had been applied (*E. coli* LPS, heat-killed *E. coli* and zymosan A; sections 2.7.1 - 2.7.3, below), cells were lysed on ice with extraction buffer, sample protein determinations were then done as described in section 2.6. Extracts were then transferred to microfuge tubes and either stored at -20°C or electrophoresed immediately as described in section 2.13.

2.7.1 Challenge with E. coli LPS

Escherichia coli LPS (1 - 10µg/ml in SSS) was incubated with haemocyte monolayers in 24-well culture plates (prepared as described in section 2.3) for various time periods (0-20 min) at room temperature. Control monolayers were exposed to SSS alone. The cells were then lysed with 200µl homogenisation buffer for 5 min on ice with agitation, protein determinations were done and the samples were processed for Western blotting.

2.7.2 Challenge with heat-killed E. coli

Cultures of E. coli were maintained in nutrient broth at 37°C, and the number of bacteria determined with a haemocytometer. An appropriate amount of nutrient broth (with the amount depending on the number of cells) was removed and placed at 80°C for 1 h to heat-kill the bacteria. To check that all the bacteria had been heat-killed, 100µl of the heated nutrient broth was spread onto nutrient agar (Oxoid) and checked for growth after an overnight incubation at 37°C. Haemocyte monolayers were then prepared as described in section 2.3, in individual wells of 6-well culture plates. While haemocytes were being incubated in SSS for 15 min after the binding period, 1 ml of heat-killed E. coli was centrifuged for 5 min at 3000g, the supernatent was removed and was replaced with SSS before a final cell count was done with the haemocytometer. Based on the assumption that 3 x 10⁶ haemocytes are bound per ml of haemolymph (determined by previous cell counts), the amount of E. coli solution was adjusted (with SSS) so that the E. coli would be delivered in either a 20:1 or 40:1 ratio to the haemocytes. Cells were then exposed to E. coli for 2.5, 5, 10, 20 and 40 min before being lysed with 500µl extraction buffer for 10 min on ice. Protein determinations were then performed as described in section 2.6, and the samples were processed for Western blotting as described in section 2.13.

2.7.3 Challenge with Zymosan A

Haemocyte monolayers were prepared as in section 2.3, in individual wells of 24-well culture plates (Nunc). Zymosan A from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (0.2mg/ml in SSS) was then added to monolayers and incubated for various times (0-20 min) at room temperature (control monolayers contained SSS alone). Cells were lysed with

extraction buffer for 5 min on ice with agitation. Protein determination was then done and the samples were processed for Western blotting (section 2.13).

2.8 The effects of MEK inhibitors on ERK activation

Haemocyte monolayers were prepared as described in section 2.3 in individual wells of a 24-well culture plate (Nunc). After the cells were washed they were incubated with either U0126 (0-10 μ M), PD98059 (0-100 μ M) or the vehicle (methanol or DMSO, respectively) for 30 min at room temperature. After this 30 min incubation period, cells were challenged with *E. coli* LPS (1-10 μ g/ml) for 5 min at room temperature, in the presence of the inhibitor. U0126 was reconstituted in methanol, whilst PD98059 was resuspended in DMSO; final inhibitor concentrations were made by further dilution in SSS. Following challenge, cells were lysed with boiling SDS-PAGE sample buffer as described in section 2.7. Samples were then either processed immediately or were stored at -20°C prior to electrophoresis and Western analysis (section 2.13).

2.9 BSA-conjugated monosaccharides

Haemocyte monolayers were prepared as described in section 2.3 in individual wells of a 24-well culture plate (Nunc). After washing, the cells were equilibrated for 15 min in 200µl SSS which was removed before the addition of either albumin-1-amido-1-deoxy-L-fucose (0-800nM in SSS), albumin-2-amido-2-deoxy-D-galactose (0-800nM in SSS). a combination of the two sugars (1:1 i.e. 800nM + 800nM in SSS), or BSA control (800nM in SSS) to the wells for 1 hour. These carbohydrate conjugates comprised 15-25 sugar molecules per BSA molecule and concentrations used represent the final molarities of the conjugated BSA in the assays. Initially, control cells were incubated with BSA at all concentrations, or SSS, and under these conditions, the control cell levels of phospho-ERK were determined by Western analysis. Phosphorylation levels did not change significantly between BSA concentrations or SSS, and therefore the highest concentration (800nM) of BSA was used as a control for all subsequent experiments. The 1 h incubation period was determined from preliminary experiments in which four time periods over 90 min were tested (0, 15, 30, 60, 90 min). Although the effects on the phosphorylation levels observed were greatest after 60 min, there were no large differences between 15 - 90 min. Cells exposed to albumin-linked sugars in the

presence of haemolymph were not washed following binding, and the sugars were therefore diluted into the haemolymph. Following the 1 h incubation period, cells were lysed with 100µl of boiling SDS-PAGE sample buffer, and were sonicated and heated to 90°C (for 3 min each). Samples were then stored at -20°C or were electrophoresed immediately (section 2.13).

2.10 The effect of noradrenaline and Adrenocorticotropic Hormone (ACTH)

Haemocyte monolayers were prepared as described in section 2.3 in individual wells of a 24-well culture plate (Nunc). Cells were washed, then incubated with either noradrenaline (0-10 μ M; reconstituted in SSS) for 0-40 min, or with fragment 1-24 of human ACTH (3x10⁻¹⁹ – 3x10⁻⁴M; reconstituted in 5% acetic acid and final concentrations made with further dilutions in SSS) for 2 h at room temperature. Control haemocytes were incubated with vehicle alone. Haemocytes were then lysed immediately with extraction buffer, or were challenged with *E. coli* LPS (1-10 μ g/ml) for a further 5 min prior to cell lysis. Protein determinations were performed as described in section 2.6 before sample buffer was added. Samples were transferred to microfuge tubes and electrophoresed immediately or stored at -20°C (section 2.13).

2.11 Levels of phosphorylated FAK in suspended and bound haemocytes

Haemocyte monolayers were prepared in 6-well culture plates (Nunc, 500µl diluted haemolymph per well) as described in section 2.3. Cells were left to bind to the plates for 30, 60 and 90 min before the haemolymph was removed and the haemocytes were lysed with boiling SDS-PAGE sample buffer. The collected cell lysates were then transferred to microfuge tubes and were sonicated for 3 min before heating to 90°C for a further 3 min in preparation for electrophoresis (section 2.13).

2.12 Effect of Arg-Gly-Asp-Ser (RGDS) on ERK and FAK activity

Haemocyte monolayers were prepared as described in section 2.3 and were washed three times with 200µl SSS after the 30 min binding period to remove dead and non-adherent cells. Haemocyte monolayers were then left to equilibrate in SSS for 30 min prior to the addition of RGDS (2mM) for various time periods (0-2 min for FAK and 0-

30 min for ERK activation). At the appropriate time points, the SSS/RGDS was removed and cells were lysed in boiling SDS-PAGE sample buffer. Cell lysates were then transferred to microfuge tubes, were sonicated for 3 min and heated to 90°C for 3 min. Samples were then electrophoresed immediately or were stored at -20°C (section 2.13).

2.13 SDS-PAGE and Western blotting of haemocyte proteins

Samples (containing equal amounts of protein where appropriate) were loaded onto a discontinuous SDS-PAGE slab gel. The resolving gel contained 10% acrylamide (375mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.8), 30% (v/v) acrylamide (30% stock solution), 0.1% (w/v) SDS, 0.25% (v/v) TEMED, 0.3% (w/v) APS), with the proportions of acrylamide and water changing accordingly for higher or lower gel concentrations. The stacking gel (125mM Tris-HCl (pH 6.8), 21.15% (v/v) acrylamide (30% stock solution), 0.1% (w/v) SDS, 0.25% (v/v) TEMED, 0.3% (w/v) APS) had the same concentration of acrylamide regardless of the acrylamide concentration in the resolving gel. Molecular weight markers (SDS-6H; 10µl per lane) comprising the proteins, myosin (from rabbit muscle; 205kDa), β-galactosidase (from E. coli; 116kDa), phosphorylase b (from rabbit muscle; 97.4kDa), bovine albumin (66kDa), egg albumin (45kDa) and carbonic anhydrase (from bovine erythrocytes; 29kDa) were also applied to the gel. After electrophoresis at 100V for approximately 60 min in running buffer (0.3% (w/v) Tris, 1.45% (w/v) glycine, 0.1% (w/v) SDS), proteins were electroblotted onto Hybond nitrocellulose membrane (0.45µm pore size), using a semi-dry transfer unit (BioRad) with blotting buffer (0.3% (w/v) Tris, 1.5% (w/v) glycine, 20% (v/v) methanol). Homogeneous transfer of proteins was confirmed by staining membranes with Ponceau S (working solution: 30% (w/v) trichloroacetic acid, 30% (w/v) sulfosalicylic acid, 2% (w/v) Ponceau S in distilled water). The position of the molecular weight markers was marked on the membrane with a pencil and Ponceau S stain was removed from the proteins by washing with Trisbuffered saline (150mMTris-HCl (pH 8.0), 1.5M NaCl) containing 0.1% (v/v) tween-20 (TTBS). Membranes were then blocked for 1 h at room temperature with 5% (w/v) nonfat dried milk in TTBS before being washed briefly in TTBS and incubated overnight at 4°C with the appropriate primary antibody (all diluted in TTBS):

Anti-phospho p44/42 MAP Kinase (NEB; 1/1000) Anti-p44/42 MAP Kinase (NEB; 1/1000) Anti-phospho MEK 1/2 (NEB; 1/1000) Anti-phospho Elk 1 (NEB; 1/1000) Anti-active MAPK (Promega; 1/5000) Anti-ERK (Promega; 1/5000) Anti-phospho MEK 1/2 (NEB; 1/1000) Anti-phospho FAK (Tyr⁹²⁵) (NEB; 1/800) Anti-actin (Sigma; 1/5000)

Membranes were washed with TTBS 3 times (5 min each wash) after primary antibody exposure. They were then incubated in secondary antibody (1:5000 in TTBS) for 1 h at room temperature with constant agitation and subsequently washed 3 times with TTBS (5 min each wash). The membrane was then incubated at room temperature in the Opti-4CN solution (Biorad) until the signal was fully developed (up to 30 min). Once the signal was obtained, membranes were rinsed in distilled water and allowed to air dry. In some cases, enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) was required for signal detection. Briefly, after the membrane was sufficiently washed in TTBS it was transferred to ECL reagent and was incubated for 5 min in the dark at room temperature with constant rocking. The membrane was then wrapped in cling film and secured in a cassette (Sigma, UK) to keep the membrane in the dark. The membrane was then exposed to ECL hyperfilm for varying lengths of time, the film was immersed in developing reagent for 1 min, washed briefly with water, transferred to fixing solution for a further minute, washed once again with water and then air dried. The exposure and developing of the ECL film was performed in a photographic dark room. The blots (for Opti-4CN) or films (for ECL) were scanned and the images saved. Where appropriate, the intensity of the signal (either by Opti-4CN or ECL detection) was then analysed with Kodak 1D image analysis software as described in section 2.14.

2.14 Image analysis

Where appropriate the intensity of the immunoreactive signal on individual blots was analysed using Kodak 1D Image analysis software. This procedure enabled any increase or decrease in immuno-reactive signal following challenge to be determined. Values were calculated as a net difference in phosphorylation levels with treatment, compared to the control value for each replicate; hence, each control value was assigned a standardised value of 1. Changes were therefore represented as a fold-increase or decrease from control levels.

When actin, tubulin or total-ERK were used to confirm equal protein loading, intensities of all bands were quantified, and standardised to control values as described above. The experimental bands (e.g. phospho-ERK) were then further standardised to the protein loading values in order to compensate for any differences in the amounts of protein in the lanes.

2.15 Non-radioactive MAP Kinase activity assay

The MAP Kinase activity assay was performed with the 'Non-radioactive MAP Kinase activity assay kit' purchased from NEB. Haemocyte monolayers were prepared in individual wells of a six-well culture plate as described in section 2.3. After washing, monolayers were then either exposed to U0126 (10µM) for 30 min at room temperature before the addition of E. coli LPS (10µg/ml) for 5 min, not treated with U0126 but challenged with 10µg/ml LPS for 5 min, or incubated in SSS alone. Cells were then lysed with cell lysis buffer (20mM Tris (pH 7.5), 150mM NaCl, 1mM EDTA, 1mM EGTA, 1% (v/v) Triton X-100, 2.5mM sodium pyrophosphate, 1mM βglycerolphosphate, 1mM sodium orthovanadate, 1µg/ml leupeptin), and placed on ice for 15 min with shaking before sonication (4 times, 5 s each). The cell lysates were then centrifuged at 4°C (800g) for 10 min to pelette larger cell debris, and the supernatent subsequently removed and kept on ice. The protein concentration of the supernatent was then determined with the Bio-rad DC protein assay kit as described in section 2.6. 200µg total protein was removed and added to a microfuge tube containing 15µl of resuspended immobilised Phospho-p44/42 MAP Kinase (Thr²⁰²/Tyr²⁰⁴) monoclonal antibody. Also, 200ug of protein from the control sample that had been incubated in SSS alone, was spiked with 20ng of purified active MAPK before the All addition of immobilised phospho-p44/42 MAP Kinase monoclonal antibody. samples were incubated overnight with gentle rocking at 4°C and were then microcentrifuged for 30 s to capture the immunocomplexes. The pellets were washed twice with 500µl of cell lysis buffer, and a further two times with kinase buffer (25mM Tris (pH 7.5), 5mM β-glycerolphosphate, 2mM DTT, 0.1mM sodium orthovanadate, 10mM magnesium chloride). The pellet was finally resuspended in 50µl kinase buffer supplemented with 200µM ATP and 2µg Elk-1 fusion protein, and incubated at 30°C for 1 hour with gentle rocking. The reaction was finally terminated with 25µl 3X SDS-PAGE sample buffer, and samples were boiled for 5 min, vortexed and then microcentrifuged for 2 min. 30µl of each sample was loaded onto an SDS-PAGE gel and electrophoresed as previously described in section 2.13.

2.16 Immunocytochemistry

Haemocytes (100µl diluted haemolymph in SSS per coverslip) were allowed to adhere to coverslips for 30 min at room temperature, they were then washed 3 times with 1ml of SSS in a 6-well plate (Nunc). After equilibrating in SSS for 15 min, haemocytes were treated with or without various compounds at room temperature. E. coli LPS (0-10µg/ml in SSS; 5 min), or albumin-linked sugars (0-800nM; 1 h) were delivered to the cells by inverting the coverslips onto parafilm containing 100µl of the test compound. In some experiments U0126 (10µM) was incubated with the cells for 30 min prior to adding LPS. Albumin-linked sugars were delivered to the cells in the presence or absence haemolymph. For experiments done in the presence of haemolymph, cells were not washed and the sugars were diluted in the haemolymph serum with coverslips being inverted into the sugar-haemolymph solution. After exposure to the various compounds, haemocytes were fixed and permeabilised with fixing buffer (3.7% (v/v) formaldehyde, 0.18% (v/v) Triton X-100 in PBS) for 12 min at room temperature before being briefly washed once with 1ml PBS. The coverslips were then blocked with BSA (1% (w/v) in PBS) for a further 12 min at room temperature, before the blocking solution was drained onto filter paper. Cells were then incubated with the anti-phospho p44/42 MAP Kinase antibody (1:150 in blocking buffer; 3 hrs), followed by a FITCconjugated goat-anti-rabbit secondary antibody (1:150 in blocking buffer; 45 min) and rhodamine phalloidin (0.1µg/ml in blocking buffer; 40 min). All incubations were performed at room temperature in humidified chambers, and cells were washed three times (5 min each wash) with PBS between incubations. Finally, coverslips were mounted onto slides with Vectashield, sealed with clear nail varnish (to give a semipermanent preparation) and observed with a Zeiss Axiophot 20 photomicroscope using a triple filter; excitation wavelengths were 410nm, 505nm and 585nm (with beamsplitters: 395nm, 485nm and 560nm; and barriers: 460nm, 530nm and 610nm respectively). Images were captured digitally using the Nikon DN100 camera, and the Nikon Eclipse Net Image analysis package.

2.17 Phagocytosis assays

Haemocyte monolayers were prepared as previously described (section 2.3) in individual wells (100μ l diluted haemolymph per well) of 96-well culture plates (Nunc) and washed three times with 150μ l SSS. Haemocytes were then pre-incubated with each of the following compounds, or with vehicle, for 30 min at room temperature prior to the addition of FITC-conjugated 'bioparticles' (6 x 10^6 per well), the test compounds remained in the wells throughout the experiment:

MEK inhibitors:	U0126 (0-100µM in methanol)			
	PD98059 (0-100µM in DMSO)			
PKA inhibitor:	KT5720 (10µM in DMSO)			
PKC inhibitor:	GF109203X (10µM in DMSO)			
PI-3-kinase inhibitor:	LY294002 (0-100µM in distilled water)			
Farnesylation inhibitor:	FTase inhibitor I (0-100µM in distilled water)			
Integrin blocking peptide:	Arg-Gly-Asp-Ser (RGDS) (0-2mM in distilled			
	water)			
Actin remodelling inhibitor:	Cytochalasin D (0-10µM in DMSO)			
BSA-conjugated sugars:	Albumin-1-amido-1-deoxy-L-fucose	(0-800nM	in	
	distilled water)			
	Albumin-2-amido-2-deoxy-D-galactose	(0-800nM	in	
	distilled water)			
	Combined use of sugars (1:1; 0-800nM of each in distilled			
	water)			

After the haemocytes had been challenged with 'bioparticles' for 1 h at room temperature in a dark chamber, 'bioparticles' were removed and 100µl of 2% (w/v)

trypan blue was added to each well for 2 min in order to quench extracellular fluorescence. Intracellular fluorescence was then quantified using a Fluorstar Optima microplate spectrofluorometer (BMG Labtechnologies, Aylesbury, UK), with an excitation filter of 488nm, and emission filter of 530nm. For experiments in which cells were exposed to the BSA-conjugated sugars in the presence of haemolymph, haemocytes were not washed and the sugars were diluted straight into the haemolymph after binding.

2.18 Integrin-mediated cell adhesion assay

The integrin-mediated haemocyte adhesion assays were performed with the 'Integrin $\alpha_{V}\beta_{3}$ -mediated cell adhesion kit' and the 'Integrin β_{1} -mediated cell adhesion kit' using the manufacturers recommended protocol. Briefly, the integrin antibody-coated (experimental) and -uncoated (control) strips were rehydrated with 200µl PBS (with and without Ca2+/Mg2+) per well for 10 min at room temperature. The PBS was removed and 100µl extracted haemolymph diluted in PBS (with and without Ca2+/Mg2+) was then placed into each of the wells and incubated at 37°C in a CO2 incubator for 2 h. After incubation, diluted haemolymph was removed from the wells and each well was washed 3 times with 200µl PBS (with and without Ca2+/Mg2+). After washing, 100µl of cell stain solution was added to each well and incubated for 5 min at room temperature. The cell stain was then removed and the wells were washed 5 times with PBS (with and without Ca2+/Mg2+) and allowed to air dry before the addition of 100µl extraction buffer. Samples were then incubated at room temperature on an orbital shaker until the cell stain was completely solubilised (5-10 min). The absorbance (at 570nm) of the samples was then determined using a microplate spectrophotometer. The presence/absence of integrins and Ca2+/Mg2+-dependency of adhesion was then determined by comparing the absorbance of the experimental wells to that of the control wells.

HL60 cells (leukaemic cells) were used as a negative control for the assays. Briefly, the HL60 cell line was grown in 20ml culture flasks in RPMI 1640 medium, containing 10% foetal bovine serum (FBS), at 37°C in an atmosphere containing 5% CO₂. All cell lines were passaged when cell densities reached 1×10^6 cells/ml and were diluted to 1×10^5 cells/ml, thereby maintaining a stock of cells that ranged from 10^5 to 10^6 cells/ml.

To harvest the cells, the media was transferred to a sterile tube and was centrifuged for 5 min at 800g. The cell pellet was then resuspended in 1 ml of PBS (containing Ca^{24} and Mg^{24}), and 100µl of the suspension was placed in both experimental and control wells. The wells containing the HL60 cells were then treated in a similar way to those containing the haemocytes.

2.19 Two-dimensional electrophoresis

For two-dimensional separation of haemocyte proteins, haemocyte monolayers were prepared in Petri dishes (2ml of diluted haemolymph per dish) as described in section 2.3. After the haemocyte monolavers had been washed three times (with 2ml SSS), 2ml SSS was added to two dishes and 2 ml of SSS containing 10µM U0126 solution was added to a third. The cells were then incubated for 30 min at room temperature. Haemocytes within one of the dishes containing only SSS were then lysed with 200µl of 2% SDS; the sample was then transferred to a microfuge tube and was sonicated for 2 min. Protein determination was carried out on this sample following the DC protein assay kit protocol described in section 2.6; this was done since it was necessary to extract the cells in the other SSS control dish and the dish exposed to U0126 with sample/rehydration buffer (8M urea, 2% 3-[(3-cholamidopropyl)dimethylammonio]-1propanesulfonate (CHAPS), 50mM dithiothreitol (DTT), 0.2% (w/v) Bio-Lyte® 3/10 ampholytes (pH 3 - pH 10) and bromophenol blue) which interfers with protein assays. Cells in the remaining dishes (i.e. control and U0126-exposed) were lysed with 200µl sample/rehydration buffer, and the cells scraped from the bottom of the dish with a sterile cell scraper. Once these samples had been transferred to microfuge tubes, they were then sonicated at room temperature for 2 min. Two IPG strips (pH 3 to 10) were taken from the -20°C freezer and left at room temperature for approximately 5 min, during which time the samples were also kept at room temperature (cooling of the samples would result in precipitation of urea). For two-dimensional gels, it is recommended to rehydrate the IPG strips with 185µl of sample containing a maximum of 250ug of total protein. 185µl of each sample was therefore pipetted into the middle of individual lanes of a disposable rehydration/equilibration tray so that the sample covered the whole lane except for 2 cm at each end. The plastic backing of each IPG strip was removed with tweezers and the strip carefully lowered onto the sample, gel side down, ensuring no air bubbles were trapped underneath the strip and none of the sample was on top of the strip. After 1 h both IPG strips were overlayed with 2ml of mineral oil. The strips were then left overnight (11 - 16 h) for the passive rehydration process to continue.

After the overnight incubation the samples had been absorbed into the gel of the IPG strips, isoelectric focusing (IEF) was therefore performed. The strips were removed from the disposable tray and the mineral oil allowed to drain onto filter paper. Electrode wicks were placed over the cathodes and anodes of lanes the Protean IEF focusing tray, and 8µl of nanopure water was pipetted onto each wick. The strips were then carefully transferred into the focusing tray, ensuring the gel was touching each electrode. Once this was done, each strip was overlayed with 1ml mineral oil and the lid was placed on the focusing tray. The tray was transferred to the Protean IEF cell and isoelectric focusing was started at 250V (20 min), increasing to 8,000V (2.5 h) and finally 8,000V until 20,000V-hr was reached. The whole IEF process took approximately 5 h 20 min. During the electrophoresis procedure the strips were kept at 20°C, with a maximum current of $50\mu A/strip$.

Once IEF had finished, the IPG strips were removed from the focusing tray, drained of mineral oil, and placed gel side up in a clean disposable rehydration/equilibrium tray. Each strip was then incubated in 2ml of equilibration buffer I (6M urea, 2% (w/v) SDS, 0.375M Tris-HCl (pH 8.8), and 20% (v/v) glycerol) on an orbital shaker for 10 min at room temperature. Equilibration buffer I was then removed by simply draining the buffer out of the lanes and flicking the tray to remove residual buffer. Strips were then incubated in 2 ml equilibration buffer II (6M urea, 2% SDS, 0.375M Tris-HCl (pH 8.8), 20% glycerol and 2.5% (w/v) iodoacetamide) for a further 10 min at room temperature on an orbital shaker. The pre-cast SDS-PAGE gels were unwrapped and washed with proteomic grade water and the overlay agarose containing bromophenol blue was heated in a microwave for approximately 45-50 sec. A 100ml graduated cylinder was filled with XT-MES electrophoresis running buffer and each strip was dipped into this buffer before being placed gel side up (with the lowest pH of the strip on the left-hand side of the SDS-PAGE gel), on the larger (front) plate of the SDS-PAGE gel cassette. The heated overlay agarose solution was then pipetted into the wells of the SDS-PAGE gels and the IPG strips were carefully pushed into the agarose ensuring they were it was straight and that no air bubbles were trapped between the strips and the SDS-PAGE

gels. Biotinylated molecular weight markers were heated to 95°C for 2-3 min and 10µl was pipetted into the marker well of each SDS-PAGE gel. Once the agarose had set, the second dimension of the electrophoresis procedure was performed, at 200V constant, until the bromophenol blue of the agarose had just run off the bottom of the gel. The separated proteins were then blotted onto nitrocellulose and Western blotting was performed as described in section 2.13. Nitrocellulose membranes were blocked with 5% non-fat dried milk, and incubated with an anti-phospho-threonine-proline primary antibody (1/1000 in TTBS) for 2 h. This antibody only recognises proteins phosphorylated on threonine residues followed by proline and therefore can be used to detect MAPK substrate proteins when used in combination with MAPK inhibitors. Membranes were then incubated in goat-anti-mouse secondary antibody (1/2000) and HRP-linked anti-biotin antibody (1/2000) for 1 h. Incubations were done at room temperature and the signal was detected by ECL as described in section 2.13.

2.20 Statistical analysis

Where appropriate, results were analysed with one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and post-hoc multiple comparison tests (Tukey), using the statistical software package SPSS. For studies with albumin-linked carbohydrates, two-way ANOVA was used to compare results obtained from the phagocytosis assays with and without haemolymph, and independent T-tests were also carried out between experiments with and without haemolymph at the specific concentrations.

CHAPTER THREE

RESULTS

SECTION 3.1

THE IDENTIFICATION OF ERK PATHWAY COMPONENTS IN L. STAGNALIS HAEMOCYTES AND THE DETERMINATION OF OPTIMAL CONDITIONS FOR HAEMOCYTE CULTURES

ERK pathway components have previously been identified in various invertebrates including the Mediterranean fruit fly Ceratitis capitata (Foukas et al, 1998), the bivalve mollusc Mytilus galloprovincialis (Canesi et al, 2002a; 2002b), and an embryonic cell line from the gastropod mollusc Biomphalaria glabrata (Humphries et al, 2001). The presence of an ERK homologue has also been reported in the Drosophila S2 embryonic cell line (Biggs & Zipursky, 1992). However, prior to this study, ERK pathway components were yet to be identified in Lymnaea stagnalis haemocytes. In this study, the detection of ERK-like proteins was achieved by Western blotting of haemocyte total protein extracts and by immunocytochemistry. In addition, before any experiments that relied on haemocyte incubations could be performed, the conditions to keep L. stagnalis primary haemocyte cultures had to be determined. Optimal environmental conditions for the culture of primary haemocyte monolayers were determined by incubating haemocytes for different periods of time in different saline solutions and media, and at temperatures. In these experiments haemocyte morphology was observed and the degree of ERK phosphorylation under the different incubation regimes was determined by Western blotting.

3.1.1 Detection of ERK 1/2 - like proteins by Western analyses

Western blotting was performed on total haemocyte protein extracts to identify ERKlike proteins in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes. To determine the protein concentration of the extracts, the BioRad detergent compatible (DC) protein assay kit was used with BSA as the standard protein (a BSA standard curve is shown in fig 3.1.1). The use of two different primary 'anti-phospho' antibodies, the anti-phospho p44/42 MAP kinase antibody (NEB) and the anti-active MAPK antibody (Promega), revealed the presence of ERK-like proteins in a phosphorylated state in unstimulated cells (fig. 3.1.2). Both antibodies recognise the ERK 1/2 isozymes when phosphorylated at Thr^{202}/Tyr^{204} residues and since phosphorylation is necessary for activation, these antibodies have been used in numerous studies to demonstrate ERK activity (see for example, Rossant *et al.*, 1999; Dang *et al.*, 1998). Rat pheochromocytoma 12 (PC12) cells were used as negative (untreated) and positive (NGF-treated) controls for Western blotting; as expected, active ERK was only present in the NGF-treated PC12 cells (fig 3.1.2). The anti-active MAPK antibody (Promega) mainly identified just one single band that had migrated to an apparent molecular weight of 43kDa (fig 3.1.2), although when the proteins were allowed to migrate in the gel for longer two bands were occasionally seen. In contrast, the anti-phospho p44/42 MAP kinase antibody (NEB) often revealed two bands with approximate weights of 44 and 43kDa (fig 3.1.2). Since the anti-phospho p44/42 MAPK antibody seemed more effective at detecting both haemocyte ERK isozymes this antibody was used for all subsequent experiments.



Figure 3.1.1. Example of a BSA standard curve used to calculate the protein concentrations of haemocyte lysates. The Bio-Rad detergent compatible (DC) protein assay kit was used, a modification of the traditional Lowry method. $R^2 = 0.9862$.

The anti-pan-ERK antibody was also used to probe total haemocyte protein extracts. This antibody is capable of detecting all ERK isoforms (p42, p44, p56 and p85) regardless of the enzyme's activation status, as shown by Keel *et al* (1995) in porcine granulosa cells. However, only proteins of approximately 44 and 43kDa were detected in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes (fig. 3.1.2). Using this antibody; bands of approximately 42, 44 and 85 kDa were detected in the positive control (RSV 3T3 cells) as expected. Since this antibody was generated towards a region in rat ERK 2, the results suggests that, if present, *L. stagnalis* p56 and p85 isoforms have differences in the sequence

Chapter 3

Results

homology when compared to rat ERK isoforms. With both phospho-specific antibodies, the ERK 1-like protein (44kDa) was always seen as the strongest band, whereas the pan-ERK antibody tended to show the ERK 2-like protein (42kDa in mammals, 43kDa in *L. stagnalis*) as the most abundant isozyme (fig. 3.1.2).



Figure 3.1.2. Detection of ERK 1/2-like proteins in unstimulated *L. stagnalis* haemocytes. The anti-active MAPK (Promega) antibody was used to detect phosphorylated ERK 1/2 homologues in haemocyte extracts $(20\mu g)$ (c). Untreated (a) and NGF-treated (b) PC12 cells were used as controls. Haemocyte proteins $(20\mu g)$ were also probed with the anti-phospho p44/42 MAP kinase antibody (NEB) (d). Haemocyte proteins (f, $20\mu g$) were then probed for the presence of p42, p44, p56 and p85 ERK isoforms with the anti-pan ERK antibody (Transduction Labs), RSV-3T3 cells (e) were used as a positive control. Results shown are representative of three independent experiments.

Western analyses with the anti-p44/42 MAP kinase (NEB) and anti-ERK 1/2 (Promega) antibodies that detect total ERK protein levels, irrespective of their phosphorylation status, revealed 2 bands of approximately 44 and 43kDa in *L. stagnalis* haemocyte total protein extracts. Although the Promega anti-ERK 1/2 antibody, raised against a conserved peptide sequence in human/rat ERK 1, did reveal 2 bands (fig. 3.1.3), the antibody sometimes proved unreliable and did not always result in bands that could be scanned and analysed for relative band intensities. However, the anti-p44/42 MAP kinase (NEB) antibody, which was raised against a synthetic peptide

derived from rat ERK 2, revealed two bands of 44kDa and 43kDa regularly, therefore this antibody was used for subsequent experiments. In contrast to the phospho-specific antibodies, use of the total-ERK antibodies resulted in the ERK 2-like protein (42kDa) being the stronger band of the two (fig. 3.1.3).



Figure 3.1.3. Detection of 'total' ERK proteins in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes. ERK isozymes in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes were detected using anti-ERK 1/2 (a, Promega, 20µg total protein; b, 30µg total protein), and anti-p44/42 MAPK (c, NEB; 15µg total protein) antibodies. These antibodies detect ERK 1/2 irrespective of their phosphorylation status. The blot shown is representative of two independent experiments for both antibodies.

3.1.2 Detection of ERK 1/2 - like proteins by immunocytochemistry

Detection of phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated ERK 1/2 by means of Western blotting revealed the molecular weights of the respective isozymes in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes and tested antibody reactivity by using positive and negative controls. However, immunocytochemical detection allows the cellular location of proteins to be determined in cells. As with the Western analyses, two phospho-specific primary antibodies were used (Promega and NEB) for the immunocytochemical detection of phosphorylated (activated) ERK 1/2-like proteins in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes; two total-ERK (Promega and NEB) antibodies were also used to detect ERK-like proteins irrespective of their phosphorylation status.

The use of both phospho-specific antibodies showed that, when haemocytes were unchallenged, phosphorylated ERK 1/2 was present throughout the haemocyte, and that it was often present at the periphery of the nuclear membrane (fig. 3.1.4 A, B and D).







Figure 3.1.4. Immunocytochemical detection of ERK isozymes. (A) single cell and (B) cell clusters were probed with the anti-phospho-p44/42 MAPK (NEB; 1:250) antibody; (C) cells probed for 'total' ERK (with the anti-p44/42 MAPK antibody; NEB; 1:250). (D) Haemocytes probed with the anti-active MAPK antibody (D; 1:200) and the anti-MAPK antibody (E; 1:250) (both from Promega). Images are representative of 3 individual experiments; scale bars = 10µm.

When haemocytes were stained with the anti-p44/42 MAPK antibody (NEB) both active and non-active (i.e. total) ERK was found to be situated in the nuclear region of the cells, and as shown with the anti-phospho p44/42 antibody, it was particularly present at the periphery of the nuclear membrane (fig 3.1.4C). The anti-ERK antibody (Promega) showed total ERK proteins to be clustered throughout the cytosol with a clear presence in and around the nucleus (fig 3.1.4E). With this antibody, the nucleus was often much more defined when compared to the results obtained with the p44/42 MAPK NEB antibody. Overall, it was concluded that all antibodies worked well in immunocytochemistry with haemocytes, but as with the Western analyses the Promega antibodies did not always give the best images. The NEB 'phospho'- and 'total'-ERK antibodies were therefore used for all further immunocytochemical work; this also meant that the results obtained in immunocytochemistry experiments would be more comparable with those obtained in the Western analyses.

3.1.3 Detection of MAPK/ERK Kinase (MEK) by Western analysis

MEK 1/2 is known to be the activator of ERK in mammalian cells, but the presence of this signalling intermediate was yet to be reported in molluscan haemocytes. Using a phospho-specific MEK 1/2 ($Ser^{217/221}$) polyclonal antibody, active-MEK was detected in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes for the first time following Western blotting (fig 3.1.5). This antibody recognises MEK when phosphorylated on both residues or when singly phosphorylated at Ser^{217} (but not Ser^{221}). The MEK 1/2-like proteins possessed an apparent molecular weight of approximately 43kDa, and always appeared as a single band (fig. 3.1.5). A positive control (NGF-treated PC12 cells) was also used, and a single band was also detected in these cells at the same molecular weight (43kDa).

Chapter 3

Results



Figure 3.1.5. Detection of activated MEK-like protein in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes. NGF-treated human PC12 cells were used as a positive control (a; 10μ g total protein) and haemocyte lysates are shown in (b; 30μ g total protein). Blots were probed with the anti-phospho MEK 1/2 antibody (1/1000; NEB). The blot shown is representative of two independent experiments.

3.1.4 Detection of active Elk-1 by Western analysis

The nuclear target of ERK 1/2, Elk-1 (Aplin *et al.*, 2001; Sellers *et al.*, 2001), has not been reported in either insect or molluscan haemocytes to-date. Therefore, since MEK and ERK-like proteins were successfully detected in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes, haemocyte extracts were probed for the presence of this 62kDa transcription factor. Using an anti-phospho-Elk-1 (Ser³⁸³) antibody a phosphorylated (active) Elk-1-like protein was detected in haemocyte total protein samples. The haemocyte Elk-like protein was found to have an approximate molecular weight of 62kDa (fig. 3.1.6), and a similar size protein was detected in NGF-treated PC12 cells which were used as a positive control.



Figure 3.1.6. Detection of a phosphorylated Elk-1-like protein in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes. Human NGF-treated PC12 cells were used as a positive control (a; 10µg total protein) and 30µg total haemocyte lysate was loaded onto the gel (b). Western blots were probed with the anti-phospho Elk-1 primary antibody (1/1000; NEB). The image shown is representative of two independent experiments.

3.1.5 The effects of different saline solutions, media and incubation times on haemocytes

3.1.5.1 Cell morphology

Studies with molluscan haemocytes have often used sterile snail saline (SSS) as the saline for experimental procedures (Conte & Ottaviani, 1995; Horák & Deme, 1998; Horák *et al*, 1998). Initially, two solutions, SSS and RPMI, were used for monitoring haemocyte morphology and basal levels of ERK 1/2 activity over a 16 h post-binding period. RPMI is a media containing various amino acids, vitamins, inorganic salts and glucose. It is widely used in cell culture, and has been shown to support the growth of many cell types including human lymphocytes. The morphology of the cells in RPMI indicated that this was an inadequate media for the haemocyte monolayers to be kept in. Immediately, cells were non-adherent and rounded up (table 3.1.1). This is in comparison to cells in SSS, which were adherent and well spread for up to 16 hours after the initial binding period, with vacuoles only appearing in the cells approximately 3 hours after binding (table 3.1.1).

3.1.5.2 Phosphorylation of haemocyte ERK 1/2

The haemocytes incubated in SSS (for up to 16 h) were lysed and the basal levels of ERK 1/2 phosphorylation analysed by Western blotting. It was found that phosphorylation levels of the ERK isozymes decreased over the 16 hour period (fig. 3.1.7). Taken together with the morphological data this indicated that the cells were not unduly stressed and confirmed that SSS was an adequate saline for these cells to be kept in during future experimental procedures. As vacuoles were seen when haemocytes were kept in SSS for 3 h post-binding, a maximum incubation time of 2 hours was used in future experiments.

Time post binding period (h)	SSS	RPMI
0	Cells adherent with filopodia visible, some cell clumping.	Cells are rounded and non- adherent (floating in media)
1	Cells adherent with filopodia, more cell clumping evident.	-
2	Cells adherent with filopodia present, cells heavily clumped.	-
3	Cells still adherent and spread. Some cells with vacuoles.	-
4	Cells with more vacuoles, although still adherent with filopodia.	-
16	Cells heavily vacuolated, although still adherent with filopodia.	-

 Table 3.1.1
 Haemocyte morphology observed during incubation in SSS and RPMI over 16 h. Observations are based on triplicate monolayer preparations in 6-well culture plates with the aid of an inverted microscope.



Figure 3.1.7. Haemocyte basal ERK activity over a 16 h period when incubated in SSS. ERK basal activity levels appear to decrease over time. Membranes were probed with antiphospho p44/42 antibody, with 20µg total protein per well. The blot shown is representative of three independent experiments.

As the culture/equilibration period for haemocytes was to be kept to a maximum of 2 h, immunoblots of cells incubated in SSS for up to 4 h were analysed for relative ERK and MEK phosphorylation levels. Both ERK and MEK phosphorylation appeared to decrease with time (fig. 3.1.8). ERK and MEK phosphorylation levels were reduced to 53% and 47% ($P \le 0.001$) of that of the control after 4 h incubation in SSS respectively (fig. 3.1.8C). Although following ANOVA the reductions in ERK phosphorylation did not prove to be significantly different at any time point, the decline in MEK activity proved to be significant at all time points studied (fig 3.1.8C).





Figure 3.1.8. Levels of phosphorylated MEK and ERK over 4 hours culture. Western analysis demonstrates that levels of (A) phosphorylated MEK and (B) ERK isozymes decrease over 4 hours at room temperature in SSS. Blots were probed with anti-phospho MEK (1:800) and anti-phospho p44/42 MAPK (1:1000) antibodies (both from NEB). Blots were scanned (C; \pm SEM) and then analysed, and the mean relative changes in MEK (shaded bars) and ERK (white bars) phosphorylation were calculated; (n=3; ** $P \le 0.01$ and *** $P \le 0.001$).

3.1.5.3 Anti-clumping buffers

Although SSS seemed to be an adequate saline for the incubation of haemocytes, the cells were still clumping to some extent. Since previous studies have shown that cell-to-cell contact results in increased ERK activity (Pece *et al*, 2000) the basal levels of ERK phosphorylation in haemocytes could be in part due to clumping of the cells. An anti-clumping buffer (Davids & Yoshino, 1998) and Alsever solution (Yip *et al*, 2001) were therefore used in an attempt to reduce cell-cell adhesion, but retain cell adhesion to the cell culture plates, thus enabling monolayer formation. Both solutions resulted in the complete loss of cell adhesion to the base of cell culture plates. When observed under the microscope, cells appeared rounded and floating in either media; these buffers were therefore deemed unsuitable for the preparation of haemocyte monolayers in experiments.

3.1.6 Effect of temperature on basal levels of phosphorylated ERK 1/2

Previous studies with haemocytes have shown that temperature can have an effect on haemocyte behaviour during the binding and incubation period of monolayers (Ravindranath, 1975; Anggraeni & Ratcliffe, 1991; Ellender *et al*, 1992). The effect of three temperatures on basal levels of haemocyte ERK phosphorylation were therefore determined over both a 30 min and 2 h incubation period with SSS as the saline. When haemocytes were incubated at 20°C for 30 min, a 5-fold increase in ERK phosphorylation was observed when compared to that of haemocytes incubated at room temperature, 25°C (P \leq 0.001; fig 3.1.9 A and C). This is in contrast to cells incubated for 2 h at this temperature, where no significant difference was recorded (fig 3.1.9 B and C). However, a 2 h incubation at 30°C did result in a slight but significant increase in ERK phosphorylation (P \leq 0.05), whilst 30 min at this temperature did not have an affect. Overall, the lowest basal phosphorylations were observed at room temperature and thus all future experiments were performed under these conditions.



Figure 3.1.9. Levels of phosphorylated ERK in haemocytes cultured at different temperatures. Haemocytes were incubated for 30 min (A) and 2 h (B) in SSS at 20°C, ambient temperature (25°C) and 30°C. Membranes were probed with anti-p44/42 MAP kinase (1:1000) and anti- α -tubulin (1:5000) antibodies. The intensity of each band was analysed and normalised against α -tubulin values, the mean relative change in ERK phosphorylation levels (30 min: shaded bars; 2 h: white bars) were then determined (C; n=3; ± SEM; ** P ≤ 0.01, *** P ≤ 0.001 when compared to 25°C (control)).

3.1.7 Basal levels of phosphorylated ERK and MEK over 80 minutes

Although basal ERK phosphorylation was investigated over 4 h, a more detailed analysis of ERK phosphorylation was required before stimulation of the ERK pathway was attempted. Phosphorylation was therefore measured at 5, 10, 20, 40 and 80 min post-binding, so that any changes in phosphorylation seen following the addition of compounds could be attributed to pathway activities and not changes in basal phosphorylation levels. Western analyses revealed that the basal level of phosphorylated ERK 1/2 is fairly constant over an 80 min time period (fig 3.1.10). It was therefore decided to leave the cells for 15 min after the initial binding period before the addition of mitogens; this approach allowed extra time for the pre-incubation of inhibitors with haemocytes prior to stimulation where appropriate.

3.1.8 Trypan blue cell viability assay

Trypan blue was used to determine the number of viable cells present in the haemocyte monolayers immediately after monolayer washing, and again after a 40 min incubation in SSS. Random cell counts of 100 cells using an inverted microscope revealed that there was very little cell death during the 30 min binding period, with a mean viable cell count of 97.3 per 100 cells immediately after washing (table 3.1.2). After a 40 min incubation in SSS the mean viable cell count dropped to 96.6 cells out of 100, demonstrating that cell death is virtually nil during this time. Clearly, most non-viable cells will not have bound to the culture wells and will have been removed during monolayer washing.



Figure 3.1.10. Basal levels of phosphorylated ERK in unchallenged haemocytes over an 80 min post-binding period. Membranes were probed with anti-phospho p42/44 MAP kinase antibody (1:1000; A), and band intensities on blots analysed. Values shown are mean changes in ERK phosphorylation levels (B; $n=3; \pm$ SEM). The blot shown is representative of three independent experiments.

chapter 5				Results
1	Immediately after washing		After 40 min	
	Viable	Non-viable	Viable	Non-viable
Well 1	98	2	97	3
Well 2	99	1	96	4
Well 3	95	5	97	3
Mean	97.3	2.7	96.7	3.3

Table 3.1.2. Viable and non-viable haemocyte numbers determined by the trypan blue cell viability assay. In each replicate, 100 cells were counted at random using an inverted microscope.

3.1.9 Summary of results

Chapter 3

With the aid of anti-phospho-specific antibodies, the active (phosphorylated) forms of ERK 1/2, MEK 1/2 and Elk-1 have been identified in haemocyte cell lysates. ERK has also been detected with 'total' ERK antibodies which recognise phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated ERK and which will be used to monitor ERK 1/2 expression levels in subsequent experiments. Although the antibodies used in this study have been primarily raised against human or rat peptide sequences, they have been used successfully here for the detection of molluscan enzymes, demonstrating a high degree of sequence homology. The cellular distribution of phosphorylated ERK has also been observed by immunocytochemistry, which will prove to be a valuable tool for visualisating any re-location of activated ERK after haemocytes have been challenged with *E. coli* LPS.

By observing the morphology of haemocytes in RPMI and SSS, it has been concluded that SSS is the best medium for the culturing of *L. stagnalis* primary haemocyte monolayers. By incubating haemocytes at different temperatures, it was also concluded that the monolayers should be incubated at room temperature for 30 min to achieve lower basal phosphorylation levels, although morphological observations have shown cells to be viable for many hours post-binding. With a more detailed analysis of basal phosphorylation levels over 80 minutes post-binding, phosphorylation appeared to be most stable between 10 and 20 min. It was therefore concluded that the addition of mitogens should be done 15 min after the wash stage.

SECTION 3.2

ACTIVATION AND INHIBITION OF THE ERK PATHWAY

Since the identification of ERK pathway components in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes had been successful (section 3.1), various components were used to test their ability to modulate ERK pathway activity. Lipopolysaccharide (LPS; a major constituent of the outer cell envelope of Gram-negative bacteria) was used to challenge haemocytes, along with heat killed *E. coli*, zymosan A from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, adrenocorticotropin hormone (ACTH) and noradrenaline. All of these compounds havee been shown to modulate phagocytosis and immune activity in previous studies using haemocytes or mammalian macrophages (Ottaviani *et al.*, 1991a; Sassi *et al.*, 1998; Hiller & Sundler, 1999; Lacoste *et al.*, 2001b; 2001c; Canesi *et al.*, 2002b). The pharmacological inhibitors, U0126 and PD98059, were also used to dissect ERK pathway components and confirm whether or not MEK activated ERK in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes. The kinase activity of the ERK-like protein detected by Western analyses (in section 3.1) was tested using a non-radioactive MAP kinase activity assay.

3.2.1 Challenge of haemocytes with cell-free E. coli LPS

The exposure of mammalian macrophages to LPS can either lead to the activation or down-regulation of the ERK pathway (Weinstein *et al.*, 1992; Sanghera *et al.*, 1996; Foukas *et al.*, 1998; Procyk *et al.*, 1999; Monick *et al.*, 2000). To determine the effect of cell-free LPS on *L. stagnalis* haemocyte ERK pathway components, primary haemocyte monolayers were exposed to 1μ g/ml of cell-free *E. coli* LPS (serotype 0111:B4). Cells were lysed after 2.5, 5, 10 and 20 min exposure to LPS to determine whether ERK, MEK or Elk-1 were activated or inhibited by LPS, and whether this activation (by phosphorylation) was transient or prolonged.

3.2.1.1 Activation of ERK

Western blot analyses revealed that the *L. stagnalis* ERK pathway is activated by cell free LPS. The ERK-like proteins show increased phosphorylation with time following LPS exposure, and this phosphorylation appears to be transient, with maximal activation occurring after 5 min and returning to basal levels after 20 min (fig. 3.2.1.A upper panel). Image analysis of blots followed by one way analysis of variance,

revealed that ERK phosphorylation significantly increased by an average of 70% after 5 min exposure to this compound ($P \le 0.05$; fig. 3.2.1.B). After 20 min exposure, phosphorylation of ERK dropped considerably to 16% below baseline phosphorylation levels (fig 3.2.1A upper panel, and B), using the anti-phospho p44/42 MAPK antibody. Total-ERK 1/2 levels in the samples were also analysed and showed that the expression levels of ERK do not change when cells are challenged with LPS (fig. 3.2.1.A lower panel).

3.2.1.2 Activation of MEK and Elk-1

As LPS resulted in transient ERK phosphorylation, levels of phospho-MEK were also analysed after LPS exposure $(1\mu g/ml)$ over a 20 min period. Since MEK is the upstream activator of ERK, it was thought that a similar time-dependent pattern of phosphorylation may exist. Western analyses showed that MEK phosphorylation (activation) is slightly upregulated in a similar fashion to that seen with ERK (fig 3.2.1.A), with levels of phospho-MEK being higher at 5 and 10 min (a mean of 13% and 17% higher than control values respectively) post exposure (fig. 3.2.1B). However following image analysis of blots, one-way analysis of variance revealed that the mean increases of MEK phosphorylation were not significantly different to control levels. In a similar fashion to ERK, MEK phosphorylation also fell towards control levels (0 min) after 20 min exposure to LPS (fig. 3.2.1B).


Figure 3.2.1. The effect of LPS (1µg/ml) on *L. stagnalis* ERK and MEK phosphorylation levels. (A) Equal amounts of protein were probed with the anti-phospho p44/42 MAP kinase antibody (1:1000) or anti-phospho MEK antibody (1:1000) to detect changes in ERK and MEK phosphorylation with time. Total levels of ERK were also determined using the anti-p44/42 MAPK antibody. (B) ERK immunoblots (n=6; shaded bars) and MEK immunoblots (n=2; white bars) were scanned and phosphorylation levels determined by image analysis; values shown are mean (\pm SEM; * P < 0.05 when compared to control (0 min) values; grey bars = ERK, white bars = MEK).

Western blotting with the anti-phospho Elk-1 antibody, demonstrated a clear increase in Elk-1 phosphorylation, and therefore activation, when haemocytes were exposed to 1μ g/ml LPS for 5 min (fig. 3.2.2).



Figure 3.2.2. Activation of *L. stagnalis* haemocyte Elk-1 by *E. coli* LPS. Equal amounts of protein $(30\mu g)$ were probed with the anti-phospho Elk-1 antibody (1:1000) to detect active Elk-1 in unchallenged haemocytes (a) and in haemocytes challenged with LPS $(1\mu g/ml \text{ in SSS})$ for 5 min (b). The immunoblot is representative of two independent experiments.

3.2.2 Challenge of haemocytes with heat-killed E. coli

Live *E. coli* have been shown to activate the ERK pathway in mussel haemocytes over a 30 min time period in the presence of haemolymph serum when delivered at a ratio of 50:1 (bacteria : haemocytes; Canesi *et al.*, 2002b). *E. coli* were therefore used to challenge *L. stagnalis* haemocytes at a ratio of 20:1 and 40:1 (*E. coli* : haemocyte) to determine their effect on *L. stagnalis* ERK phosphorylation. Immunoblots of both experiments did not show a large increase in ERK phosphorylation in response to *E. coli* exposure (fig 3.2.3). Image analysis of blots revealed ERK phosphorylation levels to rise by only 14% and 24% from control levels after 20 min exposure to *E. coli* at the 20:1 and 40:1 ratios, respectively (fig. 3.2.3B). At 40 min exposure, phosphorylation levels fell to baseline levels, in a similar fashion to that seen with cell-free LPS.







Figure 3.2.3. Haemocytes challenged with heat-killed *E. coli* do not possess significantly increased ERK phosphorylation. *E. coli* were applied to monolayers at ratios of 20:1 (*E. coli* : haemocytes; A, upper panel) and 40:1 (A, lower panel). Image analyses of immunoblots were performed (B; for both n=3; values are mean \pm SEM; shaded bars, 20:1; white bars, 40:1) and analysis of variance did not reveal any significant increases in activity.

3.2.3 Challenge of haemocytes with zymosan A from S. cerevisiae

Hiller & Sundler (1999) showed ERK pathway activity to rise dramatically in macrophages exposed to zymosan A for 20 min. In the current study, zymosan A particles (0.2mg/ml in SSS) were used in the same manner as cell-free LPS to determine whether the ERK pathway in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes is phosphorylated by these particles, over 20 min. Western analyses revealed little change in ERK phosphorylation in response to zymosan A challenge, with the maximum increase in activity being only 7% higher than control levels after 10 min exposure (fig. 3.2.4). As expected, one-way ANOVA revealed that the observed changes were not significantly different from the control.



Figure 3.2.4. The effect of zymosan exposure (0.2mg/ml) on the phosphorylation of haemocyte ERK-like protein. (A) Blots were probed with anti-phospho p44/42 MAPK antibody to detect changes in levels of active ERK after zymosan exposure, before being scanned and analysed for relative band densities (B). Values shown are mean (n=3; values shown are mean \pm SEM); one-way analysis of variance did not reveal any significant differences.

3.2.4 Adrenocorticotropin Hormone (ACTH)

Adrenocorticotropin hormone (ACTH) is widely known as a hormone of higher animals, being excreted by the anterior pituitary and stimulating the adrenal cortex. However, studies have shown that fragment 1-24 of human ACTH enhances phagocytosis by molluscan haemocytes (Ottaviani *et al.*, 1991a) and also cause dramatic cell shape changes in these cells (Sassi *et al.*, 1998). This part of the present study aimed to determine if ACTH could modulate *L. stagnalis* haemocyte ERK activity.

Initially, haemocytes were exposed to 10⁻⁴M of human ACTH fragment 1-24 for up to 120 mins at room temperature. Results show that ACTH does not upregulate phosphorylation of haemocyte ERK over this time period (fig. 3.2.5A). However, levels of total ERK seemed to increase over the 120 min incubation period, suggesting that ACTH amplified expression of these proteins (fig 3.2.5B). The blots obtained from these experiments were a mix of those that showed two very distinct bands, or those that showed only one band; it was therefore not possible to analyse the bands for their relative intensities. However, the three blots obtained clearly showed that ACTH did not increase haemocyte ERK phosphorylation, but did appear to increase its expression after 120 min exposure.



Figure 3.2.5. Exposure of *L. stagnalis* haemocytes to ACTH (10^{-4} M) over 120 min at room temperature does not modulate haemocyte ERK phosphorylation, but results in higher ERK 1/2 expression. Levels of phosphorylated ERK 1/2 (A) and total ERK (B) were determined in haemocyte lysates from cells exposed to 10^{-4} M ACTH (n = 3). Immunoblots were probed with anti-phospho p44/42 MAPK (1:1000) and anti-p44/42 MAPK (1:1000) antibodies respectively.

As total-ERK levels seem to increase when ACTH is present, LPS was added to see if the ERK that appeared to be pooled in the cells would be phosphorylated upon LPS challenge. Western analysis showed that levels of active ERK do not increase in response to combined use of ACTH and LPS, with activity decreasing from control levels (fig. 3.2.6). However, total-ERK increased by 253% at 10⁻⁴M + LPS (fig. 3.2.6), although due to the large range in results this proved non-significant when ANOVA was applied. Total-ERK levels were at their highest when cells were exposed to 10⁻⁴M, 10⁻⁷M and 10⁻¹⁰M all with LPS. (fig. 3.2.6), which is interesting as these concentrations are the highest reported in molluscs and only peak at these concentrations when the animal is under stress. The apparent pooling of ERK in the cells suggests that cells are preparing for a quick defence response by phosphorylating the already stored protein, although LPS may not be the correct mitogen to elicit this response. As ACTH was reconstituted with 2% acetic acid, control cells were exposed to 0.005% acetic acid and SSS, with no difference in ERK activity seen between the two control groups (data not shown).



Figure 3.2.6. Haemocytes exposed to ACTH and LPS do not possess increased ERK activity, but have increased ERK expression. Immunoblots show level of phospho-ERK (A; upper panel) and total-ERK (A; lower panel) in lysates from haemocytes exposed to ACTH $(10^{-19} - 10^{-4}M)$ for 150 min with LPS $(10\mu g/ml)$ for 5 min (n = 3). Control cells were exposed to acetic acid (0.005%), with no difference seen between phospho-ERK levels in these cells and those exposed to SSS. Blots were then analysed for relative band densities for total-ERK (shaded bars) and phospho-ERK (white bars) (B; ± SEM).

3.2.5 Noradrenaline

Noradrenaline, a catecholamine produced by the neuroendocrine system and by immune cells in molluscs (Lacoste *et al.*, 2001a; 2002a), has been shown to increase levels of phosphorylated p44/42 MAPK in rat pinealocytes (Mackova *et al.*, 2000). In oyster haemocytes noradrenaline has resulted in increased phagocytosis and the production of reactive oxygen species (Lacoste *et al.*, 2001b; 2001c). In the current study, *L. stagnalis* haemocytes were exposed to 3 different doses of noradrenaline (0.1 – 10μ M in SSS) for 0 - 20 min to determine the effects of this compound on ERK phosphorylation levels. It was found that noradrenaline alone does not enhance the phosphorylation of ERK isoforms in haemocytes (fig. 3.2.7 A-C), which was confirmed when the bands on the Western blots were analysed for their relative intensities (fig. 3.2.7D).

Noradrenaline (1 μ M) was also combined with 10 μ g/ml *E. coli* LPS in an attempt to upregulate haemocyte ERK phosphorylation. This higher concentration of LPS was used to try to elicit a stronger response by the haemocytes. The combined use of noradrenaline with LPS resulted in an increase in ERK phosphorylation at 40 min exposure to noradrenaline and a subsequent 5 min exposure to noradrenaline and LPS (fig. 3.2.8), with activity rising by 79% from control levels (fig. 3.2.8). ANOVA revealed that the observed differences were not statistically significant; this was due to the relatively large variability between the experiments.



Figure 3.2.7. Haemocyte ERK activity is not modulated by noradrenaline. Haemocytes were exposed to 0.1μ M (A), 1μ M (B) and 10μ M (C) noradrenaline for 0 - 20 min at room temperature. Image analysis was performed on scanned blots (D; n = 3; \pm SEM; grey bars 0.1μ M; white bars 1μ M; hatched bars 10μ M). Analysis of variance did not reveal any significant differences.



Figure 3.2.8. Mean haemocyte ERK 1/2 phosphorylation levels are increased by noradrenaline and LPS. Haemocytes were incubated with noradrenaline over 40 min with an additional 5 min exposure to both noradrenaline and *E. coli* LPS (A; $10\mu g/ml$ in SSS; n = 3). An LPS control (5 min in SSS; $10\mu g/ml$) was also performed (A; LPS). Image analysis was performed on blots (B; \pm SEM), analysis of variance did not reveal significant differences.

3.2.6 Blockade of MEK 1/2 phosphorylation

In mammalian cells, MEK lies directly upstream of ERK and activates it. To confirm that the MEK-ERK signalling module has been conserved in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes, pharmacological inhibitors were used to block the kinase activity of MEK. The effect of MEK blockade on ERK phosphorylation levels was then determined.

3.2.6.1 U0126

The highly selective inhibitor of MEK 1 and MEK 2, U0126, was pre-incubated with *L*. *stagnalis* haemocytes at a range of concentrations, for 30 min at room temperature prior to challenge of haemocytes with LPS for 5 min. This inhibitor resulted in a decrease in ERK phosphorylation levels in a dose-dependent manner, with 10µM resulting in total blockade of ERK phosphorylation following challenge (fig. 3.2.9). Methanol (at 0.1% final concentration), the vehicle for U0126, did not affect haemocyte ERK phosphorylation levels, since these remained similar to cells exposed to SSS alone. Image analysis followed by analysis of variance revealed that 0.1µM U0126 significantly reduced ERK phosphorylation by 45% ($P \le 0.05$; fig. 3.2.9), and concentrations of 1 and 10µM U0126 reduced phosphorylation levels to 18% and 2% of control values respectively ($P \le 0.001$; fig. 3.2.9).

Immunocytochemistry was also performed on haemocytes exposed to LPS and to 10μ M U0126 for 30 min prior to LPS challenge. The results obtained confirm those seen with Western analyses (fig. 3.2.1); haemocytes exposed to LPS showed increased ERK phosphorylation compared to the control with an apparent clustering of ERK at the periphery of the nucleus (fig 3.2.10 A and B). When cells were treated with 10μ M U0126, inhibition of ERK phosphorylation after LPS treatment was clearly seen (fig. 3.2.10C). A total blockade of ERK activation was not, however, seen with immunocytochemistry; this could be due to any 'remaining' active MEK that was phosphorylated before U0126 addition, acting on ERK. Control cells exposed to methanol (the vehicle for U0126), did not appear to have a different distribution or level of phosphorylated ERK when compared to cells incubated in SSS alone.



Figure 3.2.9. The MEK inhibitor, U0126, blocks ERK phosphorylation in a dose responsive manner. Cells were pre-incubated with U0126 (0.001 – 10 μ M), vehicle (control) or SSS only (0) for 30 min prior to challenge with 10 μ g/ml *E. coli* LPS. Equal amounts of protein were probed with anti-phospho p44/42 MAPK antibody dilution (A) and blots analysed for band intensities (B; n = 3; values shown are mean ± SEM; ANOVA * $P \le 0.05$; *** $P \le 0.001$).









3.2.6.2 PD98059

Pre-incubation of haemocytes with the MEK 1 inhibitor, PD98059, for 30 min prior to LPS challenge resulted in reduced ERK activity in a dose-dependent manner (fig 3.2.11A). 100 μ M PD98059 significantly reduced ERK phosphorylation to 61% ($P \le 0.05$; fig. 3.2.11B) that of the control. As PD98059 only inhibits the ability of MEK 1 to act on ERK, the high level of phosphorylated ERK remaining suggests that haemocytes rely heavily on MEK 2 activity for ERK phosphorylation.



Figure 3.2.11. The MEK 1 inhibitor, PD98059, reduces ERK phosphorylation in *L.* stagnalis haemocytes. Cells were pre-incubated with PD98059 ($0.01 - 100\mu$ M), vehicle (control) or SSS only (0) for 30 min prior to challenge with 10μ g/ml *E. coli* LPS. Equal amounts of protein were loaded into the gel and blots were probed with anti-phospho p44/42 MAPK antibody (1:1000) (A). Blots were analysed and mean changes in ERK phosphorylation levels are shown (B; n = 3; ± SEM; ANOVA * P ≤ 0.05).

3.2.7 Non-radioactive MAP kinase activity assay

Although haemocyte ERK-like proteins have been identified as described in section 3.1, it is important to demonstrate that the immunoreactive protein possesses kinase activity. This was done using a non-radioactive MAP kinase activity assay (developed by NEB). Briefly, phosphorylated ERK 1/2 was immunoprecipitated from haemocyte lysates, and the kinase activity of the immunoprecipitated proteins was tested by incubating it with an Elk-1 fusion protein and ATP. The samples were then electrophoresed and Western blots were probed for phosphorylated Elk-1, the target of ERK 1/2. Results obtained show that *L. stagnalis* ERK-like proteins isoforms do indeed possess kinase activity, due to the presence of phosphorylated Elk-1 in samples containing immunoprecipitated phospho-ERK from haemocytes (fig. 3.2.12).



Figure 3.2.12. L. stagnalis haemocyte ERK possesses kinase activity towards Elk-1. Positive control samples (a) were spiked with 20ng pure ERK 2, unstimulated haemocyte cell lysates (b), 10μ g/ml LPS stimulated cell lysates (c), and 10μ M U0126 inhibited cell lysates (d) were prepared. Blot is representative of three independent experiments.

Immunoprecipitates derived from cells which had not been stimulated by LPS exhibited stronger kinase activity than those of cells which had been challenged (fig. 3.2.12). This does not fit in with the hypothesis that stimulated cells should have more phosphorylated ERK, and thus possess stronger kinase activity towards Elk-1. One explanation could be that active ERK in challenged cells could be associating with the cytoskeleton making it harder to extract and subsequently immunoprecipitate. However, the use of U0126 confirmed that it is only haemocyte ERK that is being precipitated and acting on Elk, since when the activation of ERK is blocked, so too is the activation of the Elk-1 transcription factor (fig. 3.2.12).

3.2.8 Summary of results

The results obtained in this section suggest that the most potent mitogen in activating L. *stagnalis* haemocyte ERK is cell-free LPS, which results in a transient phosphorylation over 20 min. The rapid phosphorylation of ERK, with maximal levels seen at 5 min post exposure to LPS, suggests that the haemocytes are able to produce a relatively quick response when potentially harmful organisms are present. It was surprising that heat-killed *E. coli* did not have a significant effect on ERK phosphorylation, as it is LPS on the outer surface of the bacteria that would be eliciting the haemocyte response. Although zymosan A, ACTH (fraction 1-24) and noradrenaline have all been shown to activate immune responses in gastropod molluscs, they do not appear to upregulate ERK pathway activity in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes. These compounds could of cause affect other signalling pathways, and this possibility warrants further investigation.

The ability of the MEK inhibitors, PD98059 and U0126, to significantly reduce ERK phosphorylation confirms that MEK is indeed upstream of ERK, and that kinase activity of MEK is required for the activation of the haemocyte ERK like proteins. The relatively high levels of remaining ERK activity after use of PD98059 suggest that haemocytes rely heavily on MEK 2 for ERK phosphorylation or that this inhibitor is less effective at inhibiting molluscan ERK 1 than mammalian ERK 1.

The use of the kinase activity assay demonstrated that the immunoreactive proteins detected with the anti-phospho MAPK antibody do possess kinase activity towards the conserved transcription factor Elk-1. Overall, it appears that as in mammalian systems the ERK signalling module in *L. stagnalis* functions as a kinase cascade involving MEK, ERK and Elk-1 like proteins.

SECTION 3.3

FUNCTION OF ERK-LIKE PROTEINS IN L. STAGNALIS HAEMOCYTES

To assess the function of the ERK-like proteins in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes, phagocytosis assays were performed with various pharmacological inhibitors. The aim of the study was to block the kinase activities of various upstream regulators of ERK and subsequently measure the phagocytic capability of the haemocytes. The signal from internalised fluorescent 'bioparticles' was measured with a spectrofluorometer after haemocytes had been incubated with bioparticles for 1 h; the fluorescence of any extracellular bioparticles' was quenched with trypan blue. Throughout the incubation period, pharmacological inhibitors remained in the wells, to ensure the effects of these inhibitors on the haemocytes lasted throughout the experiment.

3.3.1 The effects of MEK 1/2 inhibitors on phagocytosis

In previous experiments, U0126 (10µM) was shown to reduce ERK phosphorylation levels significantly to 2% of control values (ANOVA $P \le 0.001$; fig. 3.2.9), by blocking the kinase activity of MEK 1/2. A dose-responsive reduction in phagocytosis of "bioparticles" was observed with this inhibitor, with 100µM U0126 reducing phagocytic activity by 80% ($P \le 0.001$; fig. 3.3.1A). Since ERK phosphorylation was seen to be blocked by 10µM U0126 (fig 3.2.9), it was surprising that this dose did not result in a large decrease in phagocytosis; phagocytic activity was only reduced by 13.5% (fig. 3.3.1A). A possible reason for this could be that the incubation period in U0126 for phagocytosis assays was 1 h longer than that of previous experiments involving Western blotting, so cells may have recovered from the effect of this inhibitor, therefore, a higher concentration may have been required for a longer lasting effect.

3.3.2 The effects of MEK 1 inhibitors on phagocytosis

In contrast to U0126, PD98059 only inhibits MEK 1. Western analysis showed this inhibitor to block ERK activity in a dose-responsive manner, with the greatest concentration (100 μ M) reducing activity to 61% of control levels ($P \le 0.05$; fig. 3.2.11). As expected, this dose of the inhibitor did not reduce phagocytic activity towards the 'bioparticles' as dramatically as U0126, and only inhibited phagocytosis by



Figure 3.3.1. Inhibition of haemocyte phagocytic activity with MEK inhibitors, (A) U0126 and (B) PD98059. Haemocytes were pre-incubated in each inhibitor for 30 min prior to the addition of *E. coli* 'bioparticles'. Values shown are mean (\pm SEM; n = 6). * P < 0.05 and ** P < 0.001, when compared to control values.

25% ($P \le 0.05$; fig. 3.3.1B). This result further suggests that haemocytes rely on MEK 2 kinase activity to mount an efficient immune response.

3.3.3 The effects of Ras inhibition on phagocytosis

To assess the role of Ras in the phagocytic responses of haemocytes, the farnesylation inhibitor, FTase inhibitor I, was applied to the cells. Phagocytosis was reduced in a dose-responsive manner by the FTase inhibitor, with 50 and 100µM reducing phagocytic activity to 75% and 61% of control levels, respectively ($P \le 0.05$; fig. 3.3.2). This partial inhibition suggests that both Ras-dependent and Ras-independent pathways lead to ERK activation and subsequent phagocytosis in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes.



Figure 3.3.2. The inhibition of phagocytosis by blockade of Ras farnesylation. Haemocytes were pre-incubated with FTase inhibitor I for 30 min prior to the addition of *E. coli* 'bioparticles'. Values are means (\pm SEM; n = 6; * $P \le 0.05$, when compared to control values).

3.3.4 The effects of Protein Kinase C inhibition on phagocytosis

It was previously demonstrated that 10μ M of the PKC inhibitor GF109203X inhibited *L. stagnalis* haemocyte PKC phosphorylation significantly (Walker & Plows, 2003), but the role of PKC in haemocyte phagocytic responses was not known. This study revealed that GF109203X (10 μ M) significantly reduced phagocytosis of 'bioparticles'

by 44%, confirming that phagocytosis can occur, but not as efficiently, in the absence of PKC phosphorylation and, therefore, activity (fig. 3.3.3).

The inhibitors GF109203X and PD98059 were used in conjunction to test the importance of both PKC and MEK activity to the phagocytic response of *L. stagnalis* haemocytes. The combined use of the two inhibitors (10 μ M GF109203X and 100 μ M PD98059) resulted in a 56% reduction in phagocytosis ($P \le 0.05$; fig. 3.3.3), which is greater than that seen with just GF109203X (10 μ M) alone.

GF109203X was also used in conjunction with U0126 to assess the haemocytes requirement for activity of both PKC and the two MEK isozymes. When 10 μ M GF109203X was used in conjunction with a high dose of U0126 (100 μ M), phagocytic activity was reduced to 36.6% which was surprising, as this is a higher level of activity than using just U0126 (100 μ M) alone (reduction of 80.9%; fig. 3.3.1). This could be due to other pathways becoming active in the cells when PKC and both MEK isozymes are inhibited. This is further supported by the relatively low reduction in phagocytosis when a combination of 10 μ M GF109203X and 10 μ M U0126 was used (39% reduction; $P \le 0.001$).



Figure 3.3.3. The effect of blocking PKC and MEK 1/2 activity on phagocytosis by L. stagnalis haemocytes. Haemocytes were pre-incubated with U0126 or PD98059 in combination with GF109203X for 30 min prior to addition of E. coli 'bioparticles'. Values shown are mean (\pm SEM; n = 6). * $P \le 0.05$ and *** $P \le 0.001$ when compared to control values.

3.3.5 The effect of Protein Kinase A inhibition on phagocytosis

The effect of the highly selective Protein Kinase A (PKA) inhibitor, KT5720, on the phagocytic response of haemocytes was tested. At concentrations of 50 and 100nM KT5720 did not have a significant effect on phagocytosis, since the fluorescence signal from internalised bioparticles was only reduced by 8.9 and 13.3%, respectively (fig. 3.3.4). This suggests that PKA does not play a major role in haemocyte phagocytic activity, and therefore confirms that PKA does not activate the ERK pathway in these cells when challenged with bioparticles.



Figure 3.3.4. Lack of inhibition of haemocyte phagocytic activity with the PKA inhibitor, KT5720. Haemocytes were pre-incubated with KT5720 (50 or 100nM) for 30 min before the addition of *E. coli* 'bioparticles'. Mean phagocytic activity is shown (\pm SEM; n = 6). ANOVA revealed no significant differences between treatments.

3.3.6 The effect of phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase inhibition on phagocytosis

Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI-3-K) is known to play a key role in phagocytosis by macrophages (reviewed by Gillooly *et al.*, 2001), but its role in haemocyte phagocytic activity has not yet been investigated. *L. stagnalis* haemocytes were therefore exposed to the selective PI-3K inhibitor, LY294002, to determine whether or not PI-3K inhibition effects the phagocytic response. Haemocytes exhibited reduced

Chapter 3

phagocytosis in a dose-dependent manner in response to this inhibitor (fig. 3.3.5). Moreover, at the highest concentration LY294002 (10µM) reduced 'bioparticle' internalisation significantly by 62% ($P \le 0.001$; fig 3.3.5). Lower doses of LY294002 also resulted in highly significant reductions in haemocyte phagocytic activity, with 0.1µM and 1µM reducing phagocytosis by 22% and 43% respectively ($P \le 0.001$; fig 3.3.5). These findings demonstrate that PI-3K plays an important role in haemocyte phagocytosis.



Figure 3.3.5. Reduction in 'bioparticle' phagocytosis as a result of PI-3K inhibition. Haemocytes were pre-incubated with LY294002 (0.1 – 10μ M) for 30 min before the addition of *E. coli* 'bioparticles'. Mean phagocytic activity is shown (± SEM; n = 3; *** $P \le 0.001$, when compared to control values).

3.3.7 Summary of results

The use of pharmacological inhibitors to identify which pathways regulate phagocytic activity has been extremely successful in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes. By blocking MEK 1/2 activity (with U0126), the lowest level of phagocytosis was recorded, confirming that ERK phosphorylation is required for this defence response. The inhibitor PD98059 (a MEK 1 inhibitor) only partially reduced phagocytosis, which suggests that MEK 2 activity is vital for ERK phosphorylation and subsequent phagocytosis. Results

Chapter 3

with the farnesylation inhibitor (FTase inhibitor I) suggest that haemocyte phagocytosis relies on Ras-dependent and Ras-independent mechanisms, which could have involved PKA activity. However, by using the PKA inhibitor, KT5720, this possibility was discounted, since blocking PKA activity did not have a significant affect on phagocytosis. One protein found to be heavily involved in phagocytosis was phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase. By blocking the activity of this enzyme, phagocytosis was significantly reduced, which not only implies the presence of PI-3-K in haemocytes, but also demonstrates that the function of this protein has been conserved in both mammalian macrophages and molluscan haemocytes.

SECTION 3.4

EFFECT OF MONOSACCHARIDES ON ERK, PKC AND PHAGOCYTOSIS

A study was carried out with albumin-linked monosaccharides to assess how they affect ERK and PKC activity and phagocytosis by haemocytes. The monosaccharides, galactose and fucose, were used since these sugars are key components of the outer coat of helminth larvae and adults (the glycocalyx). To determine whether haemolymph components could also alter the responses of haemocytes to sugars, studies were carried out in the presence or absence of haemolymph.

3.4.1 Effect of sugars on ERK and PKC activity

3.4.1.1 Effect on ERK and PKC in the absence of haemolymph

In the absence of haemolymph, exposure of haemocytes to either BSA- galactose or BSA-fucose resulted in reduced levels of ERK phosphorylation (Fig. 3.4.1A). This effect was most prominent when haemocytes were exposed to 400nM BSA-galactose or 800nM BSA-fucose, since at these concentrations ERK phosphorylation was significantly reduced by 54% and 50%, respectively ($P \le 0.05$, Fig. 3.4.3A). Moreover, the inhibitory effect of albumin-linked fucose on ERK phosphorylation appeared to be dose-dependent. The combined use of albumin-linked sugars also resulted in a dose-responsive decline in ERK phosphorylation (Fig. 3.4.1A) with 800nM of BSA-galactose/BSA-fucose reducing phosphorylation by 67% ($P \le 0.01$; Fig. 3.4.3A). The use of 800nM galactose/fucose gave the largest overall reduction in ERK activity. One-way analysis of variance did not reveal any significant differences within the sugar groups (i.e. 200nM fucose was not significantly different to 400 or 800nM). For controls, haemocytes were incubated in SSS or BSA (800nM) and no differences in ERK phosphorylation were observed in cells incubated in either solution.

PKC phosphorylation levels were also reduced when haemocytes were exposed to sugars in the absence of haemolymph (Fig. 3.4.2A). The effect of BSA-galactose was dose-responsive with phosphorylation levels being significantly reduced by 56% and 73% at 400nM and 800nM, respectively ($P \le 0.01$ and $P \le 0.001$; Fig. 3.4.3B). Analysis of variance between galactose concentrations revealed that the phosphorylation levels seen with 200nM were significantly different to those seen with 800nM ($P \le 0.05$). Phosphorylation of haemocyte PKC was also reduced in the presence of BSA-fucose, but at the higher doses, the inhibitory effects were less than seen with galactose (Fig. 3.4.2A). Interestingly, the combined use of BSA-galactose and BSA-fucose gave highly significant reductions in PKC phosphorylation at all three concentrations (Fig. 3.4.2A), with sugars at 200nM, 400nM, and 800nM suppressing phosphorylation levels to 36%, 24% and 8% of the control respectively ($P \le 0.001$; fig 3.4.3B). As for phospho-ERK experiments, controls were performed with SSS and BSA (800nM), with no differences in the phosphorylation status of PKC were observed following incubations in these sugars.

3.4.1.2 Effect on ERK and PKC activity in the presence of haemolymph

In contrast to results obtained in the absence of haemolymph, with haemolymph present, haemocyte ERK phosphorylation was not significantly reduced when sugars were either delivered independently or in combination (Fig. 3.4.1B), suggesting that haemolymph components may play a role in sugar recognition. Image analysis of individual blots revealed that fucose had in some cases increased ERK phosphorylation, although overall no significant increase was found (Fig. 3.4.3A), neither were there any significant differences within sugar groups.

In contrast to ERK phosphorylation, PKC phosphorylation levels were reduced in the presence of haemolymph when BSA-sugars were delivered either separately or in combination (Fig. 3.4.2B). Whereas BSA-galactose only caused a significant reduction (45%) in PKC phosphorylation at 800nM ($P \le 0.001$; Fig. 3.4.3B), BSA-fucose resulted in significant reductions of PKC phosphorylation at all concentrations (Fig. 3.4.3B). Exposure to albumin-linked fucose at 200nM, 400nM and 800nM resulted in PKC phosphorylation levels being reduced to 68% ($P \le 0.05$), 65% ($P \le 0.05$) and 36% ($P \le 0.001$) of control levels, respectively (Fig. 3.4.3B). The effect of fucose proved highly dose-responsive, with the effects of 200nM being significantly different to those of 800nM ($P \le 0.05$). When used in combination, BSA-galactose and BSA-fucose inhibited PKC phosphorylation more than ERK phosphorylation, with all concentrations of sugars mediating significant effects ($P \le 0.001$; fig. 3.4.3B). As for experiments without haemolymph, controls were performed with SSS and BSA (800nM), and these different solutions did not have any different effects on ERK phosphorylation.



Results



Figure 3.4.1. Western blots showing ERK phosphorylation after haemocyte exposure to albumin-linked monosaccharides. Haemocytes were exposed to the relevant sugar, or BSA (control) for 1 h at room temperature in the absence (A) or presence (B) of haemolymph. Membranes were probed with anti-phospho p44/42 MAPK antibody (1:1000); blots shown are representative of three independent experiments.



Figure 3.4.2. Levels of phospho-PKC decline in a dose-responsive effect with exposure to sugars with and without haemolymph present. Haemocytes were exposed to sugars, or BSA (control), for 1 h in the absence (A) and presence of haemolymph (B). Membranes were exposed to anti-phospho PKC (pan) antibody; blots shown are representative of three independent experiments.





3.4.1.3 Changes in the cellular location of ERK when exposed to sugars

Western analyses of cells exposed to sugars allowed the levels of active ERK to be monitored. However, immunocytochemistry was applied to these cells in hope of monitoring the cellular distribution of active ERK isozymes after haemocytes were incubated with the corresponding sugar for 1 h with or without haemolymph. With LPS it was observed that active ERK redistributes to the nucleus, with clustering of the enzymes in particular at the periphery of the nuclear membrane (fig. 3.2.10).

Haemocytes exposed to BSA (control; fig. 3.4.4A) had phospho-ERK equally distributed in the cytoplasm, with clustering at the periphery of the nuclear membrane (thus making this membrane highly visible). In contrast, haemocytes exposed to BSA-galactose (800nM) in the absence of haemolymph had active ERK isozymes predominantly at the cell periphery of the cells (fig. 3.4.4B). This was also true of those cells exposed to galactose (800nM) with haemolymph (fig. 3.4.4C), although the effect is much more marked with haemolymph present. Fucose (800nM) did not have such a noticeable effect when applied to the cells without haemolymph (fig. 3.4.4E). Active ERK appeared to be solely in the nuclear region of the haemocytes, with hardly any fluorescence from ERK appearing in the cytoplasm. However, when haemocytes were incubated with fucose and haemolymph it is highly apparent that the phospho-ERK isozymes are located in the cytoplasm at the cell periphery of the cells (fig. 3.4.4D).





126

3.4.2 Effect of sugars on phagocytosis by haemocytes

3.4.2.1 In the absence of haemolymph

Haemocytes exposed to BSA-fucose in the absence of haemolymph displayed significantly reduced phagocytic activity ($P \le 0.001$; fig. 3.4.5A), with 800nM BSA-fucose resulting in the lowest level of 'bioparticle' internalisation (9% of control levels; fig. 3.4.5A). Phagocytosis was also reduced following exposure to BSA-galactose (fig. 3.4.5B). In the absence of haemolymph, phagocytosis was significantly reduced to 12% of control levels when haemocytes were exposed to 800nM BSA-galactose, with lower concentrations of BSA-galactose also mediating significant effects ($P \le 0.001$).

3.4.2.2 In the presence of haemolymph

In contrast to in the absence of haemolymph, in the presence of haemolymph, the highest concentration of BSA-fucose (800nM) significantly increased haemocyte phagocytic activity by 77% ($P \le 0.05$; Fig. 3.4.5A). As expected, two-way analysis of variance revealed that there was a significant effect of haemolymph on the phagocytic activities following sugar exposure ($P \le 0.001$; fig 3.4.5A & B). Interestingly, when haemolymph was present, the highest dose of galactose (800nM) reduced haemocyte phagocytic activity to 2% of control levels ($P \le 0.001$; fig. 3.4.5B). In addition, independent T-tests revealed significant differences between levels of phagocytosis with and without haemolymph following galactose exposure ($P \le 0.01$).

3.4.2.3 Combined use of galactose and fucose

One-way analysis of variance revealed that phagocytosis was also significantly reduced by all concentrations of the combined sugars, in the presence or absence of haemolymph ($P \le 0.001$; Fig. 3.4.5C). The effect of combined sugar exposure on phagocytic activity was however reduced when haemolymph was present, such that haemolymph preserved the phagocytic activity to approximately 4-5 times that seen in



Figure 3.4.5. Phagocytic activity of haemocytes exposed to BSA-conjugated fucose (A), galactose (B) or combined sugars (C) in the absence (grey bars) and presence (white bars) of haemolymph. Values shown are mean phagocytic activities ($n = 6; \pm SEM$). * P < 0.05, *** P < 0.001 when compared to control (BSA) values.

the absence of haemolymph, at all sugar concentrations (Fig. 3.4.5C). Two-way analysis of variance revealed significant differences between phagocytic activity in the presence and absence of haemolymph following exposure to combined sugars ($P \le 0.001$).

3.4.3 Summary of results

The differences in ERK signalling and phagocytosis observed when haemolymph was present compared to when it was absent, suggest that serum components play an important role in the recognition of fucose and galactose monosaccharides. In the absence of haemolymph the phosphorylation (activity) of both ERK and PKC was reduced by BSA-fucose and BSA-galactose, especially when sugars were used in combination. As expected, in the absence of haemolymph, phagocytic activity generally reflected ERK and PKC activity. With haemolymph present, the contrasting results between PKC and ERK activation following exposure of haemocytes to BSAgalactose and BSA-fucose were surprising. Activity of the ERK pathway was not significantly reduced, and in some cases, fucose appeared to upregulate ERK phosphorylation, although not significantly. In contrast, PKC activity appeared to be inhibited in a dose-responsive manner in the presence of haemolymph, particularly when the two sugars were combined. As phosphorylation of PKC appears to be inhibited in the presence of the sugars, but ERK remains active, PKC does not seem to be a key mediator of ERK-dependent responses in haemocytes following exposure to these carbohydrates. In the presence of haemolymph, albumin-linked galactose inhibited phagocytosis dramatically in a dose-responsive manner, whereas fucose significantly increased haemocyte phagocytic activity. In both cases, there were no significant changes in ERK phosphorylation. Given that galactose suppresses phagocytosis considerably and that ERK activity is required for phagocytosis (section 3.3) it was surprising that galactose did not significantly reduce ERK activation.

SECTION 3.5

DETECTION OF HAEMOCYTE INTEGRIN RECEPTORS AND A FAK-LIKE PROTEIN

To date the presence of integrins on the cell surface of *L. stagnalis* haemocytes and the presence of FAK in these cells had not yet been identified. In this part of the study, integrin-mediated binding was tested with the aid of an integrin mediated cell adhesion kit, and the presence and stimulation of a FAK-like protein was demonstrated with an anti-phospho FAK (Tyr⁹²⁵) monoclonal antibody.

3.5.1 Integrin-mediated haemocyte binding

To determine whether or not *L. stagnalis* haemocytes use integrin-dependent mechanisms for binding to extracellular substrates, 'integrin-mediated binding assays' were done. Two anti-integrin antibody based binding assays were tested, which targeted the $\alpha_V\beta_3$ and β_1 integrins.

With both antibody based binding assays, the control wells contained no antibody and the experimental wells were coated with the respective anti-integrin antibodies. Results obtained with the $\alpha_V\beta_3$ -integrin binding assay suggest that *L. stagnalis* haemocytes rely on engagement of this integrin heterodimer for binding. The experimental wells had a mean absorbance of 0.414 which was significantly greater than that of the control wells which had a mean absorbance of 0.172 ($P \le 0.001$; fig. 3.5.1A). Furthermore, it is evident that haemocytes need calcium and magnesium in the extracellular environment for successful integrin engagement, since significantly less cells were bound in the absence of Ca²⁺/Mg²⁺ salts ($P \le 0.001$ when compared to experimental wells in the presence of salts; fig. 3.5.1A). The non-adherent human leukeumic HL60 cell line was used as a negative control. Indeed, the lack of integrins on these cells resulted in very low levels of binding, with control and experimental wells possessing a mean absorbance of 0.08 and 0.07 respectively (fig. 3.5.1A).

As with the $\alpha_V\beta_3$ -integrin experiments, haemocytes were incubated in PBS with and without Ca²⁺/Mg²⁺ to assess the involvement of β_1 integrin in haemocyte binding. The mean absorbance of the experimental wells (0.21) was significantly greater than that of the control wells (0.15) in the presence of calcium and magnesium demonstrating that β_1 integrin mediates haemocyte binding ($P \le 0.001$; fig 3.5.1B). Similar to $\alpha_V\beta_3$ integrin-mediated binding, cellular adhesion via the β_1 subunit is reliant on the presence
of extracellular salts as demonstrated by the significant reduction in binding in wells lacking Ca²⁺/Mg²⁺ ($P \le 0.05$, fig. 3.5.1B). HL60 cells were also utilised for the anti- β_1 integrin binding assay as a negative control. As expected for these cells, the mean absorbance levels in the control and experimental wells were low and were significantly less than those seen with the haemocytes in the presence of salts ($P \le 0.001$).

3.5.2 Role of integrins in phagocytosis

To determine the importance of haemocyte integrins in phagocytosis, cells were exposed to soluble RGDS peptide (0.02 - 2mM) or vehicle (DMSO) in the presence of *E. coli* 'bioparticles'. Engagement of integrins with RGDS resulted in a dose-responsive reduction in phagocytic activity, with the greatest concentration (2mM) reducing phagocytosis by 88%, when compared to controls ($P \le 0.001$; fig. 3.5.2A). Lower concentrations of RGDS also resulted in significant reductions in 'bioparticle' internalisation compared to the DMSO control (75.7% ($P \le 0.05$) and 57% ($P \le 0.001$) for 0.02 and 0.2mM respectively).

Blockade of haemocyte actin polymerisation, with cytochalasin D $(0.1 - 10\mu M)$ resulted in a dose-dependent reduction in phagocytosis of *E. coli* 'bioparticles' by haemocytes ($P \le 0.001$). The highest dose of this inhibitor (10 μ M) significantly suppressed phagocytic activity to 11% of control levels ($P \le 0.001$; fig. 3.5.2B). Lower concentrations also resulted in significantly lower 'bioparticle' phagocytosis when compared to control (84% ($P \le 0.01$) and 35% ($P \le 0.001$) remaining activity in cells exposed to 0.1 and 1 μ M cytochalasin D respectively). Phagocytic activity in cells exposed to 0.1 and 1 μ M cytochalasin D proved to be significantly different to phagocytosis by cells exposed to 10 μ M ($P \le 0.001$).





Figure 3.5.1. Graph showing haemocyte requirement for calcium and magnesium in the extracellular environment for $\alpha_V\beta_3$ -integrin (A) and β_1 -integrin (B) mediated binding. PBS with and without calcium and magnesium was used to incubate haemocytes in experimental (white bars) and control (grey bars) wells of the 'integrin-mediated cell adhesion assay' kit. Binding occurred at 37°C for 1 h, and absorbance was read at 570nm with a spectrophotometer. Graphs show mean absorbance values (n = 7; ± SEM; * $P \le 0.05$ compared to control without salts, ** $P \le 0.01$ and *** $P \le 0.001$, when compared to control with salts).



Figure 3.5.2. Suppression of haemocyte phagocytic activity in a dose responsive manner by RGDS (0.02 - 2mM; A) and cytochalasin D (0.1 - 10 μ M; B). Cells were pre-incubated with the respective inhibitor for 30 min before addition of 'bioparticles'. Values shown are mean values (n = 12; ± SEM; ANOVA * P < 0.05, ** P < 0.01, *** P < 0.001).

3.5.3 Haemocyte binding and phosphorylation of FAK

The anti-phospho FAK (Tyr⁹²⁵) antibody was used to detect levels of a phosphorylated (activated) FAK-like protein in both suspended and bound haemocytes. An immunoreactive protein of approximately 125kDa was detected in haemocyte extracts with this antibody (fig 3.5.3A). Moreover, the FAK-like protein appeared to be maximally phosphorylated at 30 min post binding (fig. 3.5.3 A and B). When bands were analysed for their relative intensities, cells that had been bound for 30 min had approximately 8 times more phosphorylated FAK than suspended cells ($P \le 0.001$; fig. 3.5.3B). The activation of FAK upon binding appeared to be transient, with FAK phosphorylation dropping to approximately 3 times that of suspended cells after 60 min and returning to control levels after 90 min. Interestingly, levels of phosphorylated FAK in suspended cells were undetectable by Western analyses (fig. 3.5.3A), suggesting that the activation of this protein is dependent on haemocyte binding.

Although the anti-phospho FAK (Tyr⁹²⁵) antibody worked successfully, the antiphospho FAK (Tyr³⁹⁷) did not detect *L. stagnalis* haemocyte FAK. This could be due to this region of *L. stagnalis* haemocyte FAK not having sequence homology to the mammalian form, thus the antibody has not recognised and bound to the protein. Another possibility, although highly unlikely, is that *L. stagnalis* FAK is not phosphorylated on Tyr³⁹⁷, and relies solely on phosphorylation at Tyr⁹²⁵ or another amino acid residue.



Figure 3.5.3. Increased FAK phosphorylation in bound cells. Haemocytes were bound for 30, 60 and 90 min or left in suspension (sus; control; A). Cells were then lysed with boiling sample buffer and membranes probed with anti-phospho FAK (Tyr⁹²⁵; A upper panel) or antiactin antibodies (A; lower panel). The blot shown is representative of three independent experiments (two of which are shown in figure). Bands were analysed for relative intensities (B; $n = 3; \pm SEM; *** P \le 0.001$ when compared to suspended cells).

3.5.4 Effect of the RGDS peptide on FAK and ERK phosphorylation

To assess whether or not integrin engagement by the tetrapeptide, RGDS (2mM), resulted in altered FAK phosphorylation in haemocytes, RGDS was delivered to the haemocytes after a 60 min equilibration period. This equilibration period allowed FAK phosphorylation to return to near basal levels as determined from previous experiments (fig 3.5.4A). Western analyses showed that RGDS treatment resulted in increased phosphorylation of haemocyte FAK on tyrosine over 2 min (fig. 3.5.4A). Analyses of blots for band intensities revealed phosphorylation of the FAK-like protein to increase 2-fold after 1 min exposure to RGDS, and approximately 3.5-fold after 2 min ($P \le 0.05$; fig. 3.5.4B).



Figure 3.5.4. Haemocytes exposed to RGDS have increased FAK phosphorylation. Cells were either exposed to RGDS (2mM) for 1 (b) and 2 (c) min or vehicle (control; a) and lysed with boiling sample buffer. Membranes were probed with anti-phospho FAK (Tyr⁹²⁵) and anti-actin antibodies. Blots were subsequently scanned and analysed for relative band intensities (B). * $P \le 0.05$ when compared to control levels. The blot shown is representative of three independent experiments.

In contrast to FAK phosphorylation, ERK phosphorylation levels did not change significantly when haemocytes were exposed to RGDS, for short (up to 4 min) or long (30 min) periods (fig 3.5.5). Image analysis of blots showed that ERK activity was highest at 4 min exposure to RGDS, although it was not significantly different to control levels when analysed with ANOVA.



Figure 3.5.5. RGDS exposure does not result in increased haemocyte ERK activity. Cells were exposed to RGDS for 1, 2, 4, and 30 min (A; lanes b - e) or vehicle (A; control; lane a). Membranes were probed with anti-phospho p42/44 MAPK and anti-actin antibodies. The blots shown are representative of three independent experiments. Immunoblots were analysed for band intensities and the mean values are shown (B; \pm SEM; n = 3). No significant differences were seen between treatments following analysis by one-way ANOVA.

3.5.5 Summary of results

The presence of integrins and a FAK-like protein in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes has been confirmed with the use of antibodies in binding assays and Western analyses. Integrinmediated binding assays showed that haemocytes rely on $\alpha_V\beta_3$ and β_1 integrin subunits for binding, which is similar to many other cells. In addition, these assays confirmed that haemocytes need calcium and magnesium in the extracellular environment for integrin-mediated binding to occur.

The results obtained using the anti-phospho FAK antibody in binding experiments demonstrate that the phosphorylation of the FAK-like protein is dependent on haemocyte binding. This phosphorylation is transient over a 90 min period, with maximum phosphorylation occurring at 30 min post binding. No FAK phosphorylation was detected in suspended cells.

The integrin-binding tetrapeptide, RGDS, raised FAK phosphorylation significantly when applied to the haemocytes, which suggests that FAK activation is integrinmediated (as observed in many other cell types). Surprisingly, the exposure of haemocytes to RGDS did not raise ERK activity. Integrin engagement by RGDS also resulted in a dose-dependent decline in phagocytic activity, as did use of the actin remodelling inhibitor, cytochalasin D. This suggests that both integrin engagement and the ability of the cytoskeleton to remodel are both vital for phagocytosis. SECTION 3.6

DETECTION OF PHOSPHO-THREONINE-PROLINE HAEMOCYTE PROTEINS BY TWO-DIMENSIONAL SEPARATION

One-dimensional SDS-PAGE followed by Western blotting is the traditional method for the immuno-detection of proteins. However, two-dimensional protein electrophoresis is becoming increasingly used for the 'mapping' of proteins and as a more informative method of protein analyses. The first dimension of separation is isoelectric focusing, which separates the proteins to their respective pH where the overall charge of the protein is neutral, and the second dimension separation being SDS-PAGE. Usually followed by mass spectrometry, two-dimensional analyses allow for protein 'spots' to be excised from the gel and the amino-acid sequence of the protein determined. To date, haemocyte proteins have not yet been separated by twodimensional analyses.

In this study, haemocytes were pre-incubated in U0126 (10μ M) and vehicle (control) prior to two-dimensional separation and Western blotting. Membranes were then probed with an anti-phospho threonine-proline antibody to detect proteins phosphorylated on these adjacent residues. It is known that activated ERK phosphorylates downstream proteins on these sites, so theoretically these proteins should not be phosphorylated in the presence of U0126.

Cells pre-incubated in U0126 (10μ M) displayed fewer protein 'spots' than control cells, and many of the larger proteins were not detected in the central area of the gel (pH 5-6; approximately 40-100 kDa). These proteins (some of which are circled on fig. 3.6.1A) are therefore presumed to be targets of MEK-mediated ERK phosphorylation. Interestingly, cells pre-incubated in U0126 exhibited many proteins phosphorylated on threonine-proline residues which were not seen in control cells, which could be due to other signalling pathways being upregulated in response to MEK 1/2 inhibition.



Results



Figure 3.6.1. Two-dimensional separation of haemocyte proteins followed by Western blotting with anti-phospho threonine-proline antibody. Haemocytes were incubated in SSS (control; A), or 10μ M U0126 for 30 min (B) prior to isoelectric focusing (pH 3-7) followed by SDS-PAGE on a gradient acrylamide gel (4-12%). Blots are representative of three individual experiments.

142

CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION

Intracellular signalling pathways of invertebrate haemocytes have only recently become topic for research by comparative immunologists and biochemists. This recent interest has probably been fuelled by the large amount of research that has been done over the previous decade on signalling pathways of mammalian cells, particularly those of leukocytes.

This study set out to answer the following questions:

- Is the ERK pathway present in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes and is it upregulated by immune challenge?
- What is the function of the ERK pathway in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes?
- Do carbohydrate moieties that mimic those found on the surface coat of schistosomes modulate ERK pathway activity?
- Do *L. stagnalis* haemocytes possess integrin receptors and are they involved in the immune response?

The successful use of biochemical approaches that include Western blotting, kinase assays and the use of pharmacological inhibitors in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes has enabled these questions to be answered.

Chapter 4

4.1 IDENTIFICATION, ACTIVATION AND DISSECTION OF THE ERK PATHWAY IN L. STAGNALIS HAEMOCYTES

4.1.1 Identification of ERK pathway components

Before the signalling pathways of haemocytes were studied in detail, the optimal conditions for the maintainance of haemocyte monolayers had to be determined. Although culture conditions are known for insect haemocytes and other molluscan species (Foukas et al., 1998; Canesi et al., 2002), only a few studies have been published describing work that relies on the maintenance of primary haemocytes from L. stagnalis (Horak et al., 1998a; 1998b). The conditions required for the short-term culture of haemocytes following extraction were established by monitoring haemocyte morphology and basal ERK phosphorylation (activition) levels. Therefore, to do these experiments, anti-active and anti-total ERK antibodies were initially used to detect L. stagnalis haemocyte ERK. ERK pathway components have previously been identified in invertebrates including the medfly, C. capitata (Foukas et al., 1998), the bivalve mollusc M. galloprovincialis (Canesi et al., 2002b), the fruit fly Drosophila melanogaster (Pace et al., 2002) and Biomphalaria glabrata embryonic (Bge) cells (Humphries et al., 2001). Western blotting revealed that phosphorylated ERK 1/2-like proteins were present in unstimulated haemocytes from L. stagnalis, and that these proteins appeared to be approximately 44 and 43 kDa, respectively. This is the first study to report the identification of ERK-like proteins in L. stagnalis haemocytes, and show that the molecular weight of L. stagnalis ERK 2 (approximately p43) is slightly different to that of the mammalian isoform (p42).

A transcription factor downstream of ERK, Elk-1 in mammalian cells, was also successfully identified in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes with an anti-phospho Elk-1 antibody. The identified protein had an apparent molecular weight of 62kDa. Although other studies have identified haemocyte ERK-like proteins (Foukas *et al.*, 1998; Canesi *et al.* 2002) by Western blotting, this is the first study that has measured the kinase activity of the identified proteins by means of a MAP kinase activity assay. This assay relied on the ability of immunoprecipitated ERK 1/2 to phosphorylate the Elk-1 transcription factor. MAP kinase activity was measured in unstimulated and LPS-stimulated

haemocytes. Since LPS-challenged L. stagnalis haemocytes had been found to possess increased ERK phosphorylation in previous experiments, it was thought that these cells would have higher kinase activity levels. However, in contrast, results showed that unstimulated haemocytes possessed higher ERK activity than those cells which had been challenged with LPS. One possible explanation for this could be that following LPS challenge, activated ERK translocates to the cytoskeleton, a known phenomenon in fibroblasts (Reszka et al., 1995), PC12 cells (Morishima-Kawashima et al., 1996) and carcinoma cells (Klemke et al., 1997). Once translocated to the cytoskeleton, phospho-ERK may become tightly bound to the cytoskeletal filaments, thus making it harder to immunoprecipitate ERK 1/2 prior to the activity assay. The MAP kinase activity assay did, however, confirm that, as seen in mammalian cells, the L. stagnalis ERK-like protein(s) phosphorylate(s) the transcription factor, Elk-1. Moreover, by using the highly specific MEK 1/2 inhibitor U0126 to block ERK phosphorylation by MEK, phosphorylated Elk-1 was not detected in the activity assay. This finding confirms that MEK is the upstream activator of ERK-like proteins in L. stagnalis haemocytes, and that MEK-directed activation of ERK leads to phosphorylation of the Elk-1 transcription factor as it does in mammalian systems (Aplin et al., 2001).

Phosphorylated MEK-like proteins were also identified in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes, with use of an anti-phospho-MEK 1/2 antibody. Although two MEK isozymes are known to be present in mammalian cells (Xu *et al.*, 1995), only one band was seen following Western analysis of total haemocyte proteins, which had an apparent molecular weight of 43kDa. This protein was detected using anti-rabbit antibodies, which demonstrates that sequence homology exists between the phosphorylation site of mammalian and molluscan MEK.

To study downstream targets of activated ERK in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes which are phosphorylated on proline-threonine residues, the technique of two-dimensional electrophoresis was applied to total haemocyte proteins from cells exposed to LPS alone, or U0126 with LPS. This is the first study which has employed this technique for haemocyte proteins, and has showed that U0126 blocked proline-threonine phosphorylation of proteins by ERK. Surprisingly, some proteins seemed to become phosphorylated with the addition of U0126, which may be due to other pathways becoming activated resulting from the downregulation of ERK activity.

Owing to the ERK pathway being, in part, a stress-activated signalling pathway, the phosphorylation status of *L. stagnalis* ERK-like proteins was monitored at different temperatures and incubation times, along with cell morphology, to determine the optimal conditions for the short-term maintenance of haemocyte monolayers. The haemocytes were also incubated in two different media, SSS and RPMI, and SSS was found to be the more appropriate media for *L. stagnalis* haemocytes since the cells remained adherent and were less vacuolated for up to 16 h after binding. This media has also been used by other workers (Horak *et al.*, 1998a; Horak & Deme, 1998). The basal levels of ERK phosphorylation in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes were found to be lowest when the cells were incubated for 30 min at room temperature. Although the basal phosphorylation levels of ERK were lower if cells were incubated for longer time periods (for up to 4 h), the cells showed some cytoplasmic vacuoles after approximately 3 hours of incubation in SSS. Therefore, for all subsequent experiments, cells were incubated for 30 min, washed and then incubated for a further 15 min, all in SSS.

The basal levels of haemocyte ERK-like protein phosphorylation were high after the 30 min binding period. This basal activity could be due to the cells binding to the cell culture plate, but also may result from cell-cell contacts which have previously been found to result in high ERK phosphorylation levels (Pece & Gutkind, 2000). To try to limit cell-cell contact and therefore cell clumping, two anti-clumping media were tested: Alsever solution (Yip *et al.*, 2001) and anti-clumping buffer (Davids & Yoshino, 1998). Both solutions resulted in complete loss of haemocyte binding, and therefore monolayer formation. Torreilles *et al.* (1999) have demonstrated that Modified Alsever Solution (MAS) inhibits cell clumping by chelating calcium ions, and that this medium is not suitable to maintain *M. galloprovincialis* haemocyte cultures. Although it proved difficult to reduce the basal levels of ERK phosphorylation for short-term culture, it was still possible to determine any changes in the phosphorylation levels after challenge, or pathway inhibition, and compare these to the control phosphorylation levels.

4.1.2 Activation of the ERK pathway

4.1.2.1 Cell-free E. coli LPS

Previous studies with mammalian macrophages have shown that LPS activates the ERK pathway (Weinstein et al., 1992; Procyk et al., 1999; Monick et al., 2000). Studies with invertebrate haemocytes have also shown that this compound can stimulate ERK, thus demonstrating that LPS-mediated activation of ERK may be conserved in phagocytes (Soldatos et al., 2003). In the present study, L. stagnalis haemocytes were challenged with 1µg/ml LPS for up to 20 min. Maximal activation of the ERK-like protein occurred at 5 min post exposure to LPS, which is a reasonably rapid response to the endotoxin. A similar rapid activation of the ERK pathway in response to LPS has been reported in vascular endothelial cells (Arditi et al., 1995) and canine smooth muscle cells (Luo et al., 2000). A longer exposure was found to be required by primary human monocytes for maximal activation of ERK by LPS (which occurred at 20 min post exposure; Van der Bruggen et al., 1999), RAW 264.7 macrophages (10 min; Watters et al., 2002) and macrophages of the BAC-1.2F5 cell line (10 min; Büscher et al., 1995). The activation of proline-directed kinases upon LPS challenge of RAW 264.7 macrophages has also been reported, which include ERK isozymes (Sanghera et al., 1996). The finding that LPS results in the activation of ERK signalling in both macrophages and L. stagnalis haemocytes, suggests that these cells have similar signalling machinery that may enable their functional responses to be coordinated in a similar manner.

The location of active ERK-like proteins in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes was also visualised by immunocytochemistry. After 5 min exposure to LPS, the active-ERK proteins appeared to translocate towards the nucleus of the cell, and were particularly clustered at the periphery of the nuclear membrane. Clustering of phosphorylated ERK also appeared in the cytoplasm of the haemocytes, which could be due to movement of ERK to focal adhesion points. The clustering of ERK around membrane focal adhesion sites is discussed further in section 4.4.

After 20 min exposure of haemocytes to LPS, the phosphorylation status of ERK-like proteins was below baseline levels, demonstrating the existence of a negative feedback

loop or activation of phosphatases. The negative feedback of ERK to MEK was first discovered in hamster lung fibroblast cells, where ERK was seen to retrophosphorylate, and subsequently inhibit, MEK *in vitro* (Brunet *et al.*, 1994). Negative feedback loops are a common feature in intracellular pathways as a way of preventing overstimulation of the pathway (see for example Lynch & Daly, 2002). Negative control of the ERK pathway upon LPS stimulation has been reported in primary murine macrophages, where MAP kinase phosphatase-1 (MKP-1) is produced upon LPS challenge (Valledor *et al.*, 2000), thus downregulating ERK pathway activity.

Challenge of *L. stagnalis* haemocytes with 1µg/ml LPS also seemed to result in a transient increase in the phosphorylation status of haemocyte MEK-like proteins with time, although activation did not prove to be statistically significant. Upregulation of haemocyte MEK activity could be expected, due to MEK being the only upstream kinase able to directly activate ERK on both threonine and tyrosine residues (Ray & Sturgill, 1988). In the present study, MEK was shown to be maximally stimulated at 5 and 10 min post-exposure to LPS, whereas ERK was shown to be maximally stimulated after 5 min exposure. Although earlier activation of MEK would be expected in the haemocytes to result in the high ERK activity at 5 min (as demonstrated by Hipskind *et al.*, 1994), a similar transient pattern of MEK activity is seen in primary macrophages in response to LPS, although over a 30 min period with maximal activity at 15 min (Beinke *et al.*, 2004).

Although an anti-phospho-Raf antibody was used in an attempt to detect Raf when phosphorylated in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes, Western analysis of total haemocyte proteins with the anti-phospho Raf primary antibody was unsuccessful (purchased from NEB; unreported data). This finding is most likely to be due to *L. stagnalis* haemocyte Raf possessing a different peptide sequence to the mammalian form given that the antibody was raised to a peptide sequence derived from rabbit Raf. However, it would be interesting to study the effect of LPS on *L. stagnalis* haemocyte Raf, as LPS signalling has been reported to be Raf-independent in monocytes (Guthridge *et al.*, 1997) and primary macrophages (Monick *et al.*, 2000), but Raf-dependent in smooth muscle cells (Luo *et al.*, 2000). The lack of success in detecting phosphorylated Raf in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes after LPS challenge could also be due to Raf-independent

signalling to ERK following LPS exposure, as seen in monocytes and primary macrophages.

Many workers have used LPS to challenge insect and mollusc haemocytes to study aspects of immune function, but have not studied the signalling pathways modulated by such challenge (Lorenzon et al., 1999; Sritunyalucksana et al., 1999; Cao et al., 2004). Covalent associations between E. coli LPS, a cell-free protein exocytosed from haemocytes (p47), and a membrane associated protein (mp47), are required for the subsequent internalisation of the LPS molecule into C. capitata haemocytes (Charalambidis et al., 1995; Charalambidis et al., 1996b). Its possible that membrane bound p47 could be a pattern recognition receptor, and act similarly to the mammalian LPS binding protein or cluster of differentiation (CD) proteins found on the macrophage surface. Studies with the crustacean, C. gigas, have shown LPS to cause a decrease in the number of circulating haemocytes in vivo (Lorenzon et al., 1999), suggesting that LPS has a cytotoxic effect on the cells. This phenomenon has previously been demonstrated with rat epithelial cells and murine macrophages, where increased iNOS production and apoptosis was observed in response to LPS (Lakics & Vogel, 1998; Lamarque et al., 2000). It would be advantageous to determine the signalling pathways involved in this LPS-mediated apoptotic response, and to determine whether or not LPS has cytotoxic activity towards L. stagnalis haemocytes.

4.1.2.2 Heat-killed E. coli and other compounds

Since cell-free LPS activated *L. stagnalis* haemocyte ERK significantly, cell-associated LPS should in theory modulate a similar effect. Surprisingly, challenging *L. stagnalis* haemocytes with heat-killed *E. coli* did not significantly alter the activity of haemocyte ERK-like proteins. Live *E. coli* have been used to challenge *M. galloprovincialis* haemocytes by Canesi *et al.*, (2002a), which resulted in upregulation of ERK 2 activity within 5 min of exposure to the bacteria. This response lasted for up to 30 min, however it was p38 MAPK that was most significantly affected when the haemocytes were challenged. p38 MAPK has recently been identified in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes (A. Walker; unpublished results), so the activity of this kinase could easily be monitored by means of Western blotting in response to live *E. coli*; such a study may reveal similarities in p38 MAPK signalling between *L. stagnalis* and *M.*

galloprovincialis haemocytes. Salmonella typhimurium challenge resulted in the activation of ERK isozymes in BAC-1.2F5 macrophages within 5 min of exposure (Procyk et al., 1999), with PI-3K being identified as one of the proteins involved in the signalling to ERK. Hiller & Sundler (1999) found that by challenging macrophages with *Prevotella intermedia*, ERK 1/2 activity was modulated reasonably quickly, with an increase in phosphorylation seen within 5 min. Studies done to date with macrophages and haemocytes clearly suggest that live *E. coli* activate different MAPK pathways, and this is an area of research which warrants further investigation.

Modulation of MAPK pathways by LPS and *E. coli* in macrophages and haemocytes, could be a way of producing reactive nitrogen and oxygen intermediates, compounds which are important in defence responses and aid in the destruction of pathogens. Indeed, the p38 MAPK pathway plays a key role in the production of nitric oxide synthase, an enzyme required for the synthesis of nitric oxide, in RAW 264.7 macrophages via NF- κ B (Chen & Wang, 1998). The challenge of phagocytes with live or heat-killed *E. coli* could result in up-regulation of p38 MAPK and the subsequent production of nitric oxide synthase, which has been shown to be ERK-independent (Chen & Wang, 1998). However, studies performed in our laboratory with *L. stagnalis* haemocytes have shown that U0126 blocks the synthesis of nitric oxide, thus suggesting a role for ERK in the production of reactive nitrogen intermediates (unpublished data; B. Wright).

Cell-free LPS and cell-associated LPS (heat-killed *E. coli*) appeared to elicit different effects on *L. stagnalis* haemocyte ERK. In agreement with this observation, internalisation of cell-free LPS and cell-associated LPS (heat-killed *E. coli*) appear to involve different cellular signalling mechanisms in *C. capitata* haemocytes, with only cell-associated LPS requiring cytoskeletal rearrangement for internalisation (Foukas *et al.*, 1998).

Zymosan A, an insoluble preparation of yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* cells, has previously been shown to be internalised by mammalian macrophages and insect haemocytes (Carballal *et al.*, 1997; Girotti *et al.*, 2004). In this study, challenge with zymosan A did not result in an upregulation of haemocyte ERK activity. However, in peritoneal macrophages, zymosan has been shown to mediate the upregulation of ERK

1/2 significantly (Qiu & Leslie, 1994; Hiller & Sundler, 1999). Zymosan also increases the association of tyrosine phosphorylated proteins with the cytoskeleton in human monocytes (Zaffran *et al.*, 1995). Even though Western analyses did not reveal upregulation of *L. stagnalis* ERK phosphorylation upon zymosan A challenge, basally activated ERK could have migrated to the cytoskeleton, as seen with human monocytes.

Noradrenaline and ACTH are known to be important in the stress responses of bivalve molluscs, with both being released upon exposure to temperature extremes, light and pathogens (Ottaviani et al., 1992; Lacoste et al., 2002a). ACTH (fragment 1-24) is also known to modulate cell shape changes by activating PKA and PKC in M. galloprovincialis haemocytes (Malagoli et al., 2000). As PKC and PKA are known to act upstream of ERK 1/2 in mammalian cells, it is possible that ACTH exerted its effects on the cells via the ERK pathway in invertebrate haemocytes. Lymnaea stagnalis haemocytes were therefore exposed to ACTH at the physiological concentrations known to be present in both stressed and non-stressed bivalve molluscs. The levels of phosphorylated ERK in L. stagnalis haemocytes did not differ between control, or those treated with 'non-stressed' or 'stressed' ACTH concentrations, suggesting that this pathway is not modulated by the presence of extracellular ACTH. However, total-ERK levels in L. stagnalis haemocytes increased in a dose-dependent manner to ACTH, which suggests that expression of the ERK protein was up-regulated by the compound, but that it was not subsequently phosphorylated. To test this, haemocytes were exposed to the highest concentration of ACTH over 120 min, in conjunction with LPS, to try to phosphorylate de novo produced unphosphorylated ERK. However, ERK phosphorylation levels did not increase over time in response to LPS challenge. It is not known why total-ERK levels increased during haemocyte exposure to ACTH; this phenomenon has not previously been reported in other cells, mammalian or invertebrate.

ERK phosphorylation has been shown to be up-regulated in rat pinealocytes in response to noradrenaline (Mackova *et al.*, 2000). This catecholamine also known to increase phagocytosis and reactive oxygen species production in oyster haemocytes (Lacoste *et al.*, 2001a; Lacoste *et al.*, 2001c). Exposure of *L. stagnalis* haemocytes to noradrenaline alone did not result in increased phosphorylation of ERK-like proteins.

However, by pre-incubating haemocytes with noradrenaline and subsequently stimulating the cells with LPS for 5 min, an increase in phosphorylated ERK was observed. This enhanced activity could be due to the effect of LPS alone, since LPS was found to significantly enhance ERK-like protein phosphorylation. More work needs to be done in this area as little is known about the effects of catecholamines generally in gastropod molluscs.

4.1.3 Inhibition of ERK

In mammalian cells, MEK 1/2 is known to phosphorylate (activate) ERK isozymes on threonine and tyrosine residues (Andersen *et al.*, 1990). Although both proteins had been detected in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes in the preliminary experiments, it was not known whether this pattern of sequential activation occurred in *L. stagnalis*.

Two different MEK inhibitors, U0126 and PD98059, were used to block the activation of *L. stagnalis* haemocyte ERK-like proteins by MEK. U0126 blocks the kinase activity of both MEK 1/2 isozymes, whilst PD98059 only blocks the kinase activity of MEK 1. It was clearly seen that MEK activates ERK, since when haemocytes were pre-treated with U0126 and then stimulated with LPS no phosphorylated ERK was detected. However, the use of PD98059 suggested that MEK 2 is important in the phosphorylation of haemocyte ERK-like proteins, since this inhibitor only reduced ERK phosphorylation to 50% of the control phosphorylated ERK levels. U0126 and PD98059 have both been successfully used to block LPS-induced ERK phosphorylation in medfly (*C. capitata*) haemocytes (Soldatos *et al.*, 2003).

The phosphorylation of the transcription factor, Elk-1, by phosphorylated ERK and its inhibition by U0126 was demonstrated in the MAP kinase activity assay and was discussed earlier in this section.

4.2 THE FUNCTIONAL ROLE OF THE ERK PATHWAY IN L. STAGNALIS HAEMOCYTES

To examine the role of cell signalling pathways in *L. stagnalis* haemocyte phagocytosis haemocytes were exposed to *E. coli* fluorescent 'bioparticles', in the presence or absence of pharmacological inhibitors which target signalling intermediates. The extent to which 'bioparticles' were internalised by phagocytosis was determined using a spectrofluorometer, and the fluorescence from any extracellular 'bioparticles' which had not been internalised was quenched with trypan blue. Although the trypan blue was used at a high concentration (2%), it was only in contact with the cells for 2 min before removal, and subsequent measurement of fluorescence signal. Although this study used *E. coli* 'bioparticles' as the target for phagocytosis, other studies focusing on phagocytosis by haemocytes from other species have employed yeast cells (Ishikawa *et al.*, 2000), latex beads (Fryer & Bayne, 1996), live *E. coli* (Foukas *et al.*, 1998) and fluorescent-labelled latex beads (Lacoste *et al.*, 2001b).

To test whether L. stagnalis ERK-like proteins were involved in phagocytosis, haemocytes were pre-incubated with the MEK inhibitors, U0126 and PD98059, before the introduction of E. coli 'bioparticles'. U0126, which inhibits MEK 1 and 2, was the most potent inhibitor of haemocyte phagocytosis, reducing phagocytic activity by 80%. This suggests that haemocyte phagocytic activity is highly dependent on ERK activity, particularly given that Western blotting showed that U0126 completely blocked ERK phosphorylation. Although 10µM U0126 was sufficient to block ERK phosphorylation, as determined by Western analyses, 100µM was required for the blockade of phagocytosis. The higher dose required for inhibition of phagocytic activity may be due to the longer incubation period that was required for the phagocytosis assay. The MEK 1 inhibitor, PD98059, only partially inhibited L. stagnalis haemocyte phagocytic activity, which is in accordance with the results gathered from Western analysis which shows that this inhibitor is less effective at blocking ERK phosphorylation. This further suggests that haemocyte ERK, and thus phagocytic activity, rely heavily on the activity of the MEK 2 isoform. Canesi et al. (2002a; 2002b) found that PD98059 only had a limited effect on haemocyte phagocytosis of live E. coli by M. galloprovincialis haemocytes, and their results are in accordance with those in this study.

Chapter 4

To investigate which signalling pathways, known to be upstream of ERK in mammalian systems, were involved in haemocyte phagocytic activity, inhibitors of PKC, PKA, PI-3K and Ras were all used in an attempt to block signalling to *L. stagnalis* haemocyte MEK. ERK pathway signalling is dependent on PI-3K and PKA activation in many cells including human fibroblasts (Duca *et al.*, 2002). The PKC inhibitor, GF109203X, blocked phagocytosis by approximately 50%, while a combination of GF109203X and PD98059 reduced phagocytosis by approximately 40%. The combination of 100 μ M U0126 and 10 μ M GF109203X resulted in the greatest reduction in phagocytic activity, with remaining phagocytosis reduced to below 40%.

PKC and MAPK signalling is known to occur via Ras (see for example, Cai *et al.*, 2002; Grewal *et al.*, 2003; Zhang *et al.*, 2004), and the involvement of Ras in pahgocytosis was tested by using the Ras farnesylation inhibitor, FTase inhibitor I. By pre-incubating *L. stagnalis* haemocytes with FTase inhibitor I, phagocytosis was reduced by approximately 50%, suggesting that both Ras-dependent and –independent pathways are involved in phagocytosis by these cells. Foukas *et al.* (1998) have previously reported Ras-dependent internalisation of *E. coli* by insect haemocytes, whereas Lamprou *et al.* (2004) have recently demonstrated Ras to be involved in activation of p38 MAPK and subsequent phagocytosis by insect haemocytes.

Since some phagocytic activity remained with PKC, MEK 1/2 and Ras activity blocked, other pathways may have been involved in phagocytosis by *L. stagnalis* haemocytes. These pathways could be Ras-independent pathways that involve PKA or PI-3K signalling. Using pharmacological inhibitors, the involvement of these Ras-independent pathways in *L. stagnalis* haemocyte phagocytosis was assessed.

When the PI-3K inhibitor LY294002 was used, a dose-responsive reduction in phagocytosis was seen, with the highest concentration $(10\mu M)$ resulting in a 60% reduction in phagocytic activity. This indicated that PI-3K plays an important role in phagocytosis by *L. stagnalis* haemocytes. PI-3K has also been found to play an important role in phagocytosis by ascidian haemocytes (Ishikawa *et al.*, 2000). In addition, PI-3K has recently been implicated in the modulation of medfly haemocyte cell shape changes and LPS endocytosis (Soldatos *et al.*, 2003), and this enzyme is also

activated during phagocytosis of *E. coli* by *M. galloprovincialis* haemocytes (Canesi *et al.*, 2002). The phosphoinositide signalling pathway is known to be a potent modulator of immune responses in mammalian cells (reviewed by Frumen & Cantley, 2002; Stephens *et al.*, 2002), and PI-3K activity is greatly enhanced by LPS challenge of primary alveolar macrophages (Monick *et al.*, 2000). Furthermore, Monick *et al.* (2000) showed PI-3K to activate PKC ζ , which then subsequently activates ERK in a Raf-independent manner. Clearly a similar sequence of events could be occurring in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes.

PKA phosphorylation can lead to either inhibition or activation of the ERK pathway in many cell types (Hafner *et al.*, 1994; Schmitt *et al.*, 2002; Miggin *et al.*, 2002; Dhillon *et al.*, 2002; Cancedda *et al.*, 2003). Pre-incubation of *L. stagnalis* haemocytes with the PKA inhibitor, KT5720, did not result in either the reduction or enhancement of 'bioparticle' internalisation, suggesting that this enzyme is not involved in *L. stagnalis* phagocytosis. This appears to be in contrast to phagocytosis in primary mammalian macrophages, which is modulated by intracellular cAMP concentrations, suggesting an involvement of PKA (Rossi *et al.*, 1998). Noradrenaline has been shown to inhibit oyster haemocyte phagocytosis through a cAMP pathway, which subsequently leads to increased PKA activity (Lacoste *et al.*, 2001b). Therefore, use of the PKA inhibitor in this study may block any negative regulation of ERK via PKA, thus resulting in increased/stable phagocytic activity of *L. stagnalis* haemocytes.

Phagocytosis involves cell migration (chemotaxis), attachment to the 'foreign' particle and its subsequent internalisation. Foukas *et al.* (1998) and Lamprou *et al.* (2004) have both shown that ERK pathway activation, via Ras, is required for the internalisation of heat-killed *E. coli* and LPS by medfly haemocytes. From the present study it appears that *L. stagnalis* and medfly haemocytes both require ERK activation for efficient phagocytosis, although *L. stagnalis* haemocytes also possess Ras-independent mechanisms of phagocytosis. Recently, the phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by macrophages has also shown to be mediated by ERK (Kurosaka *et al.*, 2003), demonstrating conservation between macrophages and haemocytes.

4.3 EFFECT OF SACCHARIDES ON L. STAGNALIS HAEMOCYTES

Since molluses are important intermediate hosts for schistosome parasites that possess carbohydrate-rich surface coats, it is surprising that the effects of such carbohydrates on molluse immune cells have been largely overlooked at a molecular level. The effect of *T. ocellata* infection of *L. stagnalis* has been shown to cause a general net activation of the *L. stagnalis* internal defence system (increased number of circulating haemocytes and cell spreading) *in vivo* (Amen *et al.*, 1991a).

With haemolymph absent, the activity of both ERK and PKC was reduced by BSAfucose and BSA-galactose, especially when sugars were used in conjunction. Also, in the absence of haemolymph, phagocytic activity generally reflected ERK and PKC activity; this was expected given the results from the phagocytosis assays that employed pharmacological inhibitors. Whilst other researchers have reported the effects of sugars, such as arabinose and fructose, on haemocyte phagocytic activity (Horak *et al.*, 1998), the present study is the first to demonstrate that key intracellular signalling pathways can be modulated by such sugars leading to downstream effects on immune function.

With haemolymph present, the contrasting results between PKC and ERK activation following exposure of haemocytes to BSA-galactose and BSA-fucose were surprising. Activity of the ERK pathway was not significantly reduced, and in some cases, fucose appeared to upregulate ERK activation, although not significantly. In contrast, PKC activity appeared to be inhibited in a dose-responsive manner in the presence of haemolymph, particularly when the two sugars were combined. Taken together these results suggest that within snails, haemocyte signalling mechanisms can be differentially regulated by carbohydrate exposure. As phosphorylation of PKC appears to be inhibited in the presence of the sugars, but ERK remains active, PKC does not seem to be a key mediator of ERK-dependent responses in haemocytes following exposure to these carbohydrates. ERK can, however, be activated by numerous other signalling components including Protein Kinase A (PKA) (Schmitt and Stork, 2002; Miggin and Kinsella, 2002; Cancedda *et al.*, 2003), Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI-3-K) (Versteeg *et al.*, 2000) and integrin binding which may involve Focal Adhesion

Kinase (FAK) (Irigoyen and Nagamine, 1999; Yu and Basson, 2000; Barberis et al., 2000; Yujiri et al., 2003).

The phagocytic responses of haemocytes in the presence of haemolymph differed following BSA-galactose and BSA-fucose exposure. Albumin-linked galactose inhibited phagocytosis dramatically in a dose-responsive manner, whereas fucose significantly increased haemocyte phagocytic activity by 77%. In both cases, there were no significant changes in ERK phosphorylation levels. The differing effects of BSA-galactose and BSA-fucose on phagocytosis could be due to haemolymph components and fucose acting in concert as an opsonin, thus upregulating the phagocytosis of 'bioparticles'. This is plausible since molluscan serum lectins are known to be able to act as opsonins, as discussed by Horak and Van der Knaap (1997). Clearly, further research into *L. stagnalis* haemolymph lectins needs to be undertaken to gain further insight into the enhancing effect of fucose on phagocytosis.

Given that galactose suppresses phagocytosis by haemocytes considerably and ERK activity has been shown to be vital for efficient phagocytosis, it was surprising that galactose did not significantly reduce haemocyte ERK activation. Levy et al. (2003) have recently reported that galectins (galactose-specific lectins) can bind to integrins on the membrane of Chinese Hamster Ovary (CHO) cells. Integrins are known to be part of the cellular machinery used for phagocytosis in insect haemocytes (Foukas et al., 1998), and galactose specific lectins have been isolated from many invertebrate species. including the fruit fly D. melanogaster and the earthworm Lumbricus terresteris (Hirabayashi et al., 1998; Mann et al., 2000; Chiou et al., 2000; Pace et al., 2002). Integrin activation has been linked to increased ERK activity in a number of cell types including thyroid TAD-2 cells, Hep-3B cells (Illario et al., 2003), neuronal, gonadal and Swiss-3T3 cells (Barberis et al., 2000). Therefore, the low levels of phagocytosis and high levels of active ERK in our system may be due to galectins binding to galactose and subsequent engagement of integrins. The presence of integrins in L. stagnalis haemocytes and their potential role in defence reactions is discussed further in section 4.4.

Immunocytochemistry revealed that following exposure of haemocytes to BSAgalactose, in the presence or absence of haemolymph, phosphorylated ERK was located

Chapter 4

mainly at the cell periphery of haemocytes, but was also diffuse throughout the cytoplasm. The presence of active ERK at the cell periphery following carbohydrate exposure further suggests integrin engagement/activation or ERK binding to focal adhesion sites associated with integrins. These sites are comprised of enzymes such as Focal adhesion Kinase (FAK), an activator of Raf in mammalian fibroblasts (Yujiri *et al.*, 2003). Clearly, the possibility that integrins may be involved in carbohydrate recognition and downstream signalling in molluscan haemocytes needs further investigation.

BSA-galactose and BSA-fucose were chosen for use in this study since they have been shown to modulate molluscan immune responses (Hahn *et al.*, 2000), and because galactose and fucose are major components of the schistosome antigens LacdiNac (LDN) and fucosylated LacdiNac present on intramolluscan stages of the parasite (Nyame *et al.*, 2002). Results obtained in the presence of haemolymph using a combination of sugars may be more representative of a helminth infection, since haemocytes will be exposed to more than one sugar, and snail serum components will also be present. Interestingly, with haemolymph present and both sugars combined, phagocytosis was significantly reduced suggesting a possible mechanism of host immune evasion by schistosome larvae.

Although phagocytosis and encapsulation are different biological responses, the initial recognition events and their effects on downstream signalling pathways are likely to be similar. Our results suggest that parasite-mediated down-regulation of signalling events to facilitate immune evasion could be a strategy employed by extracellular parasites. It is well established that intracellular parasites interfere with host immune function by altering signalling pathway activities and recently *Leishmania* has been shown to secrete phosphatases to switch off ERK signalling in macrophages, thus increasing its chance of survival (Martiny *et al.*, 1999).

This study has demonstrated that fucose and galactose, sugars commonly found on surface coats of schistosome larval stages, are capable of causing down-regulation of ERK and PKC signalling in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes. These sugars also affect the phagocytic activity of haemocytes, an effect that is at least in part due to the modulation of ERK and PKC signalling pathways. The differences in ERK signalling

and phagocytosis observed when haemolymph was present compared to when it was absent, suggest that serum components may play an important role in the recognition of fucose and galactose monosaccharides.

Clearly, further research is needed to fully understand the mechanisms of carbohydrate recognition by haemocytes. It would be interesting to challenge haemocytes with sporocyst surface coats to see if they affect PKC and ERK signalling and modulate behavioural responses in a similar way to BSA-fucose and BSA-galactose. Further characterisation of *L. stagnalis* serum and cell-surface lectins is also required to fully understand the role of humoral immunity in the molluscan immune response. Such research would help elucidate how lectin-carbohydrate binding to the haemocyte surface results in the modulation of intracellular signalling pathways. BSA-conjugated fucose, mannose and galactose have previously been shown to modulate the generation of reactive oxygen species in *B. glabrata* haemocytes (Hahn et al., 2000). It would be very interesting to investigate whether or not this is true for *L. stagnalis* haemocytes, as this could be one of the mechanisms used for killing the larvae of intramolluscan parasites.

4.4 IDENTIFICATION OF INTEGRINS AND FAK-LIKE PROTEIN IN L. STAGNALIS HAEMOCYTES

The FAK/Src complex has been shown to play a role in phagocytosis by insect haemocytes (Metheniti *et al.*, 2001), and more recently, a phosphorylated form of FAK has been identified in sea urchin embryos (Garcia *et al.*, 2004). Integrins have also been identified in cells of many invertebrates such as *Drosophila* (Marcantonio & Hynes, 1988; Holmblad *et al.*, 1997; Miyazawa *et al.*, 2001; Lavine & Strand, 2003). However, our knowledge of molluscan integrins is still relatively poor and is largely restricted to the cloning of a β -integrin subunit from an embryonic cell line derived from the mollusc *B. glabrata* (Davids *et al.*, 1999).

Integrins are known to play a key role in cell adhesion, and as such are particularly important in immune defence mechanisms. With the aid of integrin-based cell adhesion kits, binding of L. stagnalis haemocytes was found to be integrin-mediated and to be dependent on the presence of calcium and magnesium in the extracellular environment. Since integrin clustering is known to activate FAK in mammalian cells (Naik et al., 2003), we set out to determine levels of phospho-FAK in both suspended and adherent haemocytes using an anti-phospho FAK (Tyr⁹²⁵) antibody. Activation of FAK has been reported in skeletal muscle cells upon binding to fibrinogen coated plates (Disatnik et al., 2002), and cell spreading and migration have been found to be enhanced by inducing FAK expression in FAK-null mouse embryo cells (Owen et al., 1999). In the present study, the FAK-like protein in haemocytes that were allowed to bind for 30 min in plastic cell-culture plates had an 8-fold increase in phosphorylation when compared to suspended cells. The phosphorylation of this FAK-like protein was transient, with levels of phosphorylation reduced to near basal levels after 90 min of binding. Moreover, haemocytes in suspension did not appear to have any detectable levels of the phosphorylated FAK-like protein, which further suggests that FAK activity is reliant on cell adhesion in L. stagnalis haemocytes. A similar result was reported by Schlaepfer et al. (1998), who showed that tyrosine phosphorylated FAK is found in cells that are fibronectin bound but not in those that are suspended. Also, cells that are cultured on fibronectin-coated plates possess FAK activity 20 min after plating and this activation is prolonged for up to 6 hours (Schlaepfer et al., 1998). Integrinspecific adhesion of NIH 3T3 cells is also known to activate all components of the ERK pathway (Raf-1, MEK and ERK) for up to 1 hour (Chen *et al.*, 1996).

Using an anti-phospho FAK antibody, Metheniti et al. (2001) have previously demonstrated a specific role for the FAK/Src complex in phagocytosis by insect haemocytes, with FAK being phosphorylated on Tyr³⁹⁷ in the presence of E. coli. In the present study, use of an anti-phospho Tyr397 antibody proved unsuccessful. The fact that the anti-phospho Tyr³⁹⁷ antibody did not work with L. stagnalis haemocyte extracts suggests that the sequence homology around this region of the FAK-like protein in L. stagnalis is not sufficiently homologous to that of mammalian or insect FAK. Since both integrins and FAK have shown to be involved in haemocyte phagocytic activity (Foukas et al., 1998; Metheniti et al., 2001), phagocytosis assays were performed with RGDS. RGDS is an integrin blocking tetrapeptide that has been shown to inhibit phagocytosis in alveolar macrophages (Currie et al., 2000) and fish haemostatic cells (Hill & Rowley, 1998). RGDS has also been used to block integrin signalling in RAW cells (Monick et al., 2002). The use of RGDS in the present study confirmed the involvement of integrin receptors on the surface of haemocytes since this tetrapeptide reduced phagocytic activity. Moreover, blocking actin remodelling with cytochalasin D resulted in a similar effect demonstrating a crucial role for the actin cytoskeleton in phagocytosis by haemocytes. When used at similar concentrations to those used in this study, cytochalasin D has been shown to inhibit FAK activity in NIH 3T3 cells (Aplin & Juliano, 1999). Such inhibition of FAK can also result in amplified signalling to ERK via Shc in fibroblasts (Barberis et al., 2000).

Western analysis showed that RGDS binding to adherent haemocytes resulted in the rapid phosphorylation of the haemocyte FAK-like protein as early as 1 min following exposure. Interestingly, however, haemocyte ERK did not seem to be activated following exposure to this tetrapeptide. Integrin engagement has previously been linked to ERK activation in NIH 3T3 and thyroid TAD-2 cells (Aplin & Juliano, 1999; Aplin *et al.*, 2001; Illario *et al.*, 2003), and FAK activation has also been linked to ERK activation in mouse fibroblast cells (Illario *et al.*, 2003). However, it has also been reported that integrin-mediated activation of MAP kinase can be independent of FAK in fibroblasts (Lin *et al.*, 1997). Furthermore, integrin-mediated activation of FAK in fibroblasts is not necessarily required for signalling to ERK following growth factor

stimulation (Barberis *et al.*, 2000). In contrast, a study with NIH 3T3 cells demonstrated that integrin-mediated activation of MAP kinase can occur, but that it appears to be via a pathway independent of Ras (Chen *et al.*, 1996). FAK overexpression can enhance fibronectin stimulated activation of ERK by approximately 4 fold in human 293 cells, where FAK-mediated association and activation of c-Src was found to be essential for maximal signalling to ERK 2 (Schlaepfer & Hunter, 1997). Although the mechanisms for ERK activation following integrin clustering often seem complex, the results obtained in this study suggest that integrin/FAK downstream signalling is Ras-independent, similarly to that found with fibroblasts, since ERK activity is not upregulated following integrin engagement by RGDS.

Taken together, this study has revealed the presence of integrin-like molecules in *L.* stagnalis haemocytes and has shown that they play a role in phagocytosis of *E. coli* "bioparticles". In addition, integrin engagement results in FAK phosphorylation in these cells. Clearly, it would be interesting to identify the downstream targets of FAK in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes and other proteins recruited to the focal adhesions by integrin engagement. FAK activity also appears to be reliant on Ras (Kwong *et al.*, 2003), and also intracellular calcium and PKC activity (Achison *et al.*, 2001) when cells are stimulated with collagen. PKC has been implicated in integrin-mediated muscle cell spreading (Disatnik *et al.*, 2002), and has also been shown to be a key intermediary in integrin signalling to FAK in many cell types (Vuori & Ruoslahti, 1993; Disatnik & Rando, 1999; Miranti *et al.*, 1999). Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase has also recently been implicated in FAK-independent signalling from the β_1 integrin subunit (Armulik *et al.*, 2004). It would be interesting to see if these pathways integrate integrin-mediated cell signalling events in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes.

4.5 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE STUDIES

Many studies on the defence systems of molluscs have focused on bivalve haemocytes, since these animals are important economically due to them being a major food source. Cell signalling in gastropod haemocytes has, however, been largely overlooked, and this study on L. stagnalis haemocytes has significantly expanded our knowledge of gastropod haemocyte signalling pathways. Diagram 4.1 summarises the protein pathways found in this study, and shows the proposed interactions of the pathways given the results using pharmacological inhibitors. This is the first study to report the detection and stimulation by LPS of the ERK pathway in L. stagnalis haemocytes. The effect of ACTH and noradrenaline on L. stagnalis haemocytes requires further investigation, as results obtained this study were largely inconclusive. Indeed, it would be interesting to see if ACTH and noradrenaline are produced by L. stagnalis haemocytes during stress, as seen in other mollusc species (Lacoste et al., 2002a). This is also the first study to report L. stagnalis haemocyte integrin-mediated binding and the presence of a FAK-like protein, which is transiently phosphorylated upon haemocyte binding. Although other studies have identified a tyrosine phosphorylated protein at the correct molecular weight of FAK in insect haemocytes (Metheniti et al., 2001), this is the first to use an anti-phospho FAK antibody specific for the tyrosine⁹²⁵ phosphorylated protein, in invertebrates. Dissection of the signal transduction pathways that are affected by integrin engagement in molluscan haemocytes may result in a better understanding of haemocyte survival, gene transcription and cell migration, as well as enhancing our knowledge of the molecular events regulating phagocytosis.

Using pharmacological inhibitors, the pathways involved in phagocytosis by L. stagnalis haemocytes were investigated. It can be concluded that phosphorylation of L. stagnalis haemocyte ERK-like proteins is vital for efficient phagocytosis of E. coli 'bioparticles'. Furthermore, phagocytic activity relies on both Ras-dependent and – independent signalling pathways, with PKC and PI-3K both being important for haemocyte phagocytosis. PKA does not appear to modulate phagocytic activity in L. stagnalis haemocytes. Presently, this is also the first study to identify and dissect the signalling pathways involved in L. stagnalis haemocyte phagocytosis. Although inhibitors have been used to dissect the signalling pathways involved in phagocytosis, it would be interesting to introduce activators of phagocytosis to the bioparticle assays,



Figure 4.1. Diagram summarising ERK pathway signalling in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes as found in this study. Solid arrows demonstrate phosphorylation (activation), whereas dotted arrows demonstrate indirect activation through protein intermediates. As the actions of FAK are unknown in *L. stagnalis* haemocytes, a question mark has been used to represent signalling proteins lying downstream of FAK

such as ACTH which has shown to activate phagocytosis by gastropod haemocytes (Ottaviani, 1992).

Recently, a study on *C. capitata* haemocytes was published which identified p38 MAPK and ERK as important proteins for the internalisation of cell-free LPS, whilst the internalisation of *E. coli* required p38 MAPK and JNK (Lamprou *et al.*, 2004). It would be interesting to see if p38 MAPK and JNK are necessary for particle internalisation by *L. stagnalis* haemocytes. This would involve the identification of these proteins in haemocytes and blockade of their activity with inhibitors. It would also be of interest to, with the aid of confocal microscopy, analyse the location of activated signalling proteins during the phagocytic process. Although immunocytochemistry has been used with success in this study, confocal microscopy would give improved resolution and would enable better elucidation of the exact location of activated proteins in the cell.

A study has recently been published which identifies PKC to be involved in phagosome maturation using proteomic techniques (Hing *et al.*, 2004). This is the first study to apply two-dimensional electrophoresis to *L. stagnalis* haemocyte proteins, and it would be of interest to develop this technique to further analyse haemocyte proteins perhaps even after sub-fractionation.

In the absence of haemolymph, exposure of *L. stagnalis* haemocytes to albumin-linked saccharides appeared to result in a decreased phagocytic activity, which reflected decreased ERK and PKC activity levels. Presently, this is the first study to show intracellular signalling pathways to be modulated by BSA-conjugated sugars in macrophages or haemocytes. Results of the present study complement those gathered by Hahn *et al.* (2000), who has demonstrated that these albumin-linked sugars stimulate the immune response by generating reactive oxygen intermediates in *B. glabrata* haemocytes. Moreover, results gathered in this study in the presence of serum suggest that serum components (lectins) have an important role in the recognition of carbohydrate moieties. Indeed, previous studies on the *L. stagnalis* defence system have shown that lectin binding can alter the immune response considerably, for example, lectin binding has resulted in increased haemocyte phagocytosis (Horák & Van der Knaap, 1997; Horák *et al.*, 1998; Horák & Deme, 1998). In order to further

investigate *L. stagnalis* immune responses in the presence of carbohydrates, it would be useful to characterise serum and cell-associated lectins of this snail. This has been done in other studies using affinity chromatography, which involves capturing the lectins on to carbohydrate coated beads (used by Gerlach *et al.*, 2004; Sultan *et al.*, 2004). To determine *L. stagnalis* defence responses in response to infection by schistosomes more accurately, it would be interesting to expose haemocytes to the intramolluscan stage of the parasite, the sporocyst, and examine the biochemistry of the haemocytes after exposure. A number of studies have used sporocysts to challenge molluscan haemocytes (Bayne *et al.*, 1980; Lodes & Yoshino, 1990; Amen *et al.*, 1991b), however, none of these studies have examined the intracellular pathways modulated in haemocytes following exposure to sporocysts. Overall, the results presented in this study have implications for host immunity to schistosomes and ongoing work in the laboratory hopes to further define the molecular interactions that occur between snails and their schistosome parasites.

As L. stagnalis genomic data become available, many more molecular techniques can be applied to the study of L. stagnalis haemocytes. Instead of using pharmacological inhibitors, double stranded RNA-mediated RNA interference (RNAi) (reviewed by Scherer & Rossi, 2004) could be applied to L. stagnalis, to down-regulate the expression of a specific protein. Although the use of pharmacological inhibitors has proved successful with haemocytes, it is difficult to use them in vivo or for long periods of time. RNAi has been successfully applied to L. stagnalis for the study of neuronal NOS in feeding behaviour (Korneev et al., 2002). The technique would require whole snails to be injected with synthetic ds-RNA molecules. It would be interesting to carry out adenoviral transfections with the haemocytes, which could result in upregulation of a specific protein. This technique has not yet been employed in haemocyte studies, and could further the available knowledge of haemocyte signalling considerably, especially concerning the functional aspects of the cells. Although the use of immunocytochemistry has shown that a proportion of L. stagnalis haemocyte phosphorylated ERK translocates to the nucleus upon LPS stimulation, and kinase activity assays have shown phosphorylated ERK to activate Elk-1, other techniques could provide us with a more detailed picture of the actions of ERK in the nucleus. To demonstrate that ERK activation of Elk-1 results in Elk-1-DNA binding, electrophoretic mobility shift assays (EMSA) could be performed, which would give
qualitative data regarding the levels of free or DNA-bound transcription factor (for examples refer to Darville *et al.*, 2001). This technique could not only be applied to Elk-1, but other transcription factors known to be downstream of ERK in mammalian cells, such as c-Jun. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) could also be applied to *L. stagnalis* haemocytes to provide qualitative data of RNA transcripts upon ERK activation, whilst real-time PCR would provide semi-quantitative data (for examples refer to Jurstrand *et al.*, 2005).

Overall, this study has provided much needed data on the molecular control of *L. stagnalis*, and indeed molluscan, defence reactions. It is anticipated that this study will provide a framework on which future studies can be built to further explore the intricacies of signalling in invertebrate defence cells.

REFERENCES

Achison M., Elton C.M., Hargreaves P.G., Knight C.G., Barnes M.J., Farndale R.W. (2001). Integrin-independent tyrosine phosphorylation of p125fak in human platelets stimulated by collagen. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **276**: 3167 – 3174.

Adema C.M., van deutekommulder E.C., van der Knaap W.P.W., Meuleman E.A., Sminia T. (1991). Generation of oxygen radicals in hemocytes of the snail *Lymnaea stagnalis* in relation to the rate of phagocytosis. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, **15**: 17 – 26.

Allavena P., Chieppa M., Monti P., Piemonti L. (2004). From pattern recognition receptor to regulator of homeostasis: the double-faced macrophage mannose receptor. *Critical Reviews in Immunology*, **24**: 179 – 192.

Alisi A., Spagnuolo S., Napoletano A., Spazioni A., Leoni S. (2004). Thyroid hormones regulate DNA-synthesis and cell-cycle proteins by activation of PKC α and p42/44 MAPK in chick embryo hepatocytes. *Journal of Cell Physiology*, **201**: 259 – 265.

Allen J.E., Maizels R.M. (1996). Immunology of human helminth infection. *International* Archives of Allergy Immunology, **109**: 3 – 10.

Amen R.I., Tijnagel J.M.G., Van der Knaap W.P.W., Meuleman E.A., De Langedeklerk E.S.M., Sminia T. (1991a). Effects of *Trichobilharzia ocellata* on hemocytes of *Lymnaea* stagnalis. Developmental and Comparative Immunology, **15**: 105 – 115.

Amen R.I., Baggen J.M.C., Meuleman E.A., Wijsmangrootendorst A., Boon M.E., Bezemer P.D., Sminia T. (1991b). *Trichobilharzia ocellata* – Quantification of effects on hemocytes of the pond snail *Lymnaea stagnalis* by morphometric means. *Tissue and Cell*, **23**: 665 – 676.

Amen R.I., de Jong-Brink M. (1992a). *Trichobilharzia ocellata* infections in its snail host *Lymnaea stagnalis*: an in vitro study showing direct and indirect effects on the snail internal defence system, via the host central nervous system. *Parasitology*, **105**: 409 – 416.

Amen R.I., Baggen J.M.C., Bezemer P.D., De Jong Brink M. (1992b). Modulation of the activity of the internal defence system of the pond snail *Lymnaea stagnalis* by the avian schistosome *Trichobilharzia ocellata*. *Parasitology*, **104**: 33 – 40.

Andersen N.G., Maller J.L., Tonks N.K., Sturgill T.W. (1990). Requirement for integration of signals from two distinct phosphorylation pathways for activation of MAP kinase. *Nature*, 343: 651 – 653.

Anggraeni T., Ratcliffe N.A. (1991). Studies on cell cell cooperation during phagocytosis by purified hemocyte populations of the wax moth, *Galleria mellonella*. Journal of Insect Physiology, **37** (6): 453 – 460.

Antonelli V., Bernasconi F., Wong Y.H., Vallar L. (2000). Activation of B-Raf and regulation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway by the Go α chain. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, **11**: 1129 – 1142.

Aplin A. E., Howe A., Alahari S.K., Juliano R.L. (1998). Signal transuction and signal modulation by cell adhesion receptors: the role of integrins, cadherins, immunoglobulins-cell adhesion molecules and selectins. *Pharmacological Reviews*, **50**: 197 – 264.

Aplin A.E., Juliano R.L. (1999). Integrin and cytoplasmic regulation of growth factor signalling to the MAP kinase pathway. *Journal of Cell Science*, **112**: 695 – 706.

Aplin A.E., Stewart S.A., Assoian R.K., Juliano R.L. (2001). Integrin mediated adhesion regulates ERK nuclear translocation and phosphorylation of Elk-1. *Journal of Cell Biology*, **153**: 273 – 282.

Arditi M., Zhou J., Torres M., Durden D.L., Stins M., Kim K.S. (1995). Lipopolysaccharide stimulates the tyrosine phosphorylation of mitogen-activated protein kinases p44, p42 and p41 in vascular endothelial cells in a soluble CD14-dependent manner. *Journal of Immunology*, **155**: 3994 – 4003.

Armulik A., Velling T., Johansson S. (2004). The integrin β_1 subunit transmembrane domain regulates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase –dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of Crk-associated substrate. *Molecular and Biological Chemistry*, **15**: 2558 – 2567.

Asgari S., Schmidt O. (2003). Is cell surface calreticulin involved in phagocytosis by insect haemocytes? *Journal of Insect Physiology*, **49**: 545 – 550.

Ashida M. (1971). Purification and characterisation of prophenoloxidase from haemolymph of the silkworm, *Bombyx mori*. Archives in Biochemical Biophysics, 144: 749 – 762.

Ashida M., Dohke K. (1980). Activation of pro-phenoloxidase by the activating enzyme of the silkworm, *Bombyx mori. Insect Biochemistry*, **10**: 37 – 47.

Aspan A., Hall M., Soderhall K. (1990). The effect of endogenous proteinase-inhibitors on the prophenoloxidase activating enzyme, a serine proteinase from crayfish hemocytes. *Insect Biochemistry*, **20**: 485 - 490.

Azumi K., Ishimoto R., Fujita T., Nonaka M., Yokosawa H. (2000). Opsonin-independent and –dependent phagocytosis in the ascidian *Halocynthia roretzi*: galactose-specific lectin and complement C3 function as target-dependent opsonins. *Zoological Science*, **17**: 625 – 632.

Bachère E., Destoumieux D., Bulet P. (2000). Penaeidins, antimicrobial peptides of shrimp: a comparison with other effectors of innate immunity. *Aquaculture*, **191**: 71 - 88.

Bai G.X., Brown J.F., Watson C., Yoshino T.P. (1997). Isolation and characterisation of phenoloxidase from egg masses of the gastropod mollusc, *Biomphalaria glabrata*. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology B*, **118**: 463 – 469.

Baier G., Telford D., Giampa L., Coggeshall K.M., Baier-Bitterlich G., Isakov N., Altman A. (1993). Molecular cloning and characterisation of PKC theta, a novel member of the protein kinase C (PKC) gene family expressed predominantly in hematopoietic cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **268**: 4997 – 5004.

Ballarin L., Scanferla M., Cima F., Sabbadin A. (2002). Phagocyte spreading and phagocytosis in the compound ascidian *Botryllus schlosseri*: evidence for an integrin-like, RGD-dependent recognition mechanism. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, **26**: 345 – 354.

Banchereau J., Steinman R.M. (1998). Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. *Nature*, **392**: 245 – 252.

Barberis L., Wary K.K., Fiucci G., Liu F., Hirsch E., Brancaccio M., Altruda F., Tarone G., Giancotti F.G. (2000). Distinct roles of the adaptor protein Shc and focal adhesion kinase in integrin signalling to ERK. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **275**: 36532 – 36540.

Bardwell A.J., Flatauer L.J., Matsukuma K., Thorner J., Bardwell L. (2001). A conserved docking site in MEKs mediated high-affinity binding to MAP kinases and cooperates with a

scaffold protein to enhance signal transduction. Journal of Biological Chemisty, 276: 10374 – 10386.

Barford D., Hu S.H., Johnson L.N. (1991). Structural mechanism for glycogen-phosphorylase control by phosphorylation and AMP. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, **218**: 233 – 260.

Bayne C.J. (2003). Origins and evolutionary relationships between the innate and adaptive arms of immune systems. *Integrated and Comparative Biology*, 43: 293 – 299.

Bayne C.J., Buckley P.M., DeWan P.C. (1980). *Schistosoma mansoni*: cytotoxicity of haemocytes from susceptible snail hosts for sporocysts in plasma from resistant *Biomphalaria* glabrata. *Experimental Parasitology*, **50**: 409 – 416.

Beinke S., Robinson M.J., Hugunin M., Ley S.C. (2004). Lipopolysaccharide activation of the TPL-2/MEK/Extracellular signal-regulated kinase mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade is regulated by IκB kinase-induced proteolysis of NF-κB1 p105. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **24**: 9658 – 9667.

Berk B.C., Corson M.A. (1997). Angiotensin II signal transduction in vascular smooth muscle – role of tyrosine kinases. *Circulation Research*, **80**: 607 – 616.

Besset V., Scott R., Ibanez C. (2000). Signalling complexes and protein-protein interactions involved in the activation of the Ras and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase pathways by the c-Ret receptor tyrosine kinase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **275**: 39159 – 39166.

Biggs W.H., Zipursky S.L. (1992). Primary structure, expression, and signal-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of a *Drosophila* homolog of extracellular signal-regulated kinase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science (U.S.A.)*, **89**: 6295 – 6299.

Boissier J., Rivera E.R., Mone H. (2003). Altered behaviour of the snail *Biomphalaria glabrata* as a result of infection with *Schistosoma mansoni*. *Journal of Parasitology*, **89**: 429 – 433.

Boulanger N., Ehret-Sabatier L., Brun R., Zachary D., Bulet P., Imler J.L. (2001). Immune response of *Drosophila melanogaster* to infection with the flagellate parasite *Crithidia* spp. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, **31**: 129 – 137.

Bouschet T., Perez V., Fernandez C., Bockaert J., Eychene A., Journot L. (2003). Stimulation of the ERK pathway by GTP-loaded Rap 1 requires the concomitant activation of Ras, Protein Kinase C, and Protein Kinase A in neuronal cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **278**: 4778 – 4785.

Brehélin M. (1979). Haemolymph coagulation in *Locusta migratoria*: evidence for a functional equivalent of fibrinogen. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology*, **62**: 329 – 334.

Breton A., Descoteaux A. (2000). Protein kinase C- α participates in Fc γ R-mediated phagocytosis in macrophages. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 276: 472 – 476.

Bruce-Staska P.J., Weidow C.L., Gibson J.J., Bouton A.H. (2002). Cas, Fak and Pyk2 function in diverse signalling cascades to promote *Yersinia* uptake. *Journal of Cell Science*, **115**: 2689 – 2700.

Bruch R.C. (1996). Phosphoinositide second messengers in olfaction. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology B*, **113**: 451 – 459.

Brunet A., Pagès G., Pouyssér J. (1994). Growth factor-stimulated MAP kinase induces rapid retrophosphorylation and inhibition of MAP kinase kinase (MEK1). *FEBS Letters*, **346**: 299 – 303.

Burke T.R., Zhang Z.Y. (1998). Protein tyrosine phosphatases: structures, mechanism and inhibitor discovery. *Biopolymers*, **47**: 225 – 241.

Büscher D., Hipskind R.A., Krautwald S., Reimann T., Baccarini M. (1995). Ras-dependent and –independent pathways target the mitogen-activated protein kinase network in macrophages. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **15**: 466 – 475.

Cai T., Nishida K., Hirano T., Khavari P.A. (2002). Gab1 and SHP-2 promote Ras/MAPK regulation of epidermal growth and differentiation. *Journal of Cell Biology*, **159**: 103 – 112.

Calderwood D.A., Shattil S.J., Ginsberg M.H. (2000). Integrins and actin filaments: reciprocal regulation of cell adhesion and signalling. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **275**: 22607 – 22610.

Campos L.S., Leone D.P., Relvas J.B., Brakebusch C., Fassler R., Suter U., Contant C. (2004). B1 integrins activate a MAPK signalling pathway in neural stem cells that contributes to their maintenance. *Development*, **131**: 3433 – 3444.

Cancedda L., Putignano E., Impey S., Maffei L., Ratto G.M., Pizzorusso T. (2003). Patterned vision causes CRE-mediated gene expression in the visual cortex through PKA and ERK. *Journal of Neuroscience*, **23**: 7012 – 7020.

Canesi L., Pruzzo C., Tarsi R., Gallo G. (2001). Surface interactions between *Escherichia coli* and hemocytes of the Mediterranean mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis* Lam. Leading to efficient bacterial clearance. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, **67**: 464 – 468.

Canesi L., Betti M., Ciacci C., Scarpato A., Citterio B., Pruzzo C., Gallo G. (2002a). Signalling pathways involved in the physiological response of mussel hemocytes to bacterial challenge: the role of stress-activated p38 MAP kinases. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, **26**: 325-334.

Canesi L., Scarpato A., Betti M., Ciacci C., Pruzzo C., Gallo G. (2002b). Bacterial killing by *Mytilus* haemocyte monolayers as a model for investigating the signalling pathways involved in mussel immune defence. *Marine & Environmental Research*, 54: 547 – 551.

Canesi L., Gallo G., Gavioli M., Pruzzo C. (2002c). Bacteria-hemocyte interactions and phagocytosis in marine bivalves. *Microscopy Research and Techniques*, **57**: 469 – 476.

Cantrell D.A. (2003). Regulation and function of serine kinase networks in lymphocytes. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 15: 294 – 298.

Cao A., Ramos-Martínez J.I., Barcia R. (2004). In vitro effects of LPS, IL-2, PDGF and CRF on haemocytes of *Mytilus galloprovincialis* Lmk. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology*, **16**: 215 – 225.

Carballal M.J., López C., Azevedo C., Villalba A. (1997). In vitro study of phagocytic ability of Mytilus galloprovincialis Lmk. haemocytes. Fish and Shellfish Immunology, 7: 403 – 416.

Castellano G., Woltman A.M., Schena F.P., Roos A., Daha M.R., van Kooten C. (2004a). Dendritic cells and complement: at the cross road of innate and adaptive immunity. *Molecular Immunology*, **41**: 133 – 140.

Castellano G., Woltman A.M., Nauta A.J., Roos A., Trouw L.A., Seelen M.A., Schena F.P., Daha M.R., Van Kooten C. (2004b). Maturation of dendritic cells abrogates C1q production *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *Blood*, **103**: 3813 – 3820.

Chain B.M., Anderson R.S. (1983). Observations on the cytochemistry of hemocytes of an insect, *Galleria mellonella*. Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry, **31**: 601 – 607.

Charalambidis N.D., Zervas C.G., Lambropoulou M., Katsoris P.G., Marmaras V.J. (1995). Lipopolysaccharide-stimulated exocytosis of non-self recognition protein from insect hemocytes depend on protein-tyrosine phosphorylation. *European Journal of Cell Biology*, **67**: 32 – 41.

Charalambidis N.D., Foukas L.C., Zervas C.G., Marmaras V.J. (1996a). Hemocyte surface phenoloxidase (PO) and immune response to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in *Ceratitis capitata*. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, **26**: 867 – 874.

Charalambidis N.D., Foukas L.C., Marmaras V.J. (1996b). Covalent association of lipopolysaccharide at the hemocyte surface of insects is an initial step for its internalisation – protein-tyrosine phosphorylation requirement. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, **236**: 200 – 206.

Chen L., Pei G., Zhang W.B. (2004). An overall picture of chemokine receptors: basic research and drug development. *Current Pharmacological Design*, **10**: 1045 – 1055.

Chen Z., Raman M., Chen L., Lee S.F., Gilman A., Cobb M. (2003). TAO protein kinases mediate signalling from carbachol to p38 mitogen activated protein kinase and ternary complex factors. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **278**: 22278 – 22283.

Chen C.-C., Wang J.-K. (1999). p38 but not p44/42 mitogen-activated protein kinase is required for nitric oxide synthase induction mediated by lipopolysaccharide in RAW 264.7 macrophages. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 55: 481 – 488.

Chen Q., Lin T.H., Der C.J., Juliano R.L. (1996). Integrin-mediated activation of mitogenactivated protein (MAP) or extracellular signal-related kinase kinase (MEK) and kinase is independent of Ras. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **271**: 18122 – 18127. Chiou S.-T., Chen Y.W., Chen S.-C., Chao C.F., Liu T.-Y. (2000). Isolation and characterisation of proteins that bind to galactose, lipopolysaccharide of *Escherichia coli*, and protein A of *Staphylococcus aureus* from the haemolymph of *Tachypleus tridentatus*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **275**: 1630 – 1634.

Chitsulo L., Engels D., Montresor A., Savioli L. (2000). The global status of schistosomiasis and its control. *Acta Tropica*, 77: 41 – 51.

Chosa N., Fukumitsu T., Fujimoto K., Ohnishi E. (1997). Activation of prophenoloxidase A_1 by an activating enzyme in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, **27**: 61 – 68.

Collins A.M., Sewell W.A., Edwards M.R. (2003). Immunoglobulin gene rearrangement, repertoire diversity, and the allergic response. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, **100**: 157 – 170.

Conners V.A., Yoshino T.P. (1990). In vitro effect of larval *Schistosoma mansoni* excretorysecretory products on phagocytosis-stimulated superoxide production in haemocytes from *Biomphalaria glabrata. Journal of Parasitology*, **76**: 895 – 902.

Conte A., Ottaviani E. (1995). Nitric oxide synthase activity in molluscan hemocytes. *FEBS Letters*, **365**: 120 - 124.

Cooper J.A., Bowen-Pope D.F., Raines E., Ross R., Hunter T. (1982). Similar effects of platelet-derived growth factor and epidermal growth factor on the phosphorylation of tyrosine in cellular proteins.*Cell*, **31**: 263 – 273.

Cooper J.A., Hunter T. (1983). Identification and characterisation of cellular targets for tyrosine protein kinases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **258**: 1108 – 1115.

Cummings R.D., Nyame A.K. (1999). Schistosome glycoconjugates. *Biochimica et Biophysica* Acta, 1455: 363 – 374.

Currie A.J., Stewart G.A., McWilliams A.S. (2000). Alveolar macrophages bind and phagocytose allergen-containing pollen starch granules via C-type lectin and integrin receptors: implications for airway inflammatory disease. *Journal of Immunology*, **164**: 3878 – 3886.

Daffre S., Faye I. (1997). Lipopolysaccharide interaction with hemolin, an insect member of Igsuperfamily. *FEBS Letters*, **408**: 127 – 130.

Dalton J.P., Clough K.A., Jones M.K., Brindley P.J. (1997). The cysteine proteinases of *Schistosoma mansoni* cercariae. *Parasitology*, **114**: 105 – 112.

Dang A., Frost J.A., Cobb M.H. (1998). The MEK1 proline-rich insert is required for efficient activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinases ERK1 and ERK2 in mammalian cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **273**: 19909 – 19913.

Darville M.I., Eizirik D.L. (2001). Cytokine induction of Fas gene expression in insulinproducing cells requires the transcription factors NF-κB and C/EBP. *Diabetes*, **50**: 1741 – 1748.

Das T., Mandal C., Mandal C. (2004). Protein A – a new ligand for human C-reactive protein. *FEBS Letters*, **576**: 107–113.

Davids B.J., Yoshino T.P. (1998). Integrin-like RGD-dependent binding mechanism involved in the spreading response of circulating molluscan phagocytes. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, **22** (1): 39 – 53.

Davids B.J., Wu X.-J., Yoshino T.P. (1999). Cloning of a β integrin subunit cDNA from an embryonic cell line derived from the freshwater mollusc, *Biomphalaria glabrata*. *Gene*, **228**: 213 – 223.

Della Rocca G.J., Maudsley S., Daaka Y., Lefkowitz R.J., Luttrell L.M. (1999). Pleiotropic coupling of G protein-coupled receptors to the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade: role of focal adhesions and receptor tyrosine kinases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **274**: 13978 – 13984.

De Jong-Brink M. (1995). How schistosomes profit the stress responses they elicit in their hosts. *Advances in Parasitology*, **35**: 177 – 256.

De Jong-Brink M., Reid C.N., Tensen C.P., Ter Maat A. (1999). Parasites flicking the NPY gene on the hosts switchboard: why NPY? *FASEB Journal*, **13**: 1972 – 1984.

De Jong Brink M., Bergamin-Sassen M., Soto M.S. (2001). Multiple strategies of schistosomes to meet their requirements in the intermediate snail host. *Parasitology*, **123**: S129 – S141.

De Saint Basile G., Geissmann F., Flori E., Uring-Lambert B., Sondais C., Cavazzano-Calvo M., Durandy A., Jabado N., Fischer A., Le Deist F. (2004). Severe combined immunodeficiency caused by deficiency in either the delta or the epsilon subunit of CD3. *Journal of Cinical Investigation*, **114**: 1512 – 1517.

Dhillon A.S., Pollock C., Steen H., Shaw P.E., Mischak H., Kolch W. (2002). Cyclic AMPdependent kinase regulates Raf-1 mainly by phosphorylation of serine 259. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. **22**: 3237 – 3246.

Di Nardo A., Vitiello A., Gallo R.L. (2003). Cutting Edge: Mast cell antimicrobial activity is mediated by expression of cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide. *Journal of Immunology*, **170**: 2274 – 2278.

Ding A., Chen B., Fuortes M., Blum E. (1996). Association of mitogen-activated protein kinases with microtubules in mouse macrophages. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 183: 1899 – 1904.

Disatnik M.H., Rando T.A. (1999). Integrin-mediated muscle cell spreading. The role of protein kinase C in outside-in and inside-out signalling and evidence of integrin cross-talk. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **274**: 32486 – 32492.

Disatnik M.-H., Boutet S.C., Lee C.H., Mochly-Rosen D., Rando T.A. (2002). Sequential activation of individual PKC isozymes in integrin-mediated muscle cell spreading: a role for MARCKS in an integrin signalling pathway. *Journal of Cell Science*, **115**: 2151 – 2163.

Dobrovolskaia M.A., Vogel S.N. (2002). Toll receptors, CD14, and macrophage activation and deactivation by LPS. *Microbes and Infection*, **4**: 903 – 914.

Dombrowicz D., Capron M. (2001). Eosinophils, allergy and parasites. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, **13**: 716 – 720.

Duca L., Debelle L., Debret R., Antonicelli F., Hornebeck W., Haye B. (2002). The elastin peptides-mediated induction of pro-collagenase-1 production by human fibroblasts involves

activation of MEK/ERK pathway via PKA- and PI3K-dependent signalling. *FEBS Letters*, **524**: 193 – 198.

Dumont J.E., Pecasse F., Maenhaut C. (2001). Crosstalk and specificity in signalling – are we crosstalking ourselves into general confusion? *Cell signalling*, **13**: 457 – 463.

Dunphy J.T., Linder M.E. (1998). Signalling functions of protein palmitoylation. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, **1436**: 245 – 261.

Dunphy G., Halwani A. (1997). Haemolymph proteins of larvae of *Galleria mellonella* detoxify endotoxins of the insect pathogenic bacteria *Xenorhabdus nematophilus* (Enterobacteriaceae). *Journal of Insect Physiology*, **43**: 1023 – 1029.

Durrant H.J., Ratcliffe N.A., Hipkin C.R., Aspan A., Soderhall K. (1993). Purification of the pro-phenoloxidase enzyme from hemocytes of the cockroach *Blaberus discoidalis*. *Biochemical Journal*, **289**: 87 – 91.

Ellender R.D., Najafabadi A.K., Middlebrooks B.L. (1992). Observations on the primary culture of hemocytes of *Penaeus*. *Journal of Crustacean Biology*, **12** (2): 178–185.

Faye I., Pye A., Rasmusson T., Boman H.G., Boman I.A. (1975). Insect immunity II. Simultaneous induction of antibacterial activity and selective synthesis of some haemolymph proteins in diapausing pupae of *Hyalophora cecropia* and *Samia cynthia*. *Infection and Immunity*. **12**: 1426 – 1438.

Fecker L.F., Eberle J., Orfanos C.E., Geilen C.C. (2002). Inducible nitric oxide synthase is expressed in normal human melanocytes but not in melanoma cells in response to tumor necrosis factor α , interferon γ and lipopolysaccharide. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, **118**: 1019 – 1025.

Ferrell J.E. (1996). MAP kinases in mitogenesis and development. *Current Topics in Developmental Biology*, 33: 1 – 60.

Fincham V.J., James M., Frame M.C., Winder S.J. (2000). Active ERK/MAP kinase is targeted to newly forming cell-matrix adhesions by integrin engagement and v-Src. *The EMBO Journal*, **19**: 2911 – 2923.

Formisano P., Oriente F., Fiory F., Curuso M., Miele C., Maitan M.A., Andreozzi F., Vigliotta G., Goudorelli G., Beguinot F. (2000). Insulin-activated protein kinase C β bypasses Ras and stimulates mitogen-activated protein kinase activity and cell proliferation in muscle cells. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **20**: 6323 – 6333.

Foukas L.C., Katsoulas H.L., Paraskevopoulou N., Metheniti A., Lambropoulou M., Marmaras V.J. (1998). Phagocytosis of *Escherichia coli* by insect hemocytes requires both activation of the Ras/mitogen-activated protein kinase signal transduction pathway for attachment and β_3 integrin for internalisation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **273**: 14813 – 14818.

Franc N.C., Dimarcq J.-L., Lageux M., Hoffmann J.A., Ezekowitz R.A.B. (1996). Croquemort, a novel *Drosophila* hemocyte/macrophage receptor that recognises apoptotic cells. *Immunity*, 4: 431 – 443.

Francheschi C., Cossarizza A., Monti D., Ottaviani E. (1991). Cytotoxicity and immunocyte markers in cells from the freshwater snail *Planorbarius corneus* (L.) (Gastropoda pulmonata): implications for the evolution of natural killer cells. *European Journal of Immunology*, **21**: 489 – 493.

Franchini A., Ottaviani E. (1994). Modification induced by ACTH in hemocyte cytoskeleton of the freshwater snail *Viviparus ater* (Gastropoda, Prosobranchia). *European Journal of Histochemistry*, **38**: 145 – 150.

Fruman D.A., Cantley L.C. (2002). Phosphoinositide 3-kinase in immunological systems. Seminars in Immunology, 14: 7 – 18.

Fryer S.E., Hull C.J., Bayne C.J. (1989). Phagocytosis of yeast by *Biomphalaria glabrata*: carbohydrate specificity of hemocyte receptors and a plasma opsonin. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, **13**: 9 – 16.

Fryer S.E., Bayne C.J. (1996). Phagocytosis of latex beads by *Biomphalaria glabrata* hemocytes is modulated in a strain-specific manner by adsorbed plasma components. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, **20**: 23 – 37.

Fujita T., Endo Y., Nonaka M. (2004). Primitive complement system – recognition and activation. *Molecular Immunology*, **41**: 103 – 111.

Fukuda M., Gotoh I., Adachi M., Gotoh Y., Nishida E. (1997a). A novel regulatory mechanism in the mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase cascade. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **272**: 32642 – 32648.

Fukuda M., Gotoh Y., Nishida E. (1997b). Interaction of MAP kinase with MAP kinase kinase: its possible role in the control of nucleocytoplasmic transport of MAP kinase. *The EMBO Journal*, **16**: 1901–1908.

Fukuda M., Gotoh I., Gotoh Y., Nishida E. (1996). Cytoplasmic localisation of MAP kinase kinase directed by its N-terminal leucine-rich short amino acid sequence, which acts as a nuclear export signal. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **271**: 20024 – 20028.

Galichet A., Gruissem W. (2003). Protein farnesylation in plants – conserved mechanisms but different targets. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 6: 530 – 535.

Gantt K.R., Schultz-Cherry S., Rodriguez N., Jeronimo S.M.B., Nascimento E.T., Goldman T.L., Recker T.J., Miller M.A., Wilson M.E. (2003). Activation of TGF-β by *Leishmania chagasi*; importance for parasite survival in macrophages. *Journal of Immunology*, **170**: 2613 – 1620.

García- García E., Sánchez-Mejorada G., Rosales C. (2001). Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and ERK are required for NF-κB activation but not for phagocytosis. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, **70**: 649 – 658.

García- García E., Rosales R., Rosales C. (2002). Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and extracellular signal-regulated kinase are recruited for Fc receptor-mediated phagocytosis during monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, **72**: 107 – 114.

García M.G., Toney S.J., Hille M.B. (2004). Focal adhesion kinase (FAK) expression and phosphorylation in sea urchin embryos. *Gene Expression Patterns*, 4: 223 – 234.

Garcia-Velasco J.A., Arici A. (1999). Interleukin-8 expression in endometrial stromal cells is regulated by integrin-dependent cell adhesion. *Molecular Human Reproduction*, **5**: 1135 – 1140.

Gerhardus M.J.T., Baggen J.M.C., Van der Knaap W.P.W., Sminia T. (1991). Analysis of surface carbohydrates of *Trichobilharzia ocellata* miracidia and sporocysts using lectin binding techniques. *Parasitology*, **103**: 51 – 59.

Gerlach D., Schlott B., Schmidt K.H. (2004). Cloning and expression of a sialic acid-binding lectin from the snail *Cepaea hortensis*. *FEMS Immunology and Medical Microbiology*, **40**: 215 – 221.

Gillooly D.J., Simonsen A., Stenmark H. (2001). Phosphoinositides and phagocytosis. *Journal* of Cell Biology, **155**: 15 – 17.

Girotti M., Evans J.H., Burke D., Leslie C.C. (2004). Cytosolic phospholipase A2 translocates to forming phagosomes during phagocytosis of zymosan in macrophages. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **279**: 19113 – 19121.

Gough P.J., Gordon S. (2000). The role of scavenger receptors in the innate immune system. *Microbes and Infection*, **2**: 305 – 311.

Grewal T., de Diego I., Kirchhoff M.F., Tebar F., Heeren J., Rinninger F., Enrich C. (2003). High density lipoprotein-induced signalling of the MAPK pathway involves scavenger receptor type BI-mediated activation of Ras. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **278**: 16478 – 16481.

Grosse R., Roelle S., Herrlich A., Hohn J., Gudermann T. (2000). Epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase mediates Ras activation by gonadotropin-releasing hormone. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **275**, 12251 – 12260.

Guidotti L.G., Chisari F.V. (2001). Noncytolytic control of viral infections by the innate and adaptive immune responses. *Annual Review of Immunology*, **19**: 65 – 91.

Guthridge C.J., Eidlen D., Arend W.P., Gutierrez-Hartmann A., Smith M.F. (1997). Lipopolysaccharide and Raf-1 kinase regulate secretory interleukin-1 receptor antagonist gene expression by mutually antagonist mechanisms. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **17**: 1118 – 1128.

Haas W., Pietsch U. (1991). Migration of *Trichobilharzia ocellata* schistosomula in the duck and in the abnormal murine host. *Parasitology Research*, 77: 642 – 644.

Haas W. (1994). Physiological analyses of host-finding behaviour in trematode cercariae – adaptations for transmission success. *Parasitology*, **109**: S15 – S29.

Haas W., Haberl B., Kalbe M., Korner M. (1995). Snail-host finding by miricidia and cercariae – chemical host cues. *Parasitology Today*, **11**: 468 – 472.

Haberl B., Kalbe M., Fuchs H., Strober M., Schmalfuss G., Haas W. (1995). *Schistosoma* mansoni and *Schistosoma haematobium* – miracidial host-finding behaviour is stimulated by macromolecules. *International Journal of Parasitology*, **25**: 551 – 560.

Hahn U.K., Bender R.C., Bayne C.J. (2000). Production of reactive oxygen species by hemocytes of *Biomphalaria glabrata*: carbohydrate-specific stimulation. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, **24**: 531 – 541.

Hailman E., Lichenstein H.S., Wurfel M.M. (1994). Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-binding protein accelerates the binding of LPS to CD14. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, **179**: 269 – 277.

Haller H., Lindschau C., Maasch C., Olthoff H., Kurscheid D., Luft F. (1998). Integrin-induced protein kinase Cα and Cε translocation to focal adhesions mediates vascular smooth muscle cell spreading. *Circulation Research*, **82**: 157 – 165.

Han Z.S., Enslen H., Hu X., Meng X., Wu I., Barrett T., Davis R.J., Ip Y.T. (1998). A conserved p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway regulates *Drosophila* immunity gene expression. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **18**: 3527 – 3539.

Haneda M., Sugimoto T., Kikkawa R. (1999). Mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase: a negative regulator of the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, **365**: 1 – 7.

Hanks S.K., Quinn A.M. (1991). Protein-kinase catalytic domain sequence database – identification of conserved features of primary structure and classification of family members. *Methods in Enzymology*, **200**: 38 – 62.

Hansen E. (1976). A cell line from embryos of *Biomphalaria glabrata* (Pulmonata): Establishment and characteristics. Pages 75 – 97, in *Invertebrate tissue culture: research applications*, Academic Press, New York.

Hardie D.G. (1999). Plant protein serine threonine kinases: classification and functions. *Annual Review in Plant Physiology*, **50**: 97 – 131.

Hashimoto C., Hudson K.L., Anderson K.V. (1988). The *Toll* gene of *Drosophila*, required for dorsol-ventral embryonic polarity, appears to encode a transmembrane protein. *Cell*, **52**: 269 – 279.

Herpin A., Badariotti F., Rodet F., Favrel P. (2004). Molecular characterisation of a new leucine-rich repeat-containing G protein-coupled receptor from a bivalve mollusc: evolutionary implications. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, **1680**: 137 – 144.

Heumann D., Roger T. (2002). Initial responses to endotoxins and Gram-negative bacteria. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, **323**: 59 – 72.

Hibi M., Lin A., Smeal T., Minden A., Karin M. (1993). Identification of an oncoprotein- and UV-responsive protein kinase that binds and potentiates the c-Jun activation domain. *Genes & Development*, 7: 2135 – 2148.

Hildemann W.H., Linthicum D.S. (1981). Transplantation immunity in the Palaun sponge, *Xestospongia exigua. Transplantation*, **32**: 77 – 80.

Hill D.J., Rowley A.F. (1998). Are integrins involved in the aggregatory and phagocytic behaviour of fish haemostatic cells? *Journal of Experimental Biology*, **201**: 599 – 608.

Hiller G., Sundler R. (1999). Activation of arachidonate release and cytosolic phospholipase A_2 via Extracellular-signal Regulated Kinase and p38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase in macrophages stimulated by bacteria and zymosan. *Cell Signalling*, **11** (12): 863 – 869.

Hing J.D., Desjardins M., Descoteaux A. (2004). Proteomic analysis reveals a role for protein kinase C α in phagosome maturation. *Biochemical Biophysical Research Communications*, **319**: 810 – 816.

Hippenstiel S., Soeth S., Ludwig S., Suttorp N. (2000). Rho proteins and the p38 MAPK pathway are important mediators for LPS-induced interleukin-8 expression in human endothelial cells. *Blood*, **95**: 3044 – 3051.

Hipskind R.A., Baccarini M., Nordheim A. (1994). Transient activation of Raf-1, MEK, and ERK 2 coincides kinetically with ternary complex factor phosphorylation and immediate-early gene promoter activity *in vivo*. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **14**: 6219 – 6231.

Hirabayashi J., Dutta S.K., Kasai K. (1998). Novel Galactose-binding proteins in Annelida. Characterisation of 29kDa tandem repeat-type lectins from the earthworm *Lumbricus terrestris*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **273**: 14450 – 14460.

Holmblad T., Thornqvist P.O., Soderhall K., Johansson M.W. (1997). Identification and cloning of an integrin β subunit from haemocytes of the freshwater crayfish *Pacifastacus leniusculus*. *Journal of Experimental Zoology*, 277: 255 – 261.

Horák P., Kolarova L. (2001). Bird schistosomes – do they die in mammalian skin? *Trends in Parasitology*, **17**: 66 – 69.

Horák P., Neeleman A.P., van der Knaap W.P.W., Sminia T. (1998). Effect of saccharides on plasma mediated haemagglutination and in vitro phagocytosis by haemocytes of the snail *Lymnaea stagnalis*. *Comparative Haematology International*, **8**: 43 - 49.

Horák P., Deme R. (1998). Lectins and saccharides in *Lymnaea stagnalis* haemocyte recognition. *Comparative Haematology International*, 8: 210 – 218.

Horák P., van der Knaap W.P.W. (1997). Lectins in snail-trematode immune interactions: a review. *Folia Parasitologica*, **44**: 161 – 172.

Horák P., Mikes L. (1995). Cercarial surface saccharides of 6 trematode species from the pond snail, *Lymnaea stagnalis*. *Parasite*, **2**: 419 – 421.

Horejsi V., Zhang W.G., Schraven B. (2004). Transmembrane adaptor proteins: organizers of immunoreceptor signalling. *Nature Review in Immunology*, **4**: 603 – 610.

Hoppe H-J., Reid K.B.M. (1994). Collectins – soluble proteins containing collagenous regions and lectin domains – and their roles in innate immunity. *Protein Science*, **3:** 1143 – 1158.

Hsuan J., Panayotou G., Waterfield M. (1989). Structural basis for epidermal growth factor receptor function. *Progresses in Growth Factor Research*, 1: 23 – 32.

Huang C.Y., Rokosz L. (2004). Farnesyltransferase inhibitors: recent advances. *Expert Opinion in Therapeutic Patents*, **14**: 175 – 186.

Huang C., Friend D.S., Qiu W.T., Wong G.W., Morales G., Hunt J. (1998). Induction of a selective and persistant extravasation of neutrophils into the peritoneal cavity by tryptase mouse mast cell protease 6. *Journal of Immunology*, **160**: 1910 – 1919.

Hubbard S.R. (1999). Structural analysis of receptor tyrosine kinases. *Progresses in Biophysical and Molecular Biology*, **71**: 343 – 358.

Hubert F., Noel T., Roch P. (1996). A member of the arthropod defensin family from edible Mediterranean mussels (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*). *European Journal of Biochemistry*, **240**: 302 – 306.

Humphries J.E., Yoshino T.P. (2003). Cellular receptors and signal transduction in molluscan hemocytes: connections with the innate immune system of vertebrates. *Integrated and Comparative Biology*, **43**: 305 – 312.

Humphries J.E., Elizondo L., Yoshino T.P. (2001). Protein kinase C regulation of cell spreading in the molluscan *Biomphalaria glabrata* embryonic (Bge) cell line. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, **1540**: 243-252.

Hunter C.A., Chizzonite R., Remington J.S. (1995). IL-1 β is required for IL-12 to induce production of IFN- γ by NK cells – a role for IL-1 β in the T-cell independent mechanism of resistance against intracellular pathogens. *Journal of Immunology*, **155**: 4347 – 4354.

Hurley J.H., Dean A.M., Sohl J.L., Koshland D.E., Stroud R.M. (1990). Regulation of an enzyme by phosphorylation at the active site. *Science*, **249**: 1012 – 1016.

Hurtrez-Boussès S., Meunier C., Durand P., Renaud F. (2001). Dynamics of host-parasite interactions: the example of population biology of the liver fluke (*Fasciola hepatica*). *Microbes and Infection*, **3**: 841 – 849.

Illario M., Cavello A.L., Bayer K.U., Di Matola T., Fenzi G., Rossi G., Vitale M. (2003). Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II binds to Raf-1 and modulates integrinstimulated ERK activation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **278**: 45101 – 45108. Irigoyen J.P., Nagamine Y. (1999). Cytoskeletal reorganisation leads to induction of the urokinase-type plasminogen activator gene by activating FAK and Src and subsequently the Ras/ERK signalling pathway. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, **262**: 666 – 670.

Ishikawa G., Azumi K., Yokosawa H. (2000). Involvement of tyrosine kinase and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in phagocytosis by ascidian hemocytes. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology*, **125**: 351 – 357.

Iwanaga S., Miyata T., Tokunaga F., Muta T. (1992). Molecular mechanism of haemolymph clotting system in *Limulus*. *Thrombosis Research*, **68**: 1 – 32.

Ji X., Azumi K., Sasaki M., Nonaka M. (1997). Ancient origin of the complement lectin pathway revealed by molecular cloning of mannan binding protein-associated serine protease from a urochordate, the Japanese ascidian, *Halocynthia roretzi*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA*, **94**: 6340 – 6345.

Jiang H.B., Wang Y., Yu X.Q., Zhu Y.F., Kanost M. (2003). Prophenoloxidase-activating proteinase-3 (PAP-3) from *Manduca sexta* haemolymph: a clip-domain serine proteinase regulated by serpin-1J and serine proteinase homologs. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecules*, 33: 1049 – 1060.

Jones D.A., Takemoto D. (2004). Plant innate immunity – direct and indirect recognition of general and specific pathogen-associated molecules. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, **16**: 48 – 62.

Jones C.S., Lockyer A.E., Rollinson D., Noble L.R. (2001). Molecular approaches in the study of *Biomphalaria glabrata – Schistosoma mansoni* interactions: linkage analysis and gene expression profiling. *Parasitology*, **123**: S181 – S196.

Joosse J., Vanelk R. (1986). *Trichobilharzia ocellata* – physiological characterisation of giant growth, glycogen depletion, and absence of reproductive activity in the intermediate snail host, *Lymnaea stagnalis. Experimental Parasitology*, **62**: 1 – 13.

Jurstrand M., Jensen J.S., Fredlund H., Falk L., Molling P. (2005). Detection of *Mycoplasma* genitalium in urogenital specimens by real-time PCR and by conventional PCR assay. *Journal* of Medical Microbiology, **54**: 23 – 29.

Kambris Z. Hoffmann J.A., Imler J.L., Capovilla M. (2002). Tissue and stage-spefic expression of the Tolls in *Drosophila* embryos. *Gene Expression Patterns*, **2**: 311 – 317.

Keel B.A., Hildebrandt J.M., May J.V., Davis J.S. (1995). Effects of epidermal growth-factor on the tyrosine phosphorylation of mitogen-activated protein kinases in monolayer-cultures of porcine granulosa cells. *Endocrinology*, **136**: 1197 – 1204.

King C.A., Anderson R., Marshall J.S. (2002). Dengue virus selectively induces human mast cell chemokine production. *Journal of Virology*, 76: 8408 – 8419.

Kitamura T., Kimura K., Jung B.D., Makondo K., Okamoto S., Canas X., Sakane N., Yoshida T., Saito M. (2001). Proinsulin C-peptide rapidly stimulates mitogen-activated protein kinases in Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts: requirements of protein kinase C, phosphoinositide 3-kinase and pertussis toxin-sensitive G-protein. *Biochemical Journal*, 355: 123 – 129.

Klemke R.L., Cai S., Giannini A.L., Gallagher P.J., de Lanerolle P., Cheresh D.A. (1997). Regulation of cell motility by mitogen-activated protein kinase. *Journal of Cell Science*, **137**: 481–492.

Klion A.D., Nutman T.B. (2004). The role of eosinophils in host defense against helminth parasites. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, **113**: 30 – 37.

Korneev S.A., Kemenes I., Straub V., Staras K., Korneeva E.I., Kemenes G., Benjamin P.R., O'Shea M. (2002). Suppression of Nitric Oxide (NO)-dependent behaviour by double-stranded RNA-mediated silencing of a neuronal NO synthase gene. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, **22**: RC227.

Korotchkina L.G., Patel M.S. (2001). Probing the mechanism of inactivation of human pyruvate dehydrogenase by phosphorylation of three sites. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **276**: 5731 – 5738.

Kopacek P., Weise C., Gotz P. (1995). The prophenoloxidase from the wax moth *Galleria* mellonella: purification and characterisation of the proenzyme. Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, **25**: 1081 – 1091.

Koziel H., Eichbaum Q., Kruskal B.A., Pinkston P., Rogers R.A., Armstrong W.Y.K., Richards F.F., Rose R.M., Ezekowitz R.A.B. (1998). Reduced binding and phagocytosis of *Pneumocystis carinii* by alveolar macrophages from persons infected with HIV-1 correlates with mannose receptor downregulation. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, **102**: 1332 – 1344.

Krautwald S., Büscher D., Kummer V., Buder S., Baccarini M. (1996). Involvement of the protein tyrosine phosphatase SHP-1 in Ras-mediated activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **16**: 5955 – 5963.

Kromer E., Nakakura N., Lagueux M. (1994). Cloning of a locusts cDNA encoding a precursor peptide for two structurally related proteinase inhibitors. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, **24**: 329 – 331.

Kurosaka K., Takahashi M., Kobayashi Y. (2003). Activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 is involved in production of CXC-chemokine by macrophages during phagocytosis of late apoptotic cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, **306**: 1070 – 1074.

Kwong L., Wozniak M.A., Collins A.S., Wilson S.D., Keely P.J. (2003). R-Ras promotes focal adhesion formation through focal kinase and p130(Cas) by a novel mechanism that differs from integrins. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **23**: 933 – 949.

Kyriakis J.M., Avruch J. (2001). Mammalian mitogen activated protein kinase signal transduction pathways activated by stress and inflammation. *Physiological Reviews*, **81**: 807 – 869.

Lacoste A., Malham S.K., Cueff A., Jalabert F., Gélébart F., Poulet S.A. (2001a). Evidence for a form of adrenergic response to stress in the mollusc *Crassostrea gigas*. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, **204**: 1247 – 1255.

Lacoste A., Malham S.K., Cueff A., Poulet S.A. (2001b). Noradrenaline modulates oyster hemocyte phagocytosis via a β -adrenergic receptor-cAMP signalling pathway. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, **122**: 252-259.

Lacoste A., Malham S.K., Cueff A., Poulet S.A. (2001c). Noradrenaline modulates hemocyte reactive oxygen species production via β-adrenergic receptors in the oyster *Crassostrea gigas*. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, **25**: 285 - 289.

Lacoste A., De Cian M.-C., Cueff A., Poulet S.A. (2001d). Noradrenaline and α -adrenergic signalling induce the hsp70 gene promoter in mollusc immune cells. *Journal of Cell Science*, **114**: 3557 – 3564.

Lacoste A., Malham S.K., Gélébart F., Cueff A., Poulet S.A. (2002a). Stress-induced immune changes in the oyster *Crassostrea gigas*. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, **26**: 1–9.

Lacoste A., Cueff A., Poulet S.A. (2002b). P35-sensitive caspases, MAP kinases and Rho modulate β -adrenergic induction of apoptosis in mollusc immune cells. *Journal of Cell Science*, **115**: 761 – 768.

Lakics V., Vogel S.N. (1998). Lipopolysaccharide and ceramide use divergent signalling pathways to induce cell death in murine macrophages. *Journal of Immunology*, **161**: 2490 – 2500.

Lamarque D., Moran A.P., Szepes Z., Delchier J., Whittle B.J. (2000). Cytotoxicity associated with induction of nitric oxide synthase in rat duodenal epithelial cells in vivo by lipopolysaccharide of *Helicobacter pylori*: inhibition by superoxide dismutase. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, **130**: 1531 – 1538.

Lamprou I., Tsakas S., Theodorou G.L., Karakantza M., Lampropoulou M., Marmaras V.J. (2004). Uptake of LPS/*E. coli*/latex beads via distinct signalling pathways in medfly hemocytes: the role of MAP kinases activation and protein secretion. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, In Press.

Lane E., Birkbeck T.H. (1999). Toxicity of bacteria towards haemocytes of *Mytilus edulis*. Aquatic Living Resources, **12**: 343 – 350.

Lanz-Mendoza H., Bettencourt R., Fabbri M., Faye I. (1996). Regulation of the insect immune response: the effect of hemolin on cellular immune mechanisms. *Cellular Immunology*, **168**: 47 – 54.

Lavine M.D., Strand M.R. (2003). Haemocytes from *Pseudoplusia includens* express multiple α and β integrin subunits. *Insect Molecular Biology*, **12**: 441 – 452.

Law S.K., Lichtenberg N.A., Levine R.P. (1980). Covalent binding and haemolytic activity of complement proteins. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **77**: 7194 – 7198.

Leal-Berumen I., Conlon P., Marshall J.S. (1994). IL-6 production by rat peritoneal mast cells is not necessarily preceded by histamine release and can be induced by bacterial lipopolysaccharide. *Journal of Immunology*, **152**: 5468 – 5476.

Leclerc V., Reichhart J. (2004). The immune response of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Immunological Reviews*, **198**: 59 – 71.

Lee S.Y., Wang R., Söderhäll K. (2000). A lipopolysaccharide- and β -1,3-glucan-binding protein from hemocytes of the freshwater crayfish *Pacifastacus leniusculus*. Purification, characterisation, and cDNA cloning. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **275**: 1337 – 1343.

Lee W.J., Lee D.J., Kravchenko V.V., Ulevitch R.J., Brey P.T. (1996). Purification and molecular cloning of an inducible Gram-negative bacteria-binding protein from the silkworm *Bombyx mori. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA*, **93**: 7888 – 7893.

Lenormand P., Brondello J.-M., Brunet A., Pouysségur J. (1998). Growth factor-induced p42/p44 MAPK nuclear translocation and retention requires both MAPK activation and neosynthesis of nuclear anchoring proteins. *Journal of Cell Biology*, **142**: 625 – 633.

Leung W.K., Chan M.W.Y., Yamaoka Y., Chan K.K., Sung J.J.Y. (2004). Activation of the JAK/STAT signalling pathway by *Helicobacter pylori* CagA protein in gastric epithelial cells. *Gastroenterology*, **126**: A260 – A260 Supplement 2.

Levy Y., Ronen D., Bershadsky A.D., Zick Y. (2003). Sustained induction of ERK, protein kinase B, and p70 S6 kinase regulates cell spreading and formation of F-actin microspikes upon ligation of integrins by galectin-8, a mammalian lectin. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **278**: 14533 – 14542.

Li Z.Q., Woo C.J., Iglesias-Ussel M.D., Ronai D., Scharff M.D. (2004a). The generation of antibody diversity through somatic hypermutation and class switch recombination. *Genes and Development*, **18**: 1 - 11.

Li T.F., Zuscik M.J., Ionescu A.M., Zhang X.P., Rosier R.N., Schwarz E.M., Drissi H., O' Keefe R.J. (2004b). PGE2 inhibits chondrocyte differentiation through PKA and PKC signalling. *Experimental Cell Research*, **300**: 159 – 169.

Li D. Scherfer C., Korayem A.M., Schmidt O., Theopold U. (2002). Insect haemolymph clotting: evidence for interaction between the coagulation system and the prophenoloxidase activating cascade. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, **32**: 919–928.

Lichtenstein L.M., Bochner B.S. (1991). The role of basophils in asthma. *Annals NY Academy* of Science, **629**: 48 – 61.

Ligoxygakis P., Bulet P., Reichhart J.M. (2002). Critical evaluation of the role of the Toll-like receptor 18-Wheeler in the host defense of *Drosophila*. *EMBO Rep*, 3: 666 – 673.

Lin T.H., Aplin A.E., Shen Y., Schaller M., Romer L., Aukhil I., Juliano R.L. (1997). Integrinmediated activation of MAP kinase is independent of FAK: evidence for dual integrin signalling pathways in fibroblasts. *Journal of Cell Biology*, **136**: 1385 – 1395.

Liu B., Itoh H., Kubota K., Kent K.C. (2004). The role of phospholipase C and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase in vascular smooth muscle cell migration and proliferation. *Journal of Surgical Research*, **120**: 256 – 265.

Lynch D.K., Daly R.J. (2002). PKB-mediated negative feedback tightly regulates mitogenic signalling via Gab2. *EMBO Journal*, **21**: 72 – 82.

Lodes M.J., Yoshino T.P. (1990). The effect of schistosome excretory-secretory products on *Biomphalaria glabrata* haemocyte motility. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology*, **56**: 75 – 85.

Loker E.S., Bayne C.J. Molecular studies of the molluscan response to Digenean infection. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, 484: 209 – 222.

Lorenzon S., De Guarrini S., Smith V.J., Ferrero E.A. (1999). Effects of LPS injection on circulating haemocytes in crustaceans in vivo. Fish and Shellfish Immunology, 9: 31 - 50.

Loukas A., Maizels R.M. (2000). Helminth C-type lectins and host-parasite interactions. Parasitology Today, 16: 333 – 339. Lowenberger C.A., Rau M.E. (1994). *Plagiorchis elegans* – emergence, longevity and infectivity of cercariae, and host behavioural-modifications during cercarial emergence. *Parasitology*, **109**: 65 – 72.

Lu Q., Paredes M., Zhang J., Kosik K.S. (1998). Basal extracellular signal-regulated kinase activity modulates cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 18: 3257 – 3265.

Luna-Gonzalez A., Maeda-Martinez A.N., Ascencio-Valle F., Robles-Mungaray M. (2004). Ontogenetic variations of hydrolytic enzymes in the pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas*. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology*, **16**: 287 – 294.

Luo S.-F., Wang C.-C., Chiu C.-T., Chien C.-S., Hsiao L.-D., Lin C.-H., Yang C.-M. (2000). Lipopolysaccharide enhances bradykinin-induced signal transduction *via* activation of Ras/Raf/MEK/MAPK in canine tracheal smooth muscle cells. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, **130**: 1799 – 1808.

Lutz M.A., Correll P.H. (2003). Activation of CR3-mediated phagocytosis by MSP requires the RON receptor, tyrosine kinase activity, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, and protein kinase Cξ. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, **73**: 802 – 814.

Mackova M., Man J. R., Chik C. L., Ho A. K. (2000). p38^{MAPK} inhibition enhances basal and norepinephrine-stimulated p42/44^{MAPK} phosphorylation in rat pinealocytes. *Endocrinology*, 141: 4202-4208.

MacMicking J., Xie Q., Nathan C. (1997). Nitric oxide and macrophage function. *Annual Reviews in Immunology*, **15**: 323 – 350.

Mah S.A., Moy G.W., Swanson W.J., Vacquier V.D. (2004). A perforin-like protein from a marine molluse. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, **316**: 468 – 475.

Malagoli D., Franchini A., Ottaviani E. (2000). Synergistic role of cAMP and IP3 in corticotrophin-releasing hormone-induced cell shape changes in invertebrate immunocytes. *Peptides*, **21**: 175–182.

Malaviya R., Ross E.A., MacGregor J.I., Ikeda T., Little J.R., Jakschik B.A., Abraham S.N. (1994). Mast cell phagocytosis of FimH-expressing enterobacteria. *Journal of Immunology*, **152**: 1907 – 1914.

Mann K., Weiss I.M., André S., Gabius H., Fritz M. (2000). The amino-acid sequence of the abalone (*Haliotis laevigata*) nacre protein perlucin. Detection of a functional C-type lectin domain with galactose/mannose specificity. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, **267**: 5257 – 5264.

Mansour M.H., Negm H.I., Saad A.H., Taalab N.I. (1995a). Characterisation of *Biomphalaria alexandrina*-derived lectins recognising a fucosyllactose-related determinant on schistosomes. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology*, **69**: 173 – 184.

Mansour M.H. (1995b). Evidence for a family of schistosome glycan-binding lectins in *Biomphalaria alexandrina*. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, **19**: 365 – 376.

Marcantonio E.E., Hynes R.O. (1988). Antibodies to the conserved cytoplasmic domain of the integrin β 1 subunit react with proteins in vertebrates, invertebrates and fungi. *Journal of Cell Biology*, **106**: 1765 – 1772.

Marone G., de Paulis A., Florio G., Petraroli A., Rossi F.W., Triggiani M. (2001). Are mast cells MASTers in HIV-1 infection? *International Archives of Allergy and Immunology*, **125**: 89 – 95.

Martiny A., Meyer-Fernandes J.R., de Souza W., Vannier-Santos M.A. (1999). Altered tyrosine phosphorylation of ERK1 MAP kinase and other macrophage molecules caused by *Leishmania* amastigotes. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology*, **102**: 1 – 12.

Matsushita M., Fujita T. (1996). The lectin pathway. Research Immunology, 147: 115-118.

McAinsh M.R., Brownlee C., Hetherington A.M. (1997). Calcium ions as second messengers in guard cell signal transduction. *Physiology Plantarium*, **100**: 16 – 29.

Medzhitov R., Preston-Hurlburt P., Janeway C.A. (1997). A human homologue of the Drosophila Toll protein signals activation of adaptive immunity. Nature, **388**: 394 – 397. Metheniti A., Giannakas N., Katsoulas H.L., Soldatos A.N., Tsakas S., Lambropoulou M. (2003). Evidence for a LPS-binding protein in medfly hemocyte surface: Mediation in LPS internalisation but not in LPS signalling. *Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology*, **54**: 25 – 36.

Metheniti A., Paraskevopoulou N., Lambropoulou M., Marmaras V.J. (2001). Involvement of FAK/Src complex in the processes of *Escherichia coli* phagocytosis by insect hemocytes. *FEBS Letters*, **496**: 55 – 59.

Miggin S.M., Kinsella B.T. (2002). Regulation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase cascades by α - and β - isoforms of the human thromboxane A₂ receptor. *Molecular Pharmacology*, **61**: 817 – 831.

Miller A.N., Raghavan N., Fitzgerald P.C., Lewis F.A., Knight M. (2001). Differential gene expression in haemocytes of the snail *Biomphalaria glabrata*: effects of *Schistosoma mansoni* infection. *International Journal of Parasitology*, **31**: 687 – 696.

Miranti C.K., Ohno S., Brugge J.S. (1999). Protein kinase C regulates integrin-induced activation of the extracellular regulated kinase pathway upstream of Shc. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **274**: 10571 – 10581.

Mitta G., Vandenbulcke F., Hubert F., Roch P. (1999). Mussel defensins are synthesised and processed in granulocytes then released into the plasma after bacterial challenge. *Journal of Cell Science*, **112**: 4233 – 4242.

Miyazawa S., Azumi K., Nonaka M. (2001). Cloning and characterisation of integrin α subunits from the solitary ascidian, *Halocynthia roretzi*. *Journal of Immunology*, **166**: 1710 – 1715.

Mody N., Campbell D.G., Morrice N., Peggie M., Cohen P. (2003). An analysis of the phosphorylation and activation of extracellular-signal-regulated protein kinase 5 (ERK 5) by mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 5 (MKK5) in vitro. *Biochemical Journal*, **372**: 567 – 575.

Monick M.M., Carter A.B., Flaherty D.M., Peterson M.W., Hunninghake G.W. (2000). Protein kinase C ζ plays a central role in activation of the p42/44 mitogen-activated protein kinase by endotoxin in alveolar macrophages. *Journal of Immunology*, **165**: 4632 – 4639.

Monick M.M., Powers L., Butler N., Yarovinsky T., Hunninghake G.W. (2002). Interaction of matrix with integrin receptors is required for optimal LPS-induced MAP kinase activation. *American Journal of Physiology*, **283**: L390 – L402.

Morgan B.P. (1989). Complement membrane attack on nucleated cells – resistance, recovery and non-lethal effects. *Biochemical Journal*, **264**: 1 - 14.

Moriguchi T., Toyoshima F., Gotoh Y., Iwamatsu A., Irie K., Mori E., Kuroyanagi N., Hagiwara M., Matsumoto K., Nishida E. (1996). Purification and identification of a major activator for p38 from osmotically shocked cells – activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase 6 by osmotic shock, tumor necrosis factor α . *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271: 26981 – 26988.

Morishima-Kawashima M., Kosik K.S. (1996). The pool of map kinase associated with microtubules is small but constitutively active. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 7: 893 – 905.

Mukhopadhyay S., Gordon S. (2004). The role of scavenger receptors in pathogen recognition and innate immunity. *Immunobiology*, **209**: 39 – 49.

Murata H., Shimada N., Yoshioka M. (2004). Current research on acute phase proteins in veterinary diagnosis: an overview. *Veterinary Journal*, 1: 28 – 40.

Mushegian A., Medzhitov R. (2001). Evolutionary perspective on innate immune recognition. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, **155**: 705 – 710.

Naik M.U., Naik U.P. (2003). Calcium and integrin binding protein regulates focal adhesion kinase activity during platelet spreading on immobilised fibrinogen. *Blood*, **102**: 3629 – 3636.

Nakajima Y., Ishibashi J., Yukuhiro F., Asoaka A., Taylor D., Yamakawa M. (2003). Antibacterial activity and mechanism of action of tick defensin against Gram-positive bacteria. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, **1624**: 125 – 130.

Nauta A.J., Trouw L.A., Daha M.R., Tijsma O., Nieuwland R., Schwaeble W.J., Gingras A.R., Mantovani A., Hack E.C., Roos A. (2003). Direct binding of C1q to apoptotic cells and cell blebs induces complement activation. *European Journal of Immunology*, **32**: 1726 – 1736. Netea M.G., Gijzen K., Coolen N., Verschueren I., Figdor C., Van der Meer J.W.M., Torensma R., Kullberg B.J. (2004). Human dendritic cells are less potent at killing *Candida albicans* than both monocytes and macrophages. *Microbes and Infection*, **6**: 985 – 989.

Neuberger M.S., Ehrenstein M.R., Rada C., Sale J., Batista F.D., Milstein C. (2000). Memory in the B-cell compartment: antibody affinity maturation. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, **355**: 357 – 360.

Nilsson G., Johnell M., Hammer C.H., Tiffany H.L., Nilsson K., Metcalfe D.D., Siegbahn A., Murphy P.M. (1996). C3a and C5a are chemotaxins for human mast cells and act through distinct receptors via a pertussus toxin-sensitive signal transduction pathway. *The Journal of Immunology*, **157**: 1693 – 1698.

Nogami S., Watanabe J., Nakagaki K., Nakata K., Suzuki H., Fujisawa M., Kodama T., Kojima S. (1998). Involvement of macrophage scavenger receptors in protection against murine malaria. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, **59**: 843 – 845.

Nonaka M., Yoshizari F. (2004). Primitive complement system of invertebrates. *Immunological Reviews*, **198**: 203 – 215.

Núñez P.E., Adema C.M., De Jong Brink M. (1994). Modulation of the bacterial clearance activity of hemocytes from the freshwater mollusk, *Lymnaea stagnalis*, by the avian schistosome, *Trichobilharzia ocellata*. *Parasitology*, **109**: 299 – 310.

Núñez P.E., Molenaar M.J., Lageweg W., Li K.W., de Jong-Brink M. (1997). Excretorysecretory products of *Trichobilharzia ocellata* and their modulating effects on the internal defence system of *Lymnaea stagnalis*. *Parasitology*, **114**: 135 – 144.

Núñez P.E., de Jong-Brink M. (1997). The suppressive excretory-secretory product of *Trichobilharzia ocellata*: a possible factor for determining compatibility in parasite-host interactions. *Parasitology*: **115**: 193 – 203.

Nyame A.K., Yoshino T.P., Cummings R.D. (2002). Differential expression of LacdiNAc, fucosylated LacdiNAc, and Lewis X glycan antigens in intramolluscan stages of *Schistosoma mansoni*. *Journal of Parasitology*, **88**: 890 – 897.

Olson M.F., Marias R. (2000). Ras protein signalling. Seminars in Immunology, 12: 63 - 73.

Ottaviani E., Cossarizza A., Ortolani C., Monti D., Francheschi C. (1991a). ACTH-like molecules in gastropod molluscs: a possible role in ancestral immune response and stress. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London*, **245**: 215 – 218.

Ottaviani E., Cossarizza A., Ortolani C., Monti D., Franceschi C. (1991b). ACTH-like molecules in gastropod molluscs: a possible role in ancestral immune response and stress. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London (B)*, **245**: 215 – 218.

Ottaviani E. (1992). Immunorecognition in the gastropod molluscs with particular reference to the freshwater snail *Planorbarius corneus* (L.) (Gastropoda, Pulmonata). *Bollettino di Zoologia*, **59**: 129 – 139.

Ottaviani E., Caselgrandi E., Kletsas D. (1998). The CRH-ACTH-biogenic amine axis in invertebrate immunocytes activated by PDGF and TGF- β . *FEBS Letters*, **427**: 255 – 258.

Ottaviani E., Malagoli D., Kletsas D. (1999). Platelet-derived growth factor and transforming growth factor- β induce shape changes in invertebrate immunocytes via multiple signalling pathways and provoke the expression of Fos-, Jun-, and SMAD-family members. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B*, **122**: 389 – 395.

Owen J.D., Ruest P.J., Fry D.W., Hanks S.K. (1999). Induced focal adhesion kinase (FAK) expression in FAK-null cells enhances cell spreading and migration requiring both auto- and activation loop phosphorylation sites and inhibits adhesion-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of Pyk2. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **19**: 4806 – 4818.

Pace K.E., Lebestky T., Hummel T., Arnoux P., Kwan K., Baum L.G. (2002). Characterisation of a novel *Drosophila melanogaster* galectin. Expression in developing immune, neural and muscle tissues. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **277**: 13091 – 13098.

Pearson A., Lux A., Krieger M. (1995). Expression cloning of DSR-CI, A class C macrophage specific scavenger receptor from *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **92**: 4056 – 4060.

Pece S., Gutkind J.S. (2000). Signalling from E-cadherins to the MAPK pathway by the recruitment and activation of epidermal growth factor receptors upon cell-cell contact formation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **275** (52): 41227 – 41233.

Piliponsky A.M., Gleich G.J., Bar I., Levi-Schaffer F. (2001). Effects of eosinophils on mast cells: a new pathway for the perpetuation of allergic inflammation. *Molecular Immunology*, **38**: 1369 – 1372.

Pires A., Guilbault T.R., Mitten J.V., Skiendzieleski J.A. (2000). Catecholamines in larvae and juveniles of the prosobranch gastropod, *Crepidula fornicata*. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology*, **127**: 37 – 47.

Poston R.M., Kurlander R.J. (1992). Cytokine expression in vivo during murine listeriosis – infection with live, virulent bacteria is required for monokine and lymphokine messenger RNA accumulation in the spleen. *Journal of Immunology*, **149**: 3040 – 3044.

Procyk K.J., Kovarik P., Von Gabain A., Baccarini M. (1999). *Salmonella typhimurium* and lipopolysaccharide stimulate extracellularly regulated kinase activation in macrophages by a mechanism involving phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and phospholipase D as novel intermediates. *Infection and Immunity*, **67**: 1011 – 1017.

Prodeus A.P., Zhou X., Maurer M., Galli S.J., Carroll M.C. (1997). Impaired mast celldependent natural immunity in complement C3-deficient mice. *Nature*, **390**: 172 – 175.

Qiu Z.H., Leslie C.C. (1994). Protein kinase C-dependent and –independent pathways of mitogen-activated protein kinase activation in macrophages by stimuli that activate phospholipase A₂. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **269**: 19480 – 19487.

Rachinsky A., Tobe S.S. (1996). Role of the second messengers in the regulation of juvenile hormone production in insects, with particular emphasis on calcium and phosphoinositide signalling. *Archives in Insect Biochemistry*, **33**: 259 – 282.

Rachford F.W. (1976). Host-parasite relationship of *Angiostrongylus cantonensis* in *Lymnaea* palustris. II. Histopathology. *Experimental Parasitology*, **39**: 382 – 392.

Raftos D.A., Fabbro M., Nair S.V. (2004). Exocytosis of a complement C3-like protein by tunicate hemocytes. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, **28**: 181 – 190.

Ravindranath M.H. (1975). Effects of temperature on the morphology of hemocytes and coagulation process in the mole-crab *Emerita (=Hippa) asiatica*. *Biological Bulletin*, **148**: 286 – 302.

Ray L.B., Sturgill T.W. (1988). Insulin-stimulated microtubule-associated protein-kinase is phosphorylated on tyrosine and threonine *in vivo*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA*, **85**: 3753 – 3757.

Rea J.G., Irwin S.W.B. (1995). The effects of age, temperature and shadow stimuli on activity patterns of the cercariae of *Cryptocotyle lingua* (Digenea, Heterophyidae). *Parasitology*, **111**: 95 – 101.

Resh M.D. (1999). Fatty acylation of proteins: new insights into membrane targeting of myristolated and palmitoylated proteins. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1451: 1 - 16.

Reszka A.A., Seger R., Diltz C.D., Krebs E.G., Fischer E.H. (1995). Association of mitogenactivated protein kinase with the microtubule cytoskeleton. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA*, **92**: 8881 – 8885.

Richards E.H., Renwrantz L.R. (1991). Two lectins on the surface of *Helix pomatia* hemocytes – a Ca^{2+} dependent, GalNAc-specific lectin and a Ca^{2+} -independent, mannose 6-phosphate-specific lectin which recognises activated homologous opsonins. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B – Biochemical Systemic and Environmental Physiology*, **161**: 43 – 54.

Roitt I.M., Delves P.J. Roitt's Essential Immunology. (2001). Tenth Edition. Blackwell Science Ltd.

Roos D., Van Bruggen R., Meischl C. (2003). Oxidative killing of microbes by neutrophils. *Microbes and Infection*, **5**: 1307 – 1315.

Rossant C.J., Pinnock R.D., Hughes J., Hall M.D., McNulty S. (1999). Corticotropin-releasing factor type I and type 2α receptors regulate phosphorylation of calcium/cyclic adenosine 3',5-monophosphate response element-binding protein and activation of p42/p44 mitogen-activated protein kinase. *Endocrinology*, **140**: 1525 – 1536.

Rossi A.G., McCutcheon J.C., Roy N., Chilvers E.R., Haslett C., Dransfield I. (1998). Regulation of macrophage phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by cAMP. *Journal of Immunology*, **160**: 3562 – 3568.

Ruckdeschel K., Machold J., Roggenkamp A., Schubert S., Pierre J., Zumbihl R., Liautard J.-P., Heesemann J., Rouot B. (1997). *Yersinia enterocolitica* promotes deactivation of macrophage mitogen-activated protein kinases extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2, p38 and c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase. Correlation with its inhibitory effect on tumor-necrosis factor- α production. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **272**: 15920 – 15927.

Rutenberg S.H., Schweinburg F.B., Fine J. (1960). *In Vitro* detoxification of bacterial endotoxin by macrophages. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, **112**: 801 – 807.

Salzet M. (2000). Invertebrate molecular neuroimmune processes. *Brain Research Reviews*, 34: 69 – 79.

Sanghera J.S., Weinstein S.L., Alumalia M., Girn J., Pelech S.L. (1996). Activation of multiple proline-directed kinases by bacterial lipopolysaccharides in murine macrophages. *Journal of Immunology*, **156**: 4457 – 4465.

Sassi D., Kletsas D., Ottaviani E. (1998). Interactions of signalling pathways in ACTH (1-24)induced cell shape changes in invertebrate immunocytes. *Peptides*, **19**: 1105 – 1110.

Scherer L., Rossi J.J. (2004). Recent applications of RNAi in mammalian systems. *Current Pharmacology and Biotechnology*, **5**: 355 – 360.

Schlaepfer D.D., Hunter T. (1997). Focal adhesion kinase overexpression enhances Rasdependent integrin signalling to ERK 2/Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase through interactions with and activation of c-Src. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **272**: 13189 – 13195.

Schlaepfer D.D., Hunter T. (1996). Evidence for in vivo phosphorylation of the Grb2 SH2domain binding site on focal adhesion kinase by Src-family protein-tyrosine kinases. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **16**: 5623 – 5633.

Schlaepfer D.D., Hanks S.K., Hunter T., Van der Geer P. (1994). Integrin-mediated signal transduction linked to Ras pathway by Grb2 binding to focal adhesion kinase. *Nature*, **372**: 786 – 791.

Schlaepfer D.D., Mitra S.K. (2004). Multiple connections link FAK to cell motility and invasion. *Current Opinions in Genetics and Development*, **14**: 92 – 101.

Schlaepfer D.D., Jones K.C., Hunter T. (1998). Multiple Grb2-mediated integrin-stimulated signalling pathways to ERK2/mitogen-activated protein kinase: summation of both c-Src and focal adhesion kinase-initiated tyrosine phosphorylation events. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **18**: 2571 – 2585.

Schmidlin F., Amadesi S., Dabbagh K., Lewis D.E., Knott P., Bunnett N.W., Gatar P.R., Geppetti P., Bertrand C., Stevens M.E. (2002). Protease-activated receptor 2 mediates eosinophils infiltration and hyperreactivity in allergic inflammation of the airway. *Journal of Immunology*, **169**: 5315 – 5321.

Schmidt A., Caron E., Hall A. (2001). Lipopolysaccharide-induced activation of β 2-integrin function in macrophages requires Irak kinase activity, p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase, and the Rap1 GTPase. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **21**: 438 – 448.

Schmitt J., Wuhrer M., Hamburger J., Jourdane J., Ramzy R.M.R., Geyer R., Ruppe A. (2002). *Schistosoma mansoni* and *Schistosoma haematobium*: identification and characterisation of glycoconjugate antigens in the haemolymph of infected vector snails. *Journal of Parasitology*, **88**: 505 – 513.

Schmitt J.M., Stork P.J.S. (2002). Gα and Gβγ require distinct Src-dependent pathways to activate Rap1 and Ras. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **277**: 43024 – 43032.

Schneeweiss H., Renwrantz L. (1993). Analysis of the attraction of hemocytes from *Mytilus* edulis by molecules of bacterial origin. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, **17**: 377 – 287.

Schulenburg H., Kurz C.L., Ewbank J.J. (2004). Evolution of the innate immune system: the worm perspective. *Immunological Review*, **198**: 36 – 58.

Self A.J., Caron E., Paterson H.F., Hall A. (2001). Analysis of R-Ras signalling pathways. Journal of Cell Science, 114: 1357-1366.
Sellers L.A., Simon J., Lundahl T.S., Cousens D.J., Humphrey P.P.A., Barnard E.A. (2001). Adenosine nucleotides acting at the human P2Y₁ receptor stimulate mitogen-activated protein kinases and induce apoptosis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **276**: 16379 – 16390.

Sher A., Hein A., Moser G., Caulfield J.P. (1979). Complement receptors promote the phagocytosis of bacteria by rat peritoneal mast cells. *Laboratory Investigations*, **41**: 490 – 499.

Shin G., Lee B., Lee S., Chung S., Kim M., Lim J., Kim Y., Kwon H.J., Kang C.S. Han K. (2003). Monokine levels in cancer and infection. *Annuals of Clinical and Laboratory Science*, 33: 149–155.

Sieg D.J., Hauck C.R., Schlaepfer D.D. (1999). Required role of focal adhesion kinase (FAK) for integrin-stimulated cell migration. *Journal of Cell Science*, **112**: 2677 – 2691.

Simms H.H., Gaither T.A., Fries L.F. Frank M.M. (1991). Monokines released during shortterm Fc γ receptor phagocytosis up-regulate polymorphonuclear leukocytes and monocytephagocytic function. *Journal of Immunology*, **147**: 265 – 272.

Skalhegg B.S., Tasken K. (2000). Specificity in the cAMP/PKA signalling pathway. Differential expression, regulation, and subcellular localisation of subunits of PKA. *Frontiers in Biosciences*, **5**: D678 – 693.

Sminia T. (1972). Structure and function of blood and connective tissue cells of the fresh water pulmonate *Lymnaea stagnalis* studied by electron microscopy and enzyme histochemistry. *Z Zellforsch*, **130**: 497 – 526.

Sminia T., Pietersma K., Scheerboom J.E.M. (1973). Histological and ultrastructural observations on wound healing in the freshwater pulmonate *Lymnaea stagnalis*. *Z Zellforsch*, **141**: 561 – 573.

Sminia T., Borghart-Reinders E., van de Linde A.W. (1974). Encapsulation of foreign material experimentally introduced into the freshwater snail *Lymnaea stagnalis*; an electron microscopical and autoradiographic study. *Cell and Tissue Research*, **153**: 307 – 326.

Söderhäll K. (1982). Prophenoloxidase activating system and melanisation – a recognition mechanism of arthropods? *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, **6**: 601 – 611.

Soldatos A.N., Metheniti A., Mamali I., Lambropoulou M., Marmaras V.J. (2003). Distinct LPS-induced signals regulate LPS uptake and morphological changes in medfly hemocytes. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, **33**: 1075 – 1084.

Solomon K.R., Kurt-Jones E.A., Saladino R.A., Stack A.M., Dunn I.F., Ferretti M., Golenbock D., Fleisher G.R., Finberg R.W. (1998). Heterotrimeric G proteins physically associated with the lipopolysaccharide receptor CD14 modulate in vivo and in vitro responses to lipopolysaccharide. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, **102**: 2019 – 2027.

Speth C., Dierich M.P., Gasque P. (2002). Neuroinvasion by pathogens: a key role of the complement system. *Molecular Immunology*, **38**: 669 – 679.

Sritunyalucksana K., Sithisarn P., Withayachumnarnkul B., Flegel T.W. (1999). Activation of prophenoloxidase, agglutinin and antibacterial activity in haemolymph of the black tiger prawn, *Penaeus monodon*, by immunostimulants. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology*, **9**: 21 – 30.

Stahl P.D., Ezekowitz R.A.B. (1998). The mannose receptor is a pattern recognition receptor involved in host defence. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, **10**: 50 – 55.

Stefano G.B., Salzet-Raveillon B., Salzet M. (1999). *Mytilus edulis* haemolymph contains proopiomelanocortin: LPS and morphine stimulate differential processing. *Molecular Brain Research*, **63**: 340 – 350.

Stephens L., Ellson C., Hawkins P. (2002). Roles of PI-3Ks in leukocyte chemotaxis and phagocytosis. *Current Opinions in Cell Biology*, 14: 203 – 213.

Stirewalt M.A., Cousin C.E., Dorsey C.H. (1983). Schistosoma mansoni: stimulus and transformation of cercariae into schistosomules. Experimental Parasitology, 56: 358 – 368.

Stokoe D., Cauldwell B., Cohen P.T.W., Cohen P. (1993). The substrate specificity and structure of MAPKAP kinase 2. *Biochemical Journal*, **296**: 843 – 849.

Sultan N.A.M., Kenoth R., Swamy M.J. (2004). Purification, physicochemical characterisation, saccharide specificity, and chemical modification of a Gal/GalNAc specific lectin from the seeds of *Trichosanthes dioica*. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, **432**: 212 – 221.

Suzuki K., Hino M., Hato F. (1999). Cytokine-specific activation of distinct mitogen-activated protein kinase subtype cascades in human neutrophils stimulated by granulocyte colony-stimulating factor, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor, and tumour necrosis factor alpha. *Blood*, **93**: 341 – 349.

Takata I., Chida K., Gordon M.R., Myrvik Q.N., Ricardo M.J., Kucera L.S. (1987). L-fucose, D-mannose, L-galactose, and their BSA conjugates stimulate macrophage migration. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, **41**: 248 – 256.

Takeda H., Matozaki T., Takada T., Noguchi T., Yamao T., Tsuda M., Ochi F., Fukunaga K., Inagaki K., Kasuga M. (1999). PI 3-kinase γ and protein kinase C- ζ mediate Ras-independent activation of MAP kinase by a Gi protein-coupled receptor. *The EMBO Journal*, **18**: 386 – 395.

Tateno H., Winter H.C., Goldstein I.J. (2004). Cloning, expression in *Escherichia coli* and characterisation of the recombinant Neu5Ac- α -2,6-Gal- β -1,4-GlcNAc-specfic high-affinity lectin and its mutants from the mushroom *Polyporus squamosus*. *Biochemical Journal*, **382**: 667 – 675.

Temkin V., Levi-Schaffer F. (2001). Mechanism of tumour necrosis factor alpha mediated eosinophils survival. *Cytokine*, **15**: 20 – 26.

Theron A. (1986). Dynamics of the cercarial production of *Schistosoma mansoni* in relation with the miracidial dose exposure to the snail host *Biomphalaria glabrata*. *Annales Parasitologie Humaine et Comparee*, **60**: 665 – 674.

Thomas C.J., Kapoor M., Sharma S., Bausinger H., Zyilan U., Lipsker D., Hanau D., Surolia A. (2002). Evidence of a trimolecular complex involving LPS, LPS binding protein and soluble CD14 as an effector of LPS response. *FEBS Letters*, **531**: 184 – 188.

Thorburn J., Xu S., Thorburn A. (1997). MAP kinase- and Rho-dependent signals interact to regulate gene expression but not actin morphology in cardiac muscle cells. *The EMBO Journal*, **16**: 1888 – 1900.

Tibbles L.A., Ing Y.L., Kiefer F., Chan J., Iscove N., Woodgett J.R., Lassam N.J. (1996). MLK-3 activates the SAPK/JNK and p38/RK pathways via SEK1 and MKK3/6. *EMBO Journal*, **15**: 7026 – 7035.

Torreilles J., Guérin M., Roch P. (1999). Modified Alsever's solution is not a good medium for reactive oxygen metabolite study in bivalves. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology*, **9**: 65 – 69.

Tunaz H., Jurenka R.A., Stanley D.W. (2001). Prostaglandin biosynthesis by fat body from true armyworms, *Pseudaletia unipuncta*. Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, **31**: 435 – 444.

Underhill D.M., Ozinsky A. (2002). Toll-like receptors: key mediators of microbe detection. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, **14**: 103 – 110.

Valledor A.F., Xaus J., Comalada M., Soler C., Celada A. (2000). Protein kinase C is required for the induction of mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase-1 in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated macrophages. *Journal of Immunology*, **164**: 29 – 37.

Van der Bruggen T., Nijenhuis S., Van Raaij E., Verhoef J., Van Asbeck B.S. (1999). Lipopolysaccharide-induced tumor necrosis factor alpha production by human monocytes involves the Raf-1/MEK1-MEK2/ERK1-ERK2 pathway. *Infection and Immunity*, **67**: 3824 – 3829.

Van der Knaap W.P.W., Adema C.M., Sminia T. (1993). Invertebrate blood cells: morphological and functional aspects of the haemocytes in the pond snail *Lymnaea stagnalis*. *Comparative Haematology International*, 3: 20 – 26.

Van der Knaap W.P.W., Loker E.S. (1990). Immune mechanisms in trematode snail interactions. *Parasitology Today*, 6: 175 – 182.

Van der Knaap W.P.W., Boots A.M., Meuleman E.A., Sminia T. (1985). Search for shared antigens in the schistosome-snail combination *Trichobilharzia ocellata-Lymnaea stagnalis*. Z *Parasitenkd*, 71: 219 – 226.

Van der Knaap W.P.W., Doderer A., Boerrigter-Barendsen L.H., Sminia T. (1982). Some properties of an agglutinin in the haemolymph of the pond snail *Lymnaea stagnalis*. *Biological Bulletin*, **162**: 404 – 412.

Versteeg H.H., Evertzen M.W.A., van Deventer S.J.H., Peppelenbosch M.P. (2000). The role of phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase in basal mitogen-activated protein kinase activity and cell survival. *FEBS Letters*, **465**: 69 – 73.

Vilmos P., Kurucz É. (1998). Insect immunity: evolutionary roots of the mammalian innate immune system. *Immunology Letters*, **62**: 59 – 66.

Volanakis J.E. (2001). Human C-reactive protein: expression, structure, and function. *Molecular Immunology*, **38**: 189 – 197.

Vuori K., Ruoslahti E. (1993). Activation of protein kinase C precedes $\alpha_5\beta_1$ integrin mediated cell spreading on fibronectin. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **268**: 21459 – 21462.

Walker A.J., Plows L.D. (2003). Bacterial lipopolysaccharide modulates protein kinase C signalling in *Lymnaea stagnalis* haemocytes. *Biology of the Cell*, **95**: 527 – 533.

Wang R., Liang Z., Hall M., Soderhall K. (2001). A transglutaminase involved in the coagulation system of the freshwater crayfish, *Pacifastacus leniusculus*. Tissue localisation and cDNA cloning. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology*, **11**: 623 – 637.

Watters J.J., Sommer J.A., Pfeiffer Z.A., Prabhu U., Guerra A.N., Bertics P.J. (2002). A differential role for the mitogen-activate protein kinases in lipopolysaccharide signalling: the MEK/ERK pathway is not essential for nitric oxide and interleukin 1β production. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **277**: 9077 – 9087.

Way K.J., Chou E., King G.L. (2000). Identification of PKC-isoforms-specific biological actions using pharmacological approaches. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, **21**: 181-187.

Weber J.R., Freyer D., Alexander C., Schröder N.W.J., Reiss A., Küster C., Pfeil D., Tuomanen E.I., Schumann R.R. (2003a). Recognition of pneumococcal peptidoglycans: an expanded, pivotal role for LPS binding protein. *Immunity*, **19**: 269 – 279.

Weber J.R., Moreillon P., Tuomanen E.I. (2003b). Innate sensors for Gram-positive bacteria. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, **15**: 408 – 415.

Wells C.M., Walmsley M., Ooi S., Tybulewicz V., Ridley A.J. (2004). Rac1-deficient macrophages exhibit defects in cell spreading and membrane ruffling but not migration. *Journal of Cell Science*, **117**: 1259 – 1268.

Wess J. (1997). G-protein-coupled receptors: molecular mechanisms involved in receptor activation and selectivity of G-protein recognition. *FASEB Journal*, 11: 346 – 354.

Weyrich A.S., Zimmerman G.A. (2004). Platelets: signalling cells in the immune continuum. *Trends in Immunology*, **25**: 489 – 495.

Weinstein S.L., Sanghera J.S., Lemke K., De Franco A.L., Pelech S.L. (1992). Bacterial lipopolysaccharide induces tyrosine phosphorylation and activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases in macrophages. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **267**: 14955 – 14962.

Wilson R., Chen C.W., Ratcliffe N.A. (1999). Innate immunity in insects: the role of multiple, endogenous serum lectins in the recognition of foreign invaders in the cockroach, *Blaberus discoidalis*. *Journal of Immunology*, **162**: 1590 – 1596.

Winston B.W., Remigio L.K., Riches D.W.H. (1995a). Preferential involvement of MEK 1 in the tumor necrosis factor- α -induced activation of p42^{MAPK/ERK2} in mouse macrophages. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **17**: 27391 – 27394.

Winston B.W., Lange-Carter C.A., Gardner A.M., Johnson G.L., Riches D.W.H. (1995b). Tumor necrosis factor a rapidly activates the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade in a MAPK kinase kinase-dependent, c-Raf-1-independent fashion in mouse macrophages. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA*, **92**: 1614 – 1618.

Winston B.W., Chan E.D., Johnson G.L., Riches D.W.H. (1997). Activation of p38^{MAPK}, MKK3, and MKK4 by TNF-α in mouse bone marrow-derived macrophages. *Journal of Immunology*, **159**: 4491 – 4497.

Xu S., Robbins D., Frost J., Dang A., Lange-Carter C., Cobb M.H. (1995). MEKK1 phosphorylated MEK 1 and MEK 2 but does not cause activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA*, **92**: 6808 – 6812.

Yamaoka K., Saharinen P., Pesu M., Holt V.E., Silvennoinen O., O'Shea J. (2004). The Janus kinases (Jaks). *Genome Biology*, 5: 253 - 260.

Yeh M.-S., Huang C.-J., Leu J.-H., Lee Y.C., Tsai I.-H. (1999). Molecular cloning and characterisation of a haemolymph clottable protein from tiger shrimp (*Penaeus monodon*). *European Journal of Biochemistry*, **266**: 624 – 633.

Yip E.C.H., Wong Y.H., Wong J.T.Y. (2001). Bacterial formyl peptide mediated chemotaxis and extracellular acidification in shrimp haemocytes. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, **25**: 269 – 277.

Yoshino T.P., Coustau C., Modat S., Castillo M.G. (1999). The *Biomphalaria glabrata* embryonic (Bge) molluscan cell line: establishment of an *in vitro* cellular model for the study of snail host-parasite interactions. *Malacologia*, **41**: 331 – 343.

Yu C.F., Basson M.D. (2000). Matrix-specific FAK and MAPK reorganisation during Caco-2 cell motility. *Microscopy Research Techniques*, **51**: 191 – 203.

Yu B., Wright S.D. (1996). Catalytic properties of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) binding protein. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **271**: 4100 – 4105.

Yujiri T., Nawata R., Takahashi T., Sato Y., Tanizawa Y., Kitamura T., Oka Y. (2003). MEK kinase I interacts with focal adhesion kinase and regulates insulin receptor substrate-1 expression. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **278**: 3846 – 3851.

Zaffran Y., Escallier J.C., Ruta S., Capo C., Mege J.L. (1995). Zymosan-triggered association of tyrosine phosphoproteins and lyn kinase with cytoskeletal in human monocytes. *Journal of Immunology*, **154**: 3488 – 3497.

Zanassi P., Paolillo M., Feliciello A., Avvedimento E.V., Gallo V., Schinelli S. (2001). cAMPdependent protein kinase induces cAMP-response element-binding protein phosphorylation via an intracellular calcium release/ERK-dependent pathway in striatal neurons. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **276**: 11487 – 11495.

Zelck U.E., Becker W., Bayne C.J. (1995). The plasma proteins of *Biomphalaria glabrata* in the presence and absence of *Schistosoma mansoni*. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, **19**: 181 – 194.

Zelck U.E., Trippensee G., Becker W. (1996). Detection and partial characterisation of glycosidases in the haemolymph of *Biomphalaria glabrata* (Gastropoda). *Comparative and Biochemical Physiology*, **114B**: 281 – 286.

Zhang J., Anastasiadis P.Z., Liu Y., Thompson E.A., Fields A.P. (2004). Protein kinase C (PKC) βII induces cell invasion through a Ras/MEK-PKC/Rac 1-dependent signalling pathway. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **279**: 22118 – 22123.

Zhang T., Ma J., Cao X.M. (2003). Grb2 regulates Stat3 activation negatively in epidermal growth factor signalling. *Biochemical Journal*, **376**: 457 – 464.

Zhao Y.X., Nilsson I.M., Tarkowski A. (1998). The dual role of interferon γ in experimental *Staphylococcus aureus* septicaemia versus arthritis. *Immunology*, **93**: 80 – 85.

Zheng C.-F., Guan K.-L. (1994). Cytoplasmic localisation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase activator MEK. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **269**: 19947 – 19952.

APPENDICES



IMAGING SERVICES NORTH

Boston Spa, Wetherby West Yorkshire, LS23 7BQ www.bl.uk

PAGE NUMBERING AS ORIGINAL

Abbreviations

4,5-PIP ₂	Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate
ACTH	Adrenocorticotropin hormone
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
ANOVA	One-way analysis of variance
APS	Ammonium persulphate
Arg	Arginine
Asp	Aspartine
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CD	Cluster of Differentiation
DAG	Diacylglycerol
DC	Detergent compatible
DMSO	Dimethyl sulphoxide
Ds-RNA	Double stranded ribonucleic acid
ECL	Enhanced chemiluminescence
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
EMSA	Electrophoretic mobility shift assay
ERK	Extracellular-signal Regulated Kinase
FAK	Focal adhesion kinase
FITC	Fluoroisothiocyanate
FTase	Farnesyltransferase
GalNAc	N-acetylgalactosamine
GAP	GTPase activating protein
GDP	Guanine diphosphate
GlcNAc	N-acetylglucosamine
Gly	Glycine
GNBP	Gram negative bacteria binding protein
GNRP	Guanine nucleotide releasing factor

GPCR	G protein coupled receptor
GTP	Guanine triphosphate
GTPase	Guanine triphosphatase
HPO	Haemocyte-producing organ
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
JNK	c-Jun NH ₂ -terminal kinase
LBP	Lipopolysaccharide binding protein
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
МАРК	Mitogen-actived Protein Kinase
MARCKS	Myristolyated alanine-rich C kinase substrate
MEK	Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Kinase
MGD1	Mytilus galloprovincialis defensin 1
MKK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase
МКР	MAP kinase phosphatase
NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor K B
NGF	Nerve growth factor
NK Cell	Natural killer cell
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PI	Phosphatidylinositol
PI-3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase
PKA	Protein kinase A
РКС	Protein kinase C
PLC	Phospholipase C
proPO	Prophenoloxidase
proPO-AS	Prophenoloxidase-activating system
RGDS	Asganine-Glycine-Aspartine-Serine
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNAi	Ribonucleic acid interference
RTK	Receptor tyrosine kinase

SAPK	Stress activated protein kinase
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SEM	Standard error of the mean
Ser	Serine
SH	Src homology
SSS	Sterile snail saline
TBS	Tris buffered saline
TEMED	N,N,N',N'-tetramethylethylenediamine
TGF	Transforming growth factor
Thr	Threonine
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
TTBS	Tris buffered saline - Tween 20
Tyr	Tyrosine

IMAGING SERVICES NORTH



Boston Spa, Wetherby West Yorkshire, LS23 7BQ www.bl.uk

PAGE/PAGES EXCLUDED UNDER INSTRUCTION FROM THE UNIVERSITY